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Corporate Profile
DA

MOBI Development Co,, Ltd. (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
as an exempted company with limited liability on 16 December 2002. The shares of
the Company were listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on |7 December 2009 (Stock Code: 947).

We operate through our subsidiaries MOBI Antenna Technologies (Shenzhen) Co,, Ltd.
("MOBI Shenzhen"), MOBI Telecommunications Technologies (Ji'an) Co., Ltd. (“"MOBI
Jian"), MOBI Technologies (Xi'an) Co,, Ltd. (“MOBI Xian"), MOBI Technology (Hong
Kong) Limited (“MOBI HK"), MOBI Technology (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd, Shenzhen MOBI
Shiye Development Co., Ltd, Xi'an Shengrong Communication Technologies Co.,, Ltd,
Shenzhen Shengyuzhihui Network Technology Co,, Ltd, Jian Jinshengjing Technology Co.,
Ltd., Wuhan MOBI Technology Co,, Ltd, Shenzhen MOBI Network Communication Co,,
Ltd. and Xi'an MOBI Antenna Technologies Engineering Co., Ltd..

We are one of the few one-stop providers of wireless communication antennas and base
station Radio Frequency (“RF") subsystems in China. Our business consists of the design,
manufacture, marketing and sale of antennas, base station RF subsystem and solutions
that are the required components of mobile communication coverage systems, including,
wireless access systems (WiFi and PHS), 2G (GSM and CDMA), 3G (TD-SCDMA,
CDMA 2000, W-CDMA and WiMax), 4G (TD-LTE and FDD-LTE), 5G, MIMO Antenna,
satellite communication and microwave transmission networks. We sell our products to
network operators in China and overseas directly for deployment into the networks they
are constructing and operating. We also sell our products to some of the world's leading
wireless network solution providers who incorporate our products into their wireless
coverage solutions, such as their proprietary base stations, which they then sell to network

operators worldwide.

We are committed to providing quality and sophisticated products and building long term

relationships with our customers.
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Corporate Information
NEEH

REGISTERED OFFICE
P.O. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY'I-1 104, Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN THE PRC
7 Langshan First Road, Science and Technology Park, Nanshan District, Shenzhen,
Guangdong Province, PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
Unit A, 25/F, One Island South, 2 Heung Yip Road, Wong Chuk Hang, Hong Kong

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Hu Xiang (Chairman)

Liao Dong (Note I)

Non-executive Directors
Qu Degian

Independent non-executive Directors
Li Tianshu

Zhang Han

Ge Xiaojing

COMPANY SECRETARY
Lau Wing

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
Hu Xiang
Lau Wing

(Note ): On 5 November 2021, the board of directors approved the resignation of Mr. Liao Dong from

executive director with effect from 5 November 2021.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE
Zhang Han (Chairman)
Li Tianshu

Ge Xiaojing
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Li Tianshu (Chairman)

Zhang Han
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Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
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Hong Kong
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Bank of China

No. 442 Renmin North Road, Longhua Street, Longhua District, Shenzhen, Guangdong Province,

China

AUDITORS
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors

WEBSITE ADDRESS

http://www.mobi-antenna.com

CONTACT INFORMATION FOR INVESTOR RELATIONS
Telephone: 86-755-27150701 (ext 390)
Chen Zhaotong

Email: ir@mobi-antenna.com
STOCK CODE
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Financial Highlights
BB

Analysis of revenue by business type Analysis of revenue by customer type

BEB D BNWA DT BREF D ENBAD T

(In RMB million) (In RMB million)
(AR¥BEET

17 18 19 20 21 17 18 19 20 21

B Antenna X% I Network operators in the PRC F B4 & B &’
I Base station RF subsystem E 35548 7 A% I Network solution providers and other customers &7 REEFREAMES
B Coverage extension solution E FE {5 5

Profit attributable to shareholders

IR R BEAEFIE

16.7

-29.8

-329.7
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Financial Highlights
MBEE

KEY FINANCIAL FIGURES FTERKHE
(All amounts are expressed in RMB' million unless otherwise stated) (BREEHBIN BESEIUARBEET
251)
2021 2020
2021 2020

Revenue A 661.4 884.5
Gross profit EH 16.8 200.0
(Loss) before taxation A (B8) (308.0) (43.4)
Net (loss) attributable to shareholders IRR (% (ER) (329.7) (29.8)
Total assets BEE 1,558.9 1.948.4
Net current assets MBNEEFE 330.1 634.0
Net assets attributable to shareholders REREIEEEFE 795.6 1,126.0
Inventories turnover days FERAEXH 137 147
AJR turnover days LT SEIE PN 263 231
AJP turnover days e BR BB R & 306 305
Current ratio BN & .44 .85
Gearing BRAFBLE 8.8% 8.4%
No. of issued shares, million shares BETRHER (BER) 817.1 818.8
Net assets value per share, RMB BREEFE(ARBT) 0.97 1.38
Basic (loss) per share, RMB cents BRERN(BE) (ARES) (40.29) (3.64)
Retum on average equity TR AR R -3431% 2.60%
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Chairman’s Statement
TEHREE

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,
On behalf of the Board of Directors of MOBI Development Co., Ltd, | am pleased to
present to the shareholders the business development of the Company and its subsidiaries

(the “Company”) for the year ended 3| December 2021 (the “Year").

In the immediate past year of 2021, the overall development of the industry in China
failed to meet expectations, with the postponement of construction of 5G network capital
projects by major telecommunication operators in China and suspension of 4G network
construction for domestic mobile communications. The communications industry was
continuously and significantly affected by uncertainties including the continuous impact of
the COVID-19 outbreak on the global economy and intemational politics. Such factors
brought great challenges to the business development of the Group. However, we believe
that with the effective control of the outbreak and under the 5G-related policy guidance
in the “[4th Five-Year” Plan, the communications industry is about to usher in a new
round of development, which will also bring infinite development opportunities for the
business development of the Group. The Group adhered to the three strategic directions,
namely technology research and development, cost control and market driving, improved
its operational efficiency and the conversion rate of research and development projects,

continuously strengthened the customer relationship, rapidly responded to the domestic

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2021

ERMERE
RERRELZRERRAMARSARE
WMEBLERERRAAIREMBAT ([AA
ANEZE20FNRAINBLEFE ([AEE])
R EBEEAMR -

MIRBEr2021F  PREATRERFEES
HERTECERENZERER  AKER
BHBEMIGREERELNER - BARE
TRERT LAY - MAREHREEZ D
BREREHETENRBARBLE T ETE
REFE  BETEREXIVAGE &
R AEBENEBERT R T BANE - B
=REFIEE - ERIBFIEREHIAL 1
AIREBRSCGHBRIEET - BETRA
RO — WA ER - MEBHEREED
EBBERERERNERELS - AREERE
R - ERMERRTSRS = ABES
[ WARRHAEEZ MR RFE LIRS
o HWAMSEZETPEE  REEZEER



and foreign market demand, so as to continue to consolidate its leading position in the
industry. The Group is confident to generate stable revenue in the future development
of the communications industry, with the strong policy support, the advancement of the
construction of 5G base stations worldwide, the continuous competition for first place in
the base station antenna system and RF subsystem businesses, and deep engagement in

new businesses.

OPERATING RESULTS

In 2021, the Company's operating revenue was approximately RMB661.39 million,
representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately 25.2%; net loss was approximately
RMB329.70 million, representing a year-on-year increase of approximately |,005.9%; basic

loss per share was approximately RMB0.40.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

In 2021, due to the impact of increases in commodity and raw material prices, the
COVID-19 outbreak and international political factors, major telecommunication
operators in China postponed the construction of 5G network capital projects, causing the
centralized procurement bidding for the construction of relevant 5G base stations to be
postponed to June 2021 and later, thus the overall development of the industry progress
failed to meet expectations. In the 5G construction and development process, China was
ahead of expectations in entering the era of 5G commercialization and gradually started
the 5G network investment and construction, with the official issuance of 5G licenses by
the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology of China to four operators, namely
China Mobile, China Telecom, China Unicom and China Broadcasting Network on 6 June
2019. However, due to the flare-ups of the pandemic, the impact of trade frictions and
other international political and economic factors on the economy of China, the overall

industry grew slower than expected and was subject to various tests.

Moreover, globally, 4G technology remained the mainstream for global network
construction, which was expected to persist for a long time. However, in 2021, due to
the impact of the COVID-19 outbreak and geopolitical factors, the demand for mobile
network construction in some overseas countries and regions slowed down and was
delayed. In addition, despite 2 years of 5G network deployment, there was a trend of a
serious imbalance in regional development in the world, which will persist for a long time.
With the continuous evolution of China's 4G and 5G technologies and the continuous
maturity of the industry chain, China's base station antenna and filter equipment
manufacturers had gradually obvious competitive advantages in the international market.
Capitalizing on its advantages in customer, technology and cost, the Group deepened

its cooperation with leading customers worldwide, so as to meet customers’ demand
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Chairman’s Statement
TEHREE

for cost-effective products and further increase its share in the international market.
Meanwhile, the Group was also the main supplier of key international equipment
manufacturers, with its product quality performance further recognized by customers, and
the increasing share in the market. In addition, the Group was also the main supplier and

even the whole-network exclusive antenna supplier of some European operators.

Of course, these tests and changes will also cause the Group to incur costs for a certain
period. In order to actively meet the demand of customers for the technical performance
of products and continuously explore new business areas, the Group increased its
research and development investment. The profit of the Group decreased in 2021 due
to the significant increase in research and development expenditures as a result of the
increase in new research projects, the impact of international political and economic
factors, and the decline in the overall gross profit margin as a result of the increase in
commodity and raw material prices. The Group believes that the impacts are temporary.
On the one hand, the research and development investment will provide a strong impetus
for the continuous growth of the future business, on the other hand, the Group believes
that the decision-making, departmental communication and actual execution will be more

efficient for it after the completion of internal restructuring and staff optimization.

Based on the above analysis, the telecommunication equipment industry is expected to
usher in a new round of growth period in the future with the in-depth development of
overseas 4G construction and the continuous large-scale construction of 5G in China. The
Group is one of the few one-stop solution providers of RF technology for global network
operators and system equipment manufacturers in China. It has acquired a wide range of
well-known customers and diversified sources of income, which will facilitate its healthy

and stable growth.

DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION
In 2021, the Board of Directors of the Group did not recommend the payment of any
final dividend.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

Looking forward, with the advancement of large-scale construction of 5G in China, 5G
network will cause profound changes in the industrial landscape, with its advantages in
high speed, low latency, high bandwidth and wide coverage, and help open a new era
for the Internet of Everything, thus becoming the driver of the next wave of science and
technology and industrial change. In June 2020, the State Council further emphasized
in the Government Work Report 2020 that “China should strengthen the construction

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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of new infrastructure, develop a new-generation information network and expand
5G applications.” In July 2021, ten authorities including the Ministry of Industry and
Information Technology, the Cyberspace Administration, and the National Development
and Reform Commission jointly issued the “Set Sail" Action Plan for 5G Applications
(2021-2023), which proposes that the overall goal of significantly improving China's 5G
application development and continuously enhancing the overall strength by 2023 is set
to promote the rapid development of 5G applications. In November 2021, the State
Council issued the “I4th Five-Year" Plan for Digital Economic Development, which
specifies major indicators for the development of the communications industry during the
"“14th Five-Year" period. Under the guidance of the central “14th Five-Year" Plan, and
with the policy and industrial support from local governments, and the continuous large-
scale construction of 5G network in the future, there will be more new opportunities
for industrial development and consolidation. On the one hand, the Ministry of Industry
and Information Technology said that “2022 will be a critical year for the large-scale
development of 5G applications when China will continuously improve the coverage
of 5G network and accelerate the deep integration of 5G and vertical industries.” On
the other hand, in the next few years, 5G construction will remain steady, and 5G
network construction will be steadily promoted and moderately proactive, while the 5G
construction target will gradually become clear, with the implementation of the “[4th Five-
Year” Plan. The applications in relation to industry chains will gradually mature with the

construction, which will drive 5G-related construction.

International development has always been an important strategy of the Group. With
regard to overseas markets, 4G construction remains in progress. There is a large demand
for 4G network construction and transformation in some emerging markets (such as
Africa, Latin America, Southeast Asia and other regions), as the overseas 4G penetration
rate is not high. While 5G starts entering the start-up stage, with some countries and
regions beginning to deploy/carry out pilot commercialization of 5G network. The 5G
capital expenditure is expected to further increase. According to the forecast of GSMA,
from 2021 to 2025, approximately 80% of investments of global operators in mobile
communications will be used to cover 5G capital expenditures. In the future, with the
gradual saturation of overseas 4G network markets, the introduction of 5G in foreign
countries will have a counter-cyclical impact on us and will also bring new opportunities. In
the future, the Group will further expand its presence in overseas operator markets and
will be continuously included in the shortlist by major multinational and regional operators,
thus continuously increasing the Company's share in the global market in the long term.
The continuous expansion of presence in the global market will help advance the upward

development in the next few years and achieve sustained growth for a longer period.
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Chairman’s Statement
TEHREE

Meanwhile, the Company is also actively promoting new business, including vertical
industry application business, engineering service business, and energy conservation and
new energy business, so as to continuously expand the new growth momentum of its
business. The Group believes that the development of 5G will bring great opportunities
for mobile communications. Except for the traditional human-to-human communication
scenario, there are also human-to-object and object-to-object communication scenarios,
in which wireless applications are extremely extensive. In addition, with the in-depth
cooperation with traditional customers and new drivers from new business areas, the
Group believes that it will have a larger market share in the future. The Group will
adhere to the strategic objectives of technology research and development, cost control
and market driving, comprehensively improve its management level through refined,
information-based and automated management, continuously improve various operating
indicators, make efforts to improve its operating efficiency, and bring the Company's

performance to a new level in the next few years.

I ' would like to express my sincere gratitude to our shareholders and customers for
their kind support and trust, and to our Directors and staff for their diligent work. The
Company and the Board of Directors will continue to advance the optimization of
customer base and structure and the differentiated competitive strategy of the leading
position in technology and cost, so as to enhance its comprehensive competitiveness
and achieve the steady growth of the Group. The Company will continuously advance
towards the goal of being a world-class supplier of radio frequency technology for mobile

communications and create value to give back to the shareholders and the society.

Hu Xiang
Chairman and Chief Executive Office

Shenzhen, the PRC
14 April 2022
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BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

When compared with last year, the sales revenue decreased by approximately RMB223.15
million (approximately 25.2%), to approximately RMB661.39 million in 2021 (2020:
approximately RMB884.54 million).

Sales of antenna system decreased by approximately 59.6% to approximately RMB183.26
million (2020: approximately RMB453.73 million), while sales of base station RF
subsystem increased by approximately 41.4% to approximately RMB360.32 million (2020:
approximately RMB254.90 million). In addition, sales of coverage extension solution and
other products decreased by approximately 33.0% to approximately RMBI 17.82 million
(2020: approximately RMBI7591 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEBNWR DM

In 2021, the Group's performance in product quality was recognized by customers
who were key equipment manufacturers, and the Group's cooperation with them was
deepened and strengthened continuously, thus an increase in the orders. However, major
telecommunication operators in China postponed the construction of 5G network capital
projects, causing the centralized procurement bidding for the construction of relevant 5G
base stations to be postponed to June 2021 and later, thus the overall development of the
industry progress failed to meet expectations. In addition, the global economy was affected
by the persistent impact of the COVID- 19 outbreak and uncertainties such as intemational
politics, and therefore businesses of overseas operators failed to meet expectations.
Therefore, the sales revenue in 2021 fluctuated. However, the Group believes that with
the effective control of the outbreak and driven by the 5G-related policy in the "[4th
Five-Year” Plan, the telecommunication industry still has a strong development potential,
which will bring opportunities for business growth of the Group. Meanwhile, the Group
continuously invested research and development resources in antenna systems and
base station RF subsystems to actively respond to the product demand of customers.
The Group further deeply participated in application in vertical industries and increased
its investment in new businesses. Such investment is expected to create new business

opportunities and sources of growth for the Group in the future.

Automated production equipments
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In 2021, the Group steadily secured research and development projects and market
orders (including those for 4G and 5G) from domestic and overseas customers,
and especially, won a large share of bids in the project bidding of key equipment
manufacturers. The proportion of sales revenue of the RF business significantly increased
to 54.5%, thus maintaining a sustained and rapid growth trend. Meanwhile, despite the
continuous impact of outbreaks overseas, the proportion of sales revenue of export
business continued to grow, with the revenue as a percentage of the total revenue for the

period increasing to approximately 46.2%.

The Group adhered to the three strategic directions, namely technology research and
development, cost control and market driving, improved its operational efficiency and
the conversion rate of research and development projects internally, continuously
strengthened the customer relationship, and rapidly responded to the domestic and
foreign market demand externally. The Group also believes that it will gain more benefits

in the future market with its product technology and brand advantages.

Antenna system

The Group's products of antenna system are primarily sold to China's domestic network
operators and network operators in overseas markets (such as Asia, Europe and
Americas); whilst a portion of our products of antenna system are sold to operators
worldwide by way of network solution provider customers such as ZTE and Nokia.
In 2021, the Group's antenna products continued to maintain a leading position in
the domestic market, meanwhile our continuous improvement in antenna product

technologies and quality was recognised by more and more international clients.
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In 2021, revenue from antenna system products of the Group decreased by approximately
59.6% as compared with 2020, to approximately RMB183.26 million (2020: approximately
RMB453.73 million) and was most affected by the market situation. In addition, driven
by the demand for overseas new projects, the Group made a further breakthrough in
multi-beam antennas and FDD+TDD antennas, with sales significantly increasing by
approximately 96.4% and approximately 27.4% to approximately RMBI .47 million and
approximately RMB4.19 million, as compared with the corresponding period of last year.
However, the sales of 5G antennas decreased by approximately 57.0% to approximately
RMB54.21 million as compared with 2020, as major domestic telecommunication
operators postponed the construction of some 5G network capital projects, leading to
the centralized procurement bidding for relevant 5G antenna products being postponed
to June 2021 and beyond. In addition, due to a significant decline in capital expenditure
for 4G network for domestic mobile communications, revenues from WCDMA/FDD-
LTE antennas and low-band refarming/loT antennas decreased by approximately 61.1%
and approximately 44.1% as compared with the corresponding period in 2020, to
approximately RMB24.58 million and approximately RMB20.76 million respectively. In
addition, due to the continuous impact of the global outbreak, the increase in commodity
and raw material prices, the fluctuation of exchange rate and other factors, the sales of
multi-frequency/multi-system antennas decreased by approximately 74.0% as compared

with the corresponding period in 2020, to approximately RMB45.05 million.

In 2021, the Group actively expanded its presence in overseas markets and received
positive comments from key customers. Under the background of the slowdown in
the overall economic growth due to the continuous impact of the global outbreak, the
Group continued to implement new projects and made breakthroughs in respect of some
antenna products. Driven by the policy in the “I4th Five-Year" Plan, the communications
industry remains promising and relevant demand will be gradually unleashed. Meanwhile,
5G and its applications, as the driving force of a new round of technological waves and
industrial changes, constantly require changes and innovation in wireless technology, and
therefore, technology and reliability requirements on antenna systems are more complex,
and their update is constantly accelerated. There are far fewer manufacturers capable
of developing and producing high-performance and high-quality antenna systems than in
previous times. The Group has long-term technology accumulation and comprehensive
product coverage and is in a leading position in the domestic industry in terms of client
technology development capability and product quality performance. In addition, it is
believed that with gradual control of overseas pandemic, steadily advancing the inclusion

in the shortlist of international operator customers and actively broadening the offerings
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Management Discussion and Analysis

of antenna system products will help gradually release the overseas demand for relevant
projects of the Group and will also bring continuous market opportunities and help secure
orders. The Group believes that the large-scale construction of the 5G network and
overseas growth will strongly drive the growth of the Group's antenna business in the

next few years.

Base station RF subsystem

The Group is one of the core suppliers of RF subsystems for international communication
equipment manufacturers, such as ZTE and Nokia, and provides them with a variety
of products and solutions, including RF subsystem products. The Group continued to
remain as a major supplier among the world's leading telecommunications equipment
manufacturers, and continuously consolidated and deepened its cooperation with them,
thus achieving a steady increase in the share. In 2021, the revenue from the Group’s base
station RF subsystem products increased significantly by approximately 41.4% as compared
with 2020 to approximately RMB360.32 million (2020: approximately RMB254.90 million),
mainly because the revenue from WCDMA/FDD-LTE RF and 5G metal RF significantly
increased by approximately 42.8% and approximately |,662.4% as compared with the
corresponding period of 2020, to approximately RMB309.66 million and approximately
RMB16.05 million respectively.

In 2021, the Group secured a number of research and development projects and market
orders including those for filters, combiners and diplexer, from major system equipment
manufacturers (such as ZTE and Nokia) in the world, and achieved large-scale production,
and a steady increase in the market share and delivery ratio among international
equipment manufacturers. Meanwhile, the Group won the bid for RF device projects of
major domestic operators and some overseas operators, and achieved large-scale delivery.
The Group believes that there remains room for the continuous growth of base station
RF subsystem products in the future, due to domestic 5G network construction starting
high and low frequency collaborative networking, and continuous implementation of
overseas construction of 4G networks, as well as the gradual implementation of overseas
5G network construction. Customer diversity, high-end products and enhancement of its
status as a core supplier are conducive to increasing the market share and profitability of

the Group's RF subsystem, driving a new round of growth in the future.
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Coverage extension solution and others

The arrival of the 5G era brings rich application scenarios and empowers vertical industries.
The Group is committed to creating a diversified product portfolio and participating
more in the construction of a new ecology in the 5G era. In 2021, the Group's revenue
from coverage extension solutions and other products decreased by approximately
33.0% as compared with the corresponding period in 2020, to approximately RMBI17.82
million (corresponding period of 2020: approximately RMBI175.91 million), mainly
due to postponed implementation of related projects as a result of the overall delay
of major domestic telecommunication operators in network capital expenditures.
However, revenue from Small Cell and AP significantly increased by approximately
292.0% and approximately 60.2% as compared with the corresponding period of 2020,
to approximately RMB5.14 million and approximately RMB2.45 million respectively. The
Group s full of confidence in the future diversified product portfolio and vertical industry
expansion. The Group believes that the gradual resumption of construction of related
capital projects, the exploration of 5G application in many fields and development of new

businesses will create new sources of growth for it.

Customer

In 2021, the Group noted that a change in market pattern resulted in a change in customer
revenue structure, and the Group's in-depth cooperation with telecommunication
equipment manufacturers and telecommunication operators allowed the Group to have a

strong competitive edge in the changing market opportunities.

In 2021, major domestic telecommunication operators in China postponed the
construction of 5G network capital projects as a whole. Although there was still low
demand for mid and high-frequency band 5G AAU construction, the demand was far
below the expectation. Therefore, the revenue from major Chinese operators in 2021
declined by approximately 28.7% as compared with the corresponding period of last
year, to approximately RMB122.77 million, accounting for approximately 18.6% of the
total revenue. With the large-scale deployment of medium and high-band 5G networks
and the gradual release of the demand for low-band network construction, the high and
low-frequency collaborative networking will release the demand for related projects. This
together with the expected large-scale commercial application of 5G makes the Group
believe that the opportunities for future domestic 5G network construction will provide

room for continuous growth.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2021

BEERTREREM

SGRRMIPRGERTEENEASZR - UK

Eﬁﬁ%’$%@ﬁﬁ%ﬂ%%ﬁkmF
mA C BEZHREB|SCRAT A EREE
¢°mm$v$%l%%L@H%&E@E

R AE 2020 FRIER D 4I33.0% EHAR
B 117821870 (2020F RIHR - HHAREE 17591
Br) TERENHTEEANTZEFES

BERBTEMBELRRAX  HBAEBEME
P - B2 MEWRAPE RSB KR
BR - D RIB20205F FEE R 49292.0% R4
602%ZEMARESI4ETHOARKE 2458
T AEEHARRZTIEWERMEEIARE
ETENERTRELD  BERBELAER
BROELSFR - SCRTTERBES EER
BHARR  ARMEBAELNDE - BEH
AR EEFIERE

EF

02| FARENEEER  MISRBNE T
REFPRAGENE (L MARERERER
HEEEEEEEEIARANEE 4%
BEmslegthBAERANRTES

20215 - FEBRNTEEFELCHBRLE
SCREERBRER - #AEFLERISG AAU
MRS ERESER BERETREHR
B B0 FREFEFEELHNBA
BT REFRBRDN28TXZHAR
8127787 IEBMARLLELN R 18.6% °

BEESGH = BRMENRELIHE - URE
S AR R T SRR R - RIEE TR R
ABEBIEEERT R - MZ5GITEER
REVKHAEER  AEBBEERREASG
PRERNERR B RFENERER



Management Discussion and Analysis

SGEFH

Major domestic telecommunication operators in China postponed the construction of 5G
network capital projects as a whole and the construction of 4G base station equipment
basically stagnated, while the delivery method of tumkey procurement was adopted for
the medium and high-band construction of 5G networks, the RF subsystem products and
5@ antenna system products of the Group were delivered to network solution equipment
manufacturers. Due to the lagging demand, the Group's sales to the PRC equipment
manufacturer customers in 2021 decreased by approximately 28.6% as compared with
2020, to approximately RMB194.63 million, accounting for approximately 29.4% of total

revenue.
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Due to the continuous global impact of the COVID-19, OMICRON and international
political factors, related uncertainties factors increased, and network construction in
overseas markets fell short of expectations. In 2021, the direct sales to international
operators decreased by approximately 60.2% as compared with 2020 to approximately
RMB53.08 million, accounting for approximately 8.0% of total revenue. The capital
expenditures of global operators changed cyclically, except that in some emerging markets
(such as Africa, Southeast Asia, Latin America and other regions), there was still large
room for 4G network construction or transformation, and in many countries and regions,
5G construction was accelerated. It is expected that the capital expenditure of overseas
operators will further increase in the future, and large-scale construction will also proceed
simultaneously. The demand for overseas network construction will continue to increase.
The Group will continue to persist in the continuous expansion of overseas sales channels
and overseas operator customers, which will bring opportunities for sustained growth in

the future.

Due to the COVID-19 and OMICRON outbreak both at home and abroad, the
demand for mobile network construction in certain countries and regions slowed down.
However, with strong R&D technology and product quality, as well as the accumulation
of long-term stable cooperation, in 2021, the Group's sales to international equipment
manufacturer customers increased significantly by approximately 25.1% as compared with
the corresponding period of last year to approximately RMB265.70 million, accounting for
approximately 40.2% of total revenue. The Group maintained an increasingly prominent
share among leading global equipment manufacturer customers, with both its technology
and quality performance highly recognized by customers. It is believed that with the
plateau of the outbreak, the strengthening of cooperation and communication with
overseas customers and the continuous provision of cost-effective products, overseas

markets will bring opportunities for sustained growth for the business of the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Gross profit

In 2021, the gross profit of the Group decreased by approximately 91.6% to
approximately RMB16.81 million (2020: approximately RMB199.95 million), while the gross
profit margin decreased from approximately 22.6% in 2020 to approximately 2.5%, this
has embraced the influencing factor of inventory impairment provision. If relevant influence
was excluded, the gross profit would increase by approximately 411.8% to approximately
RMB86.02 million, and the gross profit margin was approximately 13.0%. In addition, the
continuous increase in bulk commodity and raw material prices and the fluctuations of the
exchange rate resulted in a decline in overall gross profit margins. The Group will continue
to improve the overall gross profit margin through constantly optimizing the product sales
portfolio, increasing the sales proportion of high-tech products and implementing effective

control of internal costs.
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e

The Group noticed that the technology path in the 3G/4G era is relatively short. With the

maturity and rapid spread of technology, there will be highly intense price competition in the
later stage of technological development, which will impact the profitability of the industry.
As the age of 5G is coming, the technology evolution path will be longer, and there will
be significant increase in technical difficulties, product solutions, quality requirements and
application scenarios, which will significantly reduce qualified suppliers and be conducive
to the improvement of competitive environment, enabling the Group to focus more on
improving product technology and quality. The Group believes that with the continuous
evolution of technology products, continuous improvement of product quality and the
continuous expansion of new business, the Group is full of confidence both in the future

recovery and growth of profit margins.

Other income and expenses

Other income and expenses decreased by approximately 24.2% to approximately

RMB34.35 million, mainly due to the decrease in the government subsidies obtained by

the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Other gains and losses

Other gains and losses decreased by approximately 52.8% to approximately RMB9.49

million, mainly due to the decrease in exchange losses.

Distribution and selling expenses

Distribution and selling expenses decreased by approximately 0.4% from approximately
RMB55.40 million in 2020 to approximately RMB55.17 million in 2021, mainly due to a
decrease in the expenses including travel expenses, after-sales service fees, consulting fees
and low-value consumables as a result of the reduction of wages, the strengthening of cost

control and the decline in business activities.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses increased by approximately 3.9% from approximately RMB94.96
million in 2020 to approximately RMB98.63 million in 2021, mainly due to the increase in
maintenance fees, recruitment and personnel agency fees, service charges, social insurance

premiums and other necessary expenses.
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Research and development costs

During the year, research and development costs increased by approximately 10.6%
from approximately RMB109.60 million in 2020 to approximately RMBI21.18 million
in 2021, mainly due to the increase in research and development materials costs, social
insurance premiums and amortization of intangible assets. Due to the significant increase
in the demand for 5G technology development and the needs of the development of
overseas projects, as well as the development of new business, the Group's research and
development investment was expected to increase rapidly in 2021, which was expected

to bring business opportunities in the future.
Finance costs

Finance costs increased by approximately 45.4% from approximately RMB5.29 million
in 2020 to approximately RMB7.69 million in 2021, mainly due the increase in interest

expense of bank borrowings.
(Loss) before tax

(Loss) before taxation was approximately RMB308.04 million in 2021 (2020: a loss before
tax of approximately RMB43.39 million). Net profit margin before taxation decreased from
approximately -4.9% in 2020 to approximately -46.6% in 2021. The decrease in profit
before taxation for the year was mainly due to the overall impact of market fluctuations
on sales revenue, the increase in research and development costs due to the increase in
new research projects, the decrease in gross profit margin as a result of the increase in
inventory impairment provision and the increase in commodity and raw material prices.
During the year, the Group's asset impairment increased significantly, which was mainly
3G and 4G antennas and RF spare parts. As 5G has entered the stage of scale commercial
use, 3G and 4G-related capital expenditures in China and some countries have declined
significantly or even stagnated, and the realisable value of 3G and 4G products may be

significantly reduced, as such, the provision for impairment has been increased.
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A

Tax

Current income tax expenses decreased by approximately 98.4% from RMBO0.615 million
in 2020 to approximately RMBO.01 million in 202 1. Effective tax rates calculated from the
tax charged to the (loss) before tax of the Company were 0.003% and |.417% for 2021
and 2020 respectively.

(Loss) for the year

Loss for 2021 was approximately RMB329.70 million (2020: a loss for the year of
approximately RMB29.81 million). The Group's net profit margin was approximately
-49.8% in 2021 as compared to approximately -3.4% in 2020. The decrease in net profit
margin was mainly due to a decrease in sales revenue, and increase in asset impairment

and research and development expenses.

Relationships with equipment manufacturers, operators and suppliers

The Group mainly sells antenna products and RF subsystem products to
telecommunication equipment manufacturer customers (such as ZTE) who build complete
networks for delivery to telecommunication operators (such as China Mobile), thus

enabling the Group to establish close and stable relations with equipment manufacturers.
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The Group is also one of the few domestic technology providers offering RF solutions
to both global and domestic telecommunication operators (such as China Mobile, China
Unicom and China Telecom) and telecommunication equipment manufacturers (such
as ZTE and Nokia), which enables the Group to maintain a leading edge in product
technology and continuous expansion of customer channels, and thus to build close and

solid relations with global and domestic telecommunication operators.

Suppliers of the Group include raw material suppliers and contract manufacturers. The
Group has developed solid and steady relationships with many of its key suppliers.
Given solid and steady relationships with the suppliers, the Group believes that its
suppliers generally provide supplies to the Group with a priority and the Group has not
experienced any material shortage or delays in receiving supplies or services from the

suppliers during the track record period.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

A number of factors may affect the results and business operations of the Group. Major

risks and uncertainties are summarized below.
Brand/Reputation Risk

The Group has established and maintained its MOBI brand that aims to provide
the products of the Group including antenna system, base station RF subsystem
and coverage extension solution and other brand, primarily targeting leading system
equipment manufacturers and telecommunication operators worldwide for provision
of its RF solution. If the Group is unsuccessful in promoting its MOBI brand or fails to
maintain its brand position and market perception, system equipment manufacturers and
telecommunication operators’ acceptance of its MOBI brand may erode, and the Group's
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects may be materially and

adversely affected.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Any negative publicity or dispute relating to the Group’s MOBI brand, products,
sponsorship activities or management, the loss of any award or accreditation associated
with the Group's MOBI brand or products or the use of the “MOBI" trademark or brand
name by other businesses could materially and adversely affect the Group's business,

financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Market Trend

The Group's success depends on the market perception and customer acceptance of
MOBI brand and the Group's products, which in large part, rely on the Group's ability to

anticipate and respond to different market demands in a timely manner.

If the Group is unable to utilize new technologies and processes, anticipate and respond
to market and new technology trends and customer preferences in a timely manner,
demand for MOBI products may decrease. The Group's business would also suffer if
product creations or modifications do not respond to the needs of customers, are not
appropriately timed with market opportunities or are not effectively brought to market.
Any failure by the Group to offer products that respond to changing market and customer
preferences, or any shift in market or new technologies and processes and customer
preferences away from MOBI brand and the Group's products, could adversely affect

customers' interest in the Group's products.

Competition

Currently, the Group’s antenna system products, base station RF subsystem products and
coverage extension solution and other related products face different levels of competition
in their respective market sectors. As competitors with similar brand positioning may
emerge and intensify the current competition, there can be no assurance that the Group
will be able to compete effectively against competitors who may have greater financial
resources, greater scales of production, superior technology, better brand recognition and
a wider and more diverse distribution network. To compete effectively and maintain the
Group's market share, the Group may be forced to, among other actions, reduce prices
and increase capital expenditures, which may in turn negatively affect the Group's profit

margins, business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group's production process is carried out with low emissions and low energy
consumption, and it will not produce great amount of pollutants. The Group has been
endeavoring to ensure that the production process is in compliance with relevant

environmental rules and regulations.

In the past, the Group has not been in breach of any relevant environmental rules and
regulations and has not been imposed any relevant penalty. It is expected that the future
operational activities of the Group would not be affected by the environmental policies.
The Group strives for energy conservation and consumption reduction. In reducing the

operating costs, the Group also puts efforts in environmental protection.
Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group's operations are mainly carried out by the Group's subsidiaries in mainland
China while the Group itself is listed on the Stock Exchange. The Group's operations
accordingly shall comply with relevant laws and regulations in mainland China and Hong
Kong. During the year ended 31 December 2021 and up to the date of this Report, to the
best of our knowledge, the Group has complied with all the relevant laws and regulations
in mainland China and Hong Kong, and there is no material breach of or non-compliance

with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

FUTURE PROSPECTS
Outlook

Looking forward to the future, the Group will focus on both domestic and overseas
markets, continue to be deeply engaged in the wireless mobile sector, focus on traditional
businesses including antenna system business and RF subsystem business, and actively
explore the “5G+" vertical industry application, and continue to make efforts and expand

into new businesses.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENRRE DM

The Group believes that as the large scale construction of 5G in China is promoted,

the 5G network will cause profound changes to industrial structures, with its advantages
in high speed, low latency, high bandwidth and wide coverage, and open a new era of
Internet of everything, thus becoming the driving force for a new wave of technological
waves and industrial changes. In May 2020, the State Council further emphasized in
the Government Work Report 2020 that “China should strengthen the construction
of new infrastructure, develop a new-generation information network and expand 5G
applications.” In July 2021, ten authorities including the Ministry of Industry and Information
Technology, the Cyberspace Administration, and the National Development and
Reform Commission jointly issued the “Set Sail” Action Plan for 5G Applications (2021-
2023), which proposes the overall goal of significantly improving China's 5G application
development and continuously enhancing the overall strength by 2023, to promote the
rapid development of 5G applications. In November 2021, the Ministry of Industry and
Information Technology issued the “I4th Five-Year” Plan for the development of the
information and communications industry, which specifies the major indicators for the
development of the communications industry in the “14th Five-Year” Plan period. Under
the guidance of the central “I4th Five-Year” Plan, and with the policy and industrial
support from local governments, and the continuous large-scale construction of the 5G

network in the future, there will be more new opportunities for industrial development
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and consolidation. On the one hand, the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology
said that “in 2022, a critical year for the large-scale development of 5G applications, efforts
will be made to continuously improve the coverage of 5G network and accelerate the
deep integration of 5G and vertical industries.” On the other hand, in the next few years,
the progress in 5G construction will remain steady, and the 5G network construction
will be steady and moderately proactive, while the 5G construction target will gradually
become clear with the implementation of the “I4th Five-Year” Plan. The applications in
relation to industry chains will gradually mature with the construction, which will drive

5G-related construction.

International development has always been an important strategy of the Group. With
regard to overseas markets, 4G construction remains in progress. There is a large demand
for 4G network construction and transformation in some emerging markets (such as
Africa, Latin America, Southeast Asia and other regions), as the overseas 4G penetration
rate is not high. While 5G starts entering the start-up stage, with some countries and
regions beginning to deploy/carry out pilot commercialization of 5G network, the 5G

capital expenditure is expected to further increase. According to the forecast of GSMA,
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Management Discussion and Analysis

from 2021 to 2025, approximately 80% of investments of global operators in mobile
communications will be used to cover 5G capital expenditures. In the future, with the
gradual saturation of overseas 4G network markets, the introduction of 5G in foreign
countries will have a counter-cyclical impact on us and will also bring new opportunities. In
the future, the Group will further expand its presence in overseas operator markets and
will be continuously included in the shortlist by major multinational and regional operators,
thus continuously increasing the Company's share in the global market in the long term.
The continuous expansion of presence in the global market will help advance the upward

development in the next few years and achieve sustained growth for a longer period.

Customers

The Group persists in the vision and goal of “becoming the world's first-class supplier
of RF technology for mobile communications.” The Group is committed to providing
RF technology solutions to global leading system equipment manufacturers and

telecommunication operators.

The Group is also one of the few domestic technology providers offering RF solutions to
both global system equipment manufacturers and telecommunication operators, which
enables the Group to maintain a continuous leading edge in product technology and

continuous expansion of customer channels.

In 2021, relevant strategic cooperation with domestic customers was continuously
broadened and deepened. On the one hand, the Group maintained its close and in-depth
strategic cooperation with domestic operators in macro base station antennas, integrated
aesthetic antennas RF devices, indoor distribution projects, aesthetic comprehensive
solutions, special scenario coverage, etc. On the other hand, in terms of domestic
equipment manufacturers, the Group still had the advantage of being a leading supplier,
including leading advantage in terms of product technology, quality performance and
customer communication. The large-scale construction of 5G network in 2022 will be
continuously and vigorously promoted, and major equipment manufacturers, especially
domestic equipment manufacturers, are expected to occupy an important market share.
In the current 5G network construction in China, the degree of strategic cooperation with
system equipment manufacturers will largely determine the domestic market share of 5G

antenna and RF subsystem business. The Group's close strategic partnership with domestic
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equipment manufacturers will make the Company's advantages more prominent in the
future market. The Group believes that the continuous implementation of 5G network

construction in China will bring business opportunities for continuous growth in the future.

With regard to overseas customers, despite the continuous impact of the outbreak to a
certain extent in 2021, the Group continuously accumulated technology and expanded the
market, and made greater efforts to promote the technological upgrading of products and
improve product coverage, so as to meet the demand of overseas operator customers.
It is believed that with the gradual stabilization of outbreaks overseas, the Group will
continue to maintain its market advantages by continuously advancing the inclusion in
the new shortlist, and that with relevant overseas business opportunities, the Group will
continuously secure orders from the market. With regard to international equipment
manufacturers, the Group still maintained its dominant share and achieved a continuous
increase in market share and delivery scale. The Group believes that the continuous
deepening of cooperation with international equipment manufacturer customers, the
implementation of research and development projects and the entering of climb delivery

stage of new products will still facilitate continuous business growth in the future.
Products

On 6 June 2019, the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology of China officially
issued 5G licenses to four operators, namely China Mobile, China Telecom, China Unicom
and China Broadcasting Network, marking 5G commercialization in China. In December
2020, the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology of China issued a |0-year
license for the use of 5G medium and low-frequency use licenses to China Telecom,
China Mobile and China Unicom. Hence, the major four domestic operators have
covered multiple frequency bands with their respective advantages. The low-frequency
use licenses can be used as the coverage layer to provide wide coverage and deep
coverage, the medium-frequency band can be used as the continuous capacity layer, and
the high-frequency band can be used as the hotspot capacity layer to solve the capacity
demand. The coverage of multiple frequency bands will help utilize the advantages of each
frequency band effectively, improve the utilization efficiency and benefits of frequency
resources, and thus realize comprehensive improvement in bandwidth, latency, and
synchronization performance in the 5G era. Although the 5G network construction

failed to meet the expectations, with efforts of operators for arrangements and under
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CHANGES ARISING OUT OF 5G

the guidance of the “14th Five-Year” Plan and relevant policies, there is a strong driving
force for industry development, which will continuously bring new industry development
opportunities and industry integration opportunities. On the one hand, the high and low-
frequency collaborative networking for 5G starts, and the number of base stations will
increase in scale, which will result in the demand for a large number of new base stations,
as well as the need of the roof reconstruction of existing base stations. On the other
hand, driven by the 5G network construction, the process of digital transformation in
various fields has been accelerated. 5G application will probably develop more explosively,
while the vertical application is expected to emerge gradually. The Group believes that the
technological threshold of cutting-edge high-end antennas and the innovatory base station
RF subsystem technology are beneficial to the Group in competition, while the Group has
the capacity of the whole industry chain for product research and development and mass
production, and has supplied goods massively. In general, the Group believes that with
the Group's leading position in technologies of 5G antennas and RF subsystems, and the
integrated and source-based development of antennas and RF subsystems, the Group's
technology and customer accumulation in these two segments will enable the Group to

keep working in 5G network construction.
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Globally, despite the popularization of LTE network, its overall development remains
highly unbalanced, with the long-term imbalance between regions. Therefore, despite
the temporary influence of the outbreak of COVID-19 in foreign countries, LTE network
construction continues. The demand for overseas LTE network construction and complex
multi-network stations will bring about a further upgrade of multi-frequency and multi-
system antenna and multi-beam antenna technologies, making them closer to ultimate
design. Moreover, the Group has strong technological advantages in deploying 5G
overseas due to the leading 5G technology in China, which also greatly improves the
competitiveness of the Group. The Group has undertaken a number of R&D projects
from overseas customers and passed corresponding tests. The Group's continuous
entry into the shortlists for overseas operators, and the accumulation of multi-frequency
and multi-system integrated antenna technology and hybrid beam antenna technology,
including its improvement in automated and intelligent production capabilities, enable
the Group to further upgrade its antenna development platform to meet the evolving

technical demands of intemational operators.

In terms of coverage extension solution products and other products, the rich application
scenarios are created in the 5G era, which enables the development of new business
forms in vertical industries. The Ministry of Industry and Information Technology also
said that efforts would be made to continuously improve the 5G network coverage in
the future and accelerate the deep integration of 5G and vertical industries. Diversified
product demand will provide broad market space. In addition, the Group begins to
make efforts in new businesses, by expanding its presence in energy conservation and
new energy sectors. The Group believes that the continuous expansion and deepening
of services and cooperation with domestic operators and the continuous expansion of
new businesses will help increase the market share of the Group and bring more new

opportunities for business growth of the Group in the future.
Conclusion

The Group is one of the few one-stop solution providers of RF technology for global
network operators and system equipment manufacturers in the PRC, capitalizing on
a wide range of well-known customers and diversified income sources positive for its

healthy and stable growth.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group believes that in the future, with the in-depth development of overseas
4G construction and the continuous large-scale construction of 5G in China, the
telecommunications equipment industry is expected to usher in a new round of growth. In
addition, with the in-depth cooperation with traditional customers and new drivers from
new business areas, the Group believes that it will have a larger market share in the future.
The Company and the Board will continue to optimize the size and mix of customer
base and adopt differentiated competition strategies underpinned by technology and cost
advantages to maximize the market opportunities in LTE, 5G and next generation wireless
technologies, thus enhancing the Group's overall competitiveness to ensure the robust
business performance of the Group and create more value for shareholders and the

society.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE, LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group has funded the Group's operations and capital requirements from cash
generated from business, trade credit from our suppliers and short-term bank borrowings.
Our primary uses of cash have been for our increased working capital needs, capital

expenditures on purchases of production equipment.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had net current assets of approximately RMB330.09
million (2020: approximately RMB633.98 million) including inventories of approximately
RMB213.1'1 million (2020: approximately RMB270.02 million), trade receivables and
notes receivable of approximately RMB447.30 million (2020: approximately RMB506.15
million) and trade payables and notes payable of approximately RMB527.19 million (2020:
approximately RMB552.62 million).

The Group maintained effective management of its working capital. For the year ended
31 December 2021, average inventories turnover, average receivables turnover and
average payables turnover are approximately |37 days (2020: 147 days), 263 days (2020:
231 days) and 306 days (2020: 305 days) respectively. We offer credit terms generally
accepted in the antenna system and base station RF subsystem manufacturing industry to
our trade customers. In general, the average credit period for local network operators is

longer than global network operators and solution providers.
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As at 31 December 2021, the Group recorded a pledged bank balance of approximately
RMB72.17 million (2020: approximately RMBI12.82 million), cash and bank balances of
approximately RMB250.55 million (2020: approximately RMB371.93 million) and recorded
bank and other borrowings of approximately RMB37.28 million (2020: approximately
RMB164.58 million). The current ratio (current assets divided by current liabilities)
decreased from approximately 1.85 times as at 31 December 2020 to approximately |.44
times as at 31 December 2021. The gearing ratio (bank and other borrowings divided by
total assets) was approximately 8.8% as at 31 December 2021 as compared with a gearing
ratio of approximately 8.4% as at 3| December 2020. The interest rates on the Group's
bank borrowings are designated as fixed rates or floating rates based on prevailing market

rates.

The Board is of the opinion that the Group has a solid and stable financial position and
adequate resources to satisfy necessary operating capital requirements and foreseeable

capital expenditures.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

RMB is the functional currency of the Group. Currencies other than RMB expose the
Group to foreign currency risk. We have foreign currency sales and purchases and
certain trade receivables and bank balances are denominated in USD, EUR and HKD.
We currently do not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the management

monitors and will consider hedging of foreign currency exposure when the need arises.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had approximately 2,669 staffs. The total staff
costs amounted to approximately RMB245.69 million for the year ended 2021. The
remuneration of the Group's employees is determined on the basis of their responsibilities
and industry practices. Regular training is provided to improve the skills and expertise of
relevant staff. The Group also grants share options and discretionary bonuses to eligible

staffs based on their performance.

CHARGE ON ASSETS
As at 31 December 2021, bank balances of approximately RMB72.17 million were

pledged to secure bank borrowings and bills payable granted to the Group.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY

During 2021, a total amount of 1,982,000 shares of the Company had been repurchased
at prices ranging from HK$0.37 per share to HK$0.53 per share by the Company via
Stock Exchange. The Company had subsequently cancelled all these shares repurchased
during the year. Save as mentioned above, neither the Company nor the Company or any
of its subsidiaries had purchased or sold any of the Company's listed securities during the

current year.

DIVIDEND
The Board does not recommend any payment of final dividend for the year ended 3|

December 2021.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining shareholders who are entitled to attend the annual
general meeting of the Company to be held on 10 June 2022 (2022 AGM"), the Register
of Members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 7 June 2022 to Friday, 10 June
2022, both days inclusive. In order to qualify for attending and voting at the 2021 AGM, all
transfer documents should be lodged for registration with the Company's share registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited (the “Company's Registrar’)at
Shops 1712-1716, 17/F, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
no later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 6 June 2022.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board has been adamant in upholding high standards of corporate governance
to maximize the operational efficiency, corporate values and shareholder returns of
the Company. The Company adopted sound governance and disclosure practices and
continued to upgrade internal control system, strengthen risk control management and

reinforce the corporate governance structure.

Save for the deviation disclosed in this report, the Company has complied with the code
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code Provisions”) as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(“Listing Rules”) during the year ended 31 December 2021.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code") as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.

All Directors have confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company, that they
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code during the year ended 31
December 2021.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

The Board comprises six Directors, including two executive Directors, one non-executive
Director and three independent non-executive Directors. The following sets out the

composition of the Board, by category of Directors:

Executive Directors:
Hu Xiang (Chairman)
Liao Dong (Note I)

Non-executive Directors:
Qu Degian

Independent non-executive Directors:
Li Tianshu

Zhang Han

Ge Xiaojing

The Board's composition demonstrates a balance of core competence with regard to the
business of the Group so as to provide effective leadership and the required expertise to
the Group. The executive Directors and senior management have extensive management
experience in the wireless communication antennas and base station RF subsystems
industry. The biographical details and experience of the Directors and senior management

are set out on pages 97 to 103 of this report.

There are no financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationships among

members of the Board.

(Note 1): On 5 November 2021, the board of directors approved the resignation of Mr. Liao Dong from

executive director with effect from 5 November 2021.
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Board Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Group and is entrusted with the
responsibility to supervise the overall management of the business, including establishing
and overseeing the Group's strategic development, business plans, financial objectives,
capital investment proposals and assumes the responsibilities of corporate governance
of the Group. The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for implementing
its business strategies and managing the daily operations of the Group's businesses to the

executive Directors and members of senior management of the Group.

Board Meetings

The Board conducts meetings on a regular basis and on an ad hoc basis, as warranted by
business needs. During the year ended 31 December 2021, four Board meetings, two
audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) meetings, one remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) meeting and one nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) meeting were convened. Details of attendance of Board meetings of each of
the members of the Board are set out in “Attendance of Individual Directors at Meetings”

below.

Notices for regular Board meetings are given to each Director at least |4 days prior to
the meeting, whereby the Directors can put forward his proposed items into the agenda.
The agenda and the relevant Board papers are then circulated to the Directors not less
than 3 days before a Board meeting in order to enable the Directors to make an informed

decisions. For other Board meetings, reasonable notices are given.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board at all times met the requirements
of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-
executive Directors with one of them possessing appropriate professional qualifications or

accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence from each of
the independent non-executive Directors. The Company is of the view that all the
independent non-executive Directors meet the guidelines for assessing independence as

set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers them to be independent.
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Board Diversity Policy

Pursuant to Code Provision A.5.6 of Corporate Governance Code, the Board has adopted
a Board Diversity Policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) which sets out the Company's
approach to achieving diversity of its Board. The Company recognises that an increase
in diversity at the Board level will support the achievement of its strategic objectives and
sustainable development. The Company seeks to increase Board diversity through the
consideration of a number of factors including, but not limited to, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. The Company will also take into consideration its own business model and specific

needs from time to time in determining the optimum composition of the Board.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

As at the date of this report, Hu Xiang is both the chairman of the Board and chief
executive officer of the Company, responsible for the leadership and effective running
of the Board to formulate overall strategies and business development directions for the
Group and for the daily management of the business of the Group, implementation of the
policies, business objectives and plans set by the Board and is accountable to the Board

for the overall operation of the Group.
Code Provision A.2.1

This code provision stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer should
be separate and should not be performed by the same individual. Currently, Mr. Hu Xiang
is both the Chairman and chief executive officer of the Company. Mr. Hu is one of the
founders of the Group and has extensive experience in the telecommunication industry.
Given the current stage of development of our Group, the Board believes that vesting
the two roles in the same person provides our Company with strong and consistent
leadership and facilitates the implementation and execution of our Group's business
strategies. We shall nevertheless review the structure from time to time in light of the

prevailing circumstances.
Non-Executive Directors

The term of appointment of all the non-executive and independent non-executive
Directors of the Company is three years. Under the Company's Articles of Association,
one-third of all Directors (whether executive or non-executive) is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at each annual general meeting provided that every Director
shall be subject to retirement at least once every three vears.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

The Board established the Remuneration Committee with specific written terms of
reference which deal clearly with its authority and responsibilities. The Remuneration
Committee comprises all the independent non-executive Directors, namely Li Tianshu,
Zhang Han and Ge Xiaojing and one non-executive Director, namely Qu Degian. The

Remuneration Committee is chaired by Li Tianshu.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for assisting the Board in achieving
its objective of attracting and retaining Directors and senior management of the
highest caliber and experience needed to develop the Group's business successfully.
The Remuneration Committee is also responsible for the development of a fair and
transparent procedure in determining the remuneration policies for the Directors and
senior management of the Company and for determining their remuneration packages.

The principal functions of the Remuneration Committee include:

. formulation of remuneration policy for approval by the Board;

. recommendation to the Board the policy and structure for the remuneration of

Directors and senior management;

. determination of the remuneration of executive Directors and senior management,

including benefits in kind and compensation payments;

. review and approval of the compensation arrangements in connection with any
loss or termination of their office or appointment, or dismissal or removal for

misconduct to executive Directors and senior management; and

. determination of the criteria for assessing employee performance.

No Director is involved in deciding his own remuneration.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Remuneration Committee held one
meeting to review the Company's remuneration policies, the terms of the service
contracts and the performance of all executive Directors and senior management. Details
of attendance of Remuneration Committee meetings of each of the members of the
Remuneration Committee are set out in “Attendance of Individual Directors at Meetings”

below.

Details of the emoluments of each Director, on a named basis, are set out in note 10 to

the financial statements.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Board established the Nomination Committee with specific written terms of
reference which deal clearly with its authority and responsibilities on 22 March 2012. The
Nomination Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely
Li Tianshu, Zhang Han and Ge Xiaojing, one non-executive Director, namely Qu Degian
and one executive Director, namely, Hu Xiang. The Nomination Committee is chaired by
Hu Xiang. Currently all new appointments to the Board will be considered by the Board

whose deliberations are based on the following criteria:

. possession of core competencies, including but not limited to financial literacy,
that are appropriate to the Company’s business and complement the skills and

competencies of the existing Directors on the Board;

. ability to commit time and effort to carry out duties and responsibilities effectively;
and

. possession of a good track record of experience at a senior level in corporations/
organizations.

During the year ended 3| December 2021, the Nomination Committee held one
meeting to review the structure, size and composition of the Board to ensure that it
has a balance of expertise, skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of the
business of the Company. Details of attendance of Nomination Committee meeting of
each of the members of the Nomination Committee are meeting of each of the members
of the Nomination Committee set out in “Attendance of Individual Directors at Meetings”

below.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board established the Audit Committee with specific written terms of reference
which deal clearly with its authority and responsibilities. The Audit Committee comprises
all the independent non-executive Directors. Zhang Han is the chairman of the Audit

Committee.

The Audit Committee serves as a focal point for communication between the Directors,
the external auditors and chief financial officer as regards their duties relating to, among
other things, financial and other reporting, internal controls and external audits and
to assist the Board in fuffilling its responsibilities by providing independent view and

supervision of financial reporting.
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The Board is of the opinion that the members of the Audit Committee have sufficient
accounting and financial management expertise or experience to discharge their duties.

The principal functions of the Audit Committee include:

. to make recommendations on the appointment, reappointment and removal of

external auditor and to approve the remuneration and terms of such appointments;

. to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and objectivity;

. to develop and implement policies on the engagement of external auditor for non-

audit services;

. to monitor the integrity of the financial statements, annual and interim reports and
the auditor’s report to ensure that the information presents a true and balanced

assessment of the Group's financial position;

. to review the Group's financial and accounting policies and practices;

. to oversee the Group's financial reporting system, risk management and internal

control systems;

. to ensure the management has fulfilled its duty to maintain an effective internal

control system; and

. to review the external auditor's management letter and any questions raised by the

auditor to the management and the management's response.

Two meetings were held by the Audit Committee during the year ended 31 December
2021. The Audit Committee reviewed, together with the management and the external
auditors, the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021,
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and statutory compliance.
In addition to reviewing the Group's risk management and internal control systems and
the effectiveness of the internal audit function, the Audit Committee also reviewed the
independence of the external auditors and approved the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditors. Details of attendance of Audit Committee meetings
of each of the members of the Audit Committee are set out in “Attendance of Individual

Directors at Meetings” below.
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ATTENDANCE OF INDIVIDUAL DIRECTORS AT MEETINGS

The Code Provision stipulates that the board should meet regularly for at least 4 times
a year at approximately quarterly intervals. The attendance of individual Directors
at meetings of the Board, the Remuneration Committee, the Audit Committee, the
Nomination Committee, the annual general meeting during the year ended 3| December

2021, respectively, is set forth in the table below:

EESHESEER
CEERTANTARIRETESSATH
BITEH BFEED4R NBEE-R-H
Emmiuﬂmatiﬁ’ﬂ%$ﬁﬁ§$
g FMEES BREEQ REEEQ
FRRBERGERBERDANENTE :

Meetings attended/Meetings held

HREEHEER BTHER

Remuneration

Board Committee

Name of Director EEfS EZg HHzas
Hu Xiang e 4/4 N/A

N
Liao Dong (Note 1) BR (M) 414 N/A

TiEm
Qu Degjan B 4/4 /1
Li Tianshu FREF 4/4 11
Zhang Han M 444 /1
Ge Xiaojing BEE 4/4 /1

(Note 1): On 5 November 2021, the board of directors approved the resignation of Mr. Liao Dong from

executive director with effect from 5 November 2021.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

Pursuant to A.6.5 of the Corporate Governance Code, all Directors should participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
The Directors are regularly briefed on the amendments to or updates on the relevant
laws, rules and regulations. From time to time, Directors are provided with written
materials to develop and refresh their professional skills. The Directors had fulfilled the
relevant requirements under A.6.5 of the Corporate Governance Code during the year
ended 3| December 2021.

COMPANY SECRETARY’S TRAINING

Pursuant to rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, the Company Secretary must take no less than
I'5 hours of relevant professional training in each financial year. The Company Secretary
is Mr. Lau Wing and has taken more than |5 hours of relevant professional development

during the year ended 31 December 2021.

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE AND EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company (“Articles”), without prejudice to
and in addition to complying with the applicable requirements set forth in the Listing Rules
and other applicable laws and regulations, the Company has since 17 December 2009,
the date on which its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange adopted a stringent system
to avoid potential conflict of interests respecting transactions (“Relevant Transactions”) in
which any Directors are interested in, and transactions with any of our connected persons
(as defined under the Listing Rules) or any company in which the controlling shareholder
(as defined under the Listing Rules) of the Company or its shareholders, individually
or collectively, owns a direct or indirect equity interest of 10% or above (including
transactions with ZTE Corporation and Shenzhen Zhongxingxindi Technologies Co., Ltd.)

("Relevant Companies”), as follows:

(1) Any Relevant Transactions be approved by way of a resolution passed by a majority
of the non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors, provided
that any non-executive Director or independent non-executive Director interested
in the transactions in question will declare his or her interest and will abstain from

voting on such matters;

(2)  Any Director has a conflict of interest will not participate or be involved in matters

relating to the Relevant Transactions;
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(3)  An executive committee (the “Executive Committee”) comprising the chief financial
officer and the deputy financial officer of the Company has been established to
monitor, review and manage all Relevant Transactions, and to prepare semi-annual
report in relation to the execution of the Relevant Transactions (“Semi-annual

Report") for the supervisory committee’s (the “Supervisory Committee”) review;

(4)  The Supervisory Committee comprising three independent non-executive
Directors (each of whom shall not have any interest in any transaction under
consideration by the Supervisory Committee and shall not be in a position of
conflict of interest when acting in such capacity) has been set up, among other
things, to supervise the Executive Committee, review and approve the terms and
conditions of continuing connected transactions and Relevant Transactions, devise
and review rules and guidelines for the Executive Committee to follow, review
Semi-annual Report from the Executive Committee, report its findings to the Board
and give recommendations to the Board to ensure that the Relevant Transactions
will be entered into in the interest of the Company and its shareholders as a whole;

and

(5)  The Board will disclose the decisions, findings and recommendations on the
transactions reviewed by the Executive Committee and the Supervisory Committee

in the Company's interim and annual reports.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, two meetings were held by the Supervisory
Committee to review the report on Relevant Transactions in respect of the sales and
purchase entered into by the Group with the Relevant Companies prepared by the
Executive Committee. As reported by the Supervisory Committee, (i) it had reviewed
and approved the master agreements entered into by the Group and the Relevant
Companies and considered the terms and conditions therein were fair and reasonable; (ii)
it had reviewed the supplier procurement bidding documents and internal procurement
procedures of the Group; (iii) it had devised and reviewed rules and guidelines for
Executive Committee and the Executive Committee had followed accordingly; and (iv)
it had reviewed the report submitted by the Executive Committee. The Supervisory
Committee considered Relevant Transactions conducted during the review period were
in line with the respective master agreements and the intemnal procedures of the Group,
were on fair and normal commercial terms and there was no other matter that needs to

be brought to the attention of the Board and shareholders of the Company.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, Certified Public Accountants, the external auditors of the
Company, were responsible for providing services in connection with the audit of the

financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021.

For the year ended 3| December 2021, the total remuneration in respect of audit services
provided by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu for the Group amounted to approximately
RMB .97 million.

The Audit Committee recommended to the Board (which endorsed the view) that,
subject to shareholders' approval at the forthcoming AGM, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu be
re-appointed as the external auditors of the Company for 2022.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board aims to present a comprehensive, balanced and understandable assessment
of the Group's performance, position and prospects. The management provides such
explanations and information to enable the Board to make an informed assessment of the

matters put before the Board for approval.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the financial statements of
the Group and for ensuring that the financial statements are prepared in accordance with

applicable statutory requirements and accounting standards.

The Group has announced its annual results in a timely manner within the limits of three

months after the end of the financial period, as laid down in the Listing Rules.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
The main objectives of the Group's risk management and internal control systems are
to provide a clear governance structure, policies and procedures, as well as reporting

mechanism to facilitate the Group in managing risks across its business operations.

The Group has established a risk management framework, which consists of the Board
of Directors, the Audit Committee and the Risk Management Taskforce. The Board of
Directors determines the nature and extent of risks that shall be taken in achieving the
Group's strategic objectives, and has overall responsibility for monitoring the design,
implementation and effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal control

systems.
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The Group has formulated and adopted a Risk Management Policy for providing direction
in identifying, evaluating and managing significant risks on at least an annual basis, the Risk
Management Taskforce identifies risks that would adversely affect the achievement of the
Group's objectives, and assesses and prioritizes the identified risks according to a set of
standard criteria. Risk mitigation plans are established and risk owners are then assigned

for the management of those risks considered to be significant.

In addition, the Group has established an internal audit function to assist the Board of
Directors and the Audit Committee with ongoing monitoring of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group. Deficiencies in the design and implementation of
interal controls are identified and recommendations are proposed for their remediation.
Significant internal control deficiencies are reported to the Audit Committee and the

Board of Directors on a timely basis to ensure that they are promptly addressed.

Risk management and internal control reports are submitted to the Audit Committee and
the Board of Directors at least once a year. The Board of Directors performs an annual
review of the effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal control systems
including, but not limited to, changes in the nature and extent of significant risks after
the review in the prior year, the Group's ability to cope with its business transformation
and changing external environment; the scope and quality of the management’s ongoing
monitoring of risks and internal control systems; results of internal audit work; the extent
and frequency of communication of the results of monitoring of risk management and
internal control systems to the Board of Directors; significant failures or weaknesses
identified and their related implications; and the effectiveness of the Group's processes for
financial reporting and Listing Rules compliance. Following its review for the year ended
31 December 2021, the Board of Directors considers the Group's risk management and

internal control systems are effective.

The risk management and interal control systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable

and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS FOR THE HANDLING AND
DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Board has established an Inside Information Policy for the handling and dissemination
of Inside Information. The Group complies with requirements of the Securities & Futures
Ordinance (“SFO™) and the Listing Rules. It discloses inside information to the public as
soon as reasonably practicable unless the information falls within any of the Safe Harbours,
as provided in the SFO. Before information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group
ensures that it is kept strictly confidential. If the Group believes that the necessary degree
of confidentiality cannot be maintained or that confidentiality may have been breached,
the Group would immediately disclose the information to the public. The Group is
committed to ensuring that information contained in announcements is not false or
misleading as to material fact, or omission of material fact, and to presenting information in
a clear and balanced way, including through equal disclosure of both positive and negative

information.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
As one of the measures to safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, separate
resolutions are proposed at general meetings on each substantial issue, including the

election of individual Directors for shareholders’ consideration and voting.

Resolutions put forward at our shareholders” meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant
to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites of our Company and of

the Stock Exchange after each shareholders” meeting,
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Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting by Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 79 of our Company's Articles of Association, an extraordinary
general meeting shall also be convened on the written requisition of any two
or more members of the Company deposited at the principal office of the
Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such a
principal office, the registered office specifying the objects of the meeting and
signed by the requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists held as at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company.
An extraordinary general meeting may also be convened on the written requisition
of any one member of the Company which is a recognised clearing house (or its
nominee(s)) deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in
the event the Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered office
specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionist, provided
that such requisitionist held as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company. If the Board does not within 21 days
from the date of deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting
to be held within a further 30 Days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of
them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them,
may convene an extraordinary general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as
possible, as that in which meetings may be convened by the Board provided that
any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months
from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to

them by the Company.
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(i)  Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Shareholders who wish to put forward proposals at general meetings may
achieve so by means of convening an extraordinary general meeting following the

procedures set out in paragraph (i) above.

As regards the procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as a

Director, they are available on our Company's website (www.mobi-antenna.com).

(i)  Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, shareholders may send written
enquires to our Company by addressing them to the Company Secretary by mail at

Unit A, 25/F, One Island South, 2 Heung Yip Road, Wong Chuk Hang, Hong Kong.

INVESTOR RELATIONS
During the year ended 31 December 2021, there has not been any change in the

Company's constitutional documents.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Group establishes and maintains different communication channels with its
shareholders through the publication of annual and interim reports, information of the
Stock Exchange, a corporate website, and general and investor meetings. The Group is
going to report to its shareholders twice a year and maintains a regular dialogue with

investors.

The annual general meeting provides a useful forum for shareholders to exchange
views with the Board. Separate resolutions are proposed at general meetings on each

substantially separate issue, including the election of Directors.
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CORPORATE PROFILE OF MOBI L AR

MOBI Development Co., Ltd. (the “Company") was incorporated in the Cayman Islands EtbERBER AT ([ARAF])HR2002F12A

as an exempted company with limited liability on 16 December 2002. The shares of the 6B ERESHSHAMK U ABRREREL

Company were listed on Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited (the “HKEX") on |7 DA e ARARMR2009F 12 17RERE

December 2009 (Stock Code: 947). RGREEMERAB ([BBRZF]) £H
(BADHLSE @ 947)

We are one of the few one-stop providers of wireless communication antennas and base AR ATRIOEN— R BEGRERER
station Radio Frequency (“RF") subsystems in China. Our business consists of the design, HubetsE ([888 ) FEGHER 2 — o &
manufacture, marketing and sale of antennas, base station RF subsystems and solutions NEIMEROER & ZHENEeE
that are the required components of mobile communication coverage systems, including, Kig - B MFREGHBRIR %%
wireless access systems (WiFi and PHS), 2G (GSM and CDMA), 3G (TD-SCDMA, ELEVEBEEERASNNERHE - B
CDMA2000, W-CDMA and WiMax), 4G (TD-LTE and FDD-LTE), 5G, MIMO antennas, FEEIGE ARG (WIFIFIPHS) » 2G (GSME
satellite communication and microwave transmission networks. CDMA) * 3G (TD-SCDMA * CDMA2000
W-CDMARMWiMax) * 4G(TD-LTERFDD-
LTE) ~ 5G * MIMORAR ~ B 2 BIEMA RIUK
B -
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We sell our products to network operators in China and overseas directly for deployment
into the networks they are constructing and operating. We also sell our products to some
of the world's leading wireless network solution providers who incorporate our products
into their wireless coverage solutions, such as their proprietary base stations, which they

then sell to network operators worldwide.

The Company relies on scientific management and a people-oriented corporate
culture in pursuing “dedication, devotion, pragmatism and pioneership”. We deem it
our responsibility to provide our employees with an ideal working environment and
development opportunities so that they can exert their full potential. Through scientific
management, we aim to create a good working atmosphere for employees while providing
reasonable incentives to promote their healthy growth. It is our relentless pursuit to satisfy

customers, employees, investors and the whole community.

The Company adheres to the principle of sustainable development and lays great
emphasis on environmental protection throughout its entire product life cycle in the
course of its business operations, from product design and development, procurement of
parts and components, manufacturing to product delivery. Through systematic planning
and operation, we ensure that the impact on the environment is minimized, and that the
use of resources is efficient from the source so as to reduce resource consumption and

achieve energy conservation.

In terms of the establishment of its management system, the Company passed the
ISO9001 Quality Management Systems Certification, TL9000 Information Communication
Technology (ICT) Quality Management System Certification, ISO 14001 Environmental
Management System Certification, 1SO45001 Occupational Health and Safety
Management System Certification and ESDS20.20 ESD Protection Management System
Certification. It made efforts in Electronics Industry Citizenship Coalition (EICC), social
responsibility management, risk management, carbon emission, conflict minerals and
corporate governance by setting up and strictly complying with corresponding policies and

standards, thereby achieving substantial results.

We are committed to providing quality and sophisticated products and building long-term

partnerships with our customers.
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COMPANY VISION

“Becoming a global leading provider of RF technology for mobile communications.”

CORPORATE MISSION

“Explore and walk on the path to survival and development of the Company with
collective intelligence from employees; continuously bring management and technology
innovation into practice; and develop MOBI into a global leading provider of RF

technology for mobile communications.”

CORE VALUES OF THE COMPANY
“Accountability, devotion, diligence and efficiency, team-spirit, care for people, mutual

respect.”

HUMAN RESOURCES DEVELOPMENT PHILOSOPHY OF THE COMPANY
“Human resources is the core to the sustainable rapid development of the Company, we
pay close attention to the performance and remuneration of the employees, as well as

their development.”

TABLE OF CONTENTS
About this Report
Environmental/Occupational Health and Safety Policy of MOBI
General Rules on Corporate Social Responsibility of MOBI
Devotion to Environmental Protection
Emissions
Use of Resources
Environment and Natural Resources
Conflict Minerals
Establishment of a Team of Excellence
Staff Employment
Health and Safety
Development and Training
Labor Standards
Staff Activities
Responsible Supply Chain and Product Liability Management
Supply Chain Management
Product Liability
Compliance in Operation
Compliance with Laws and Regulations
Anti-corruption
Community Involvement

Charity Activities
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Pursuant to the requirements set out in the ESG Reporting Guidelines (“ESG Guidelines"),
Appendix 27 of the Main Board Listing Rules of the HKEx, the Company is pleased to
publish this report on the environmental, social and governance aspects for the disclosure
on the relevant information (this “Report”). This Report covers the period from | January
2021 to 31 December 2021 (the “Reporting Period"). This Report mainly covers the
performance of MOBI Development's subsidiaries in three places of operation (Shenzhen,
Guangdong; Xi'an, Shaanxi, and Ji'an, Jiangxi) with respect to environmental, social and

governance.

The Board of Directors of the Company assumes full responsibility for the overall
environmental, social and governance strategy and reporting of the Company, and has
established a corporate social responsibility governance structure. The Board is responsible
for assessing, determining and prioritizing the issuers’ risks in relation to environment,
society and governance (including risks to the Company's businesses) and for ensuring that
the Company establishes appropriate and effective environmental, social and govermance
risk management and intermnal control systems, while the management is responsible for
monitoring and managing the risks associated with environment, society and governance
and the effectiveness of the management system. The management personnel will be
responsible for checking the information disclosed in this Report, while the Board of the
Company will be responsible for review and approval thereof. The Board has authorized
the environmental, social and governance working group to carry out the day-to-day work
in relation to corporate governance and corporate social responsibility. The responsibilities
of the working group include conducting internal and external materiality assessments,
implementing the strategies and policies of the Board, preparing environmental, social and
governance reports, and collecting and monitoring information and data related to daily

corporate social responsibilities.
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The board of directors (the “Board") of the Company assumes the overall responsibility
on the Company's management tactics and reports on ESG as well as for the identification,
assessment and determination of the Company's risks concerning ESG and ESG target
progression. The Board ensures that the Company has established a proper and effective
system of ESG risk management and internal control. In addition to providing supervision
and guidance, the Board regularly listens to management teams' reports on production
safety, operation and management, internal control, corporate social responsibility and
ESG target. The Board assesses and ranks risk hierarchies, taking consideration of, among
others, the impacts on our corporate strategies, policies, procedures and commitment,
impacts on the Company's competitive edges and management excellence, and current

and future financial impacts on the Company.

The Company has established an internal audit department and will also engage a third
party to carry out an independent assessment of risk and internal monitoring systems
every year to provide improvement suggestions on risk management and internal control
as required. The management personnel will be responsible for checking the information
disclosed in this Report, while the Board of the Company will be responsible for review

and approval thereof.

The Company conducts business activities in a responsible and sustainable manner
to create value for employees, customers and shareholders, as well as to fulfill its
commitment to the environment and society. We understand deeply that exhaust
gases and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land and generation of
waste can adversely affect the environment and we understand the scarcity of natural
resources. Therefore, the Company will persist in adopting appropriate measures to
achieve sustainable development during its business operation. We are convinced that
sustainability in business is not just window dressing, but is essential to the development of
the Company. By adopting sustainable development practices, we will gain a competitive
edge, increase our market share and bring value to our shareholders in the long run. On
top of that, we will keep a focus on social responsibility and continue to take practical

actions for the benefit of the community.
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This Report has been prepared in accordance with four reporting principles in the ESG

Guidelines, namely “quantitative”, “consistency”, “materiality” and "balance”.

“Quantitative”: The Company has established internal guidelines and procedures,
by reference to industry practices, guidelines of exchanges or relevant government
departments, laws and regulations, and has collected environmental performance data
from various business departments and kept records from relevant monitoring instruments

or supporting documents.

“Consistency”: The statistical method for the data and contents disclosed in the report
is the same as that for the previous year, and the same statistical and conversion
methods have been used. Relevant historical data have been disclosed in the report to
give stakeholders a clearer understanding and comparison of the Company's sustainable

development performance.

“Materiality”: In defining material ESG issues related to the Company’s business and
stakeholders, we maintain communication with internal and external stakeholders
of the Group to understand their expectations and suggestions. We maintain close
communication with all stakeholders, including employees, investors, customers, suppliers,
local government agencies and local organizations, whether they are affected by or have a

significant impact on our operating business.

“Balance: This Report presents the Company’s environmental, social and governance

performance in an impartial manner.
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RIR - HERERKRE

The Company understands the importance of the stakeholders' participation in achieving
its sustainable development, so the Company persists in communicating with relevant
internal and external stakeholders regularly to know about their opinions on the
Company's business development, environmental, social and governance aspects, and to
help us satisfy the stakeholders” expectations. The Company's key stakeholders and the

communication methods with them are as follows:

Stakeholders Communication Methods
BKiE BRI
Investors and shareholders *  Website of the Group
REERRR o KEBU

®  Shareholders meeting

o ERKE
Employees *  Website of the Group
BT o KEM

d Internal email

. ABEH

° Employees training

o« BT
Customers *  Website of the Group
EF o  KE®

° Customer hotline

.  EPRE

Suppliers *  Website of the Group
HrEm o KEB

. Business meeting
\ .
° S

° Performance evaluation

. REM
Government and regulatory authorities o Public consultation
BREEEHE s  RTHEH

. Email

. wF
Media and the public *  Website of the Group
BEIAR o  KEBU
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®  Annual and interim reports
o  FHRETHES

®  Announcement
SN

. Employees activities

s BIEH

o Enterprise WeChat

o BERME

®  Performance evaluation

o TEREMZ

° Questionnaire survey
e  [MEHE

° Questionnaire survey
o  MBHHE
° Plant visit

s BREEE

o Evaluation report

o FHXHE

° Press release

o ¥R



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

The management of the Group regularly reviews the operation of its various departments,
identifies relevant environmental, social and governance issues, consults and synthesizes
the results of stakeholders’ participation and assesses the significance of these issues to
our business and our stakeholders. We will disclose in this Report the environmental,

social and governance issues we deem to be most material. Our environmental, social

Rz #HERERES

ASKEEEETEHRS S BPIEFEERNLE
FIMBRE  HERELAEE  2ENERE
BEFHE2EBENER  LHEABE
EHRMOEBARSHNENERYE - &
HAABRNERE HekERadBRER

and governance working group has verified and confirmed the major environmental, social

and governance issues and their correlation with the key performance indicators of the

ABEF o HAIMERE G
HERERERIBEARE HEkER

AT

B /A

corresponding ESG Guidelines. The materiality assessment results are shown as follows: HENMRFEEERTALRIEE HENE

° Emissions

LI 5767
° Use of Resources
o  EBREMH

*  Staff Employment

« EBIRER

i Health and Safety

s REEZRE

®  Development and Training
o BRI

®  labor Standards

o STER

*  Compliance with Laws and Regulations

o ETERIER

RIESINBERENERNEE - B2

RBRBEIT -

Important Issues
EEEE
Environmental
B
o Environment and Natural Resources
o RIRNRABR
o Conflict Minerals

o BHRBE

Social

He
. Employees Activities
« BIEH

®  Supply Chain Management
o fERER

o Product Liability

° EmAL

*  Community Involvement
s HEZE

Governance
R
*  Anti-corruption

s XES

ELERERLA
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RiIR HERERES

Based on the mateniality assessment results, this Report serves to provide an overview
of our sustainable development principles, policies and actual practices under five topics,
namely Devotion to Environmental Protection, Establishment of a Team of Excellence,
Responsible Supply Chain and Product Liability Management, Compliance in Operations

and Community Involvement and Visit and Guidance of Officials of the Government.

ENVIRONMENTAL/OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY POLICY OF
MOBI

We are committed to: conducting our business activities in a manner that takes
responsibility for the environment and the health and safety of our staff, fulfilling our
responsibilities in protecting the environment and promoting the health and safety of our

staff, in order to provide more competitive products and services to our customers.

To this end, we have developed a clear environmental/occupational health and safety

management policy, requiring us to:

Maintain precautions for strengthening risk management;

Comply with environmental and safety regulations, raise the awareness of all parties;
Advocate green operations, step up emissions reduction;

Emphasize pollution prevention, perform environmental and safety commitments;

Pay attention to employee health, ensure safe production;

Create environmental and safety culture, support consultation and participation;
Optimize environmental and safety performance, encourage continuous improvement;

Collaborate with all stakeholders, achieve synergies and progress.

Details of the environmental/occupational health and safety management policy are as

follows:

> Adhere to the ideology of maintaining precautions in the first place, establish,
implement and maintain a documented EHS (“EHS") management system, to
achieve systematic and standardized management, incorporate risk management
into our normal operations and business activities, and strengthen the identification,
assessment and control of sources of danger and environmental risk factors
of occupational health and safety, emphasize the identification and analysis of
and response to risks and opportunities in our management system, and plan

countermeasures;
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Comply with international agreements, laws and regulations and environmental and
health and safety requirements of relevant parties, continue to provide education
and training on the environment and health and safety, enhance the awareness,
knowledge and skills of employees in terms of the environment and health and

safety, to enhance the initiatives of all employees in taking part;

Promote the philosophy of green operations, adhere to the sustainable
development strategy, and incorporate it into the entire life cycle of products and
services; consider and pay attention to the potential impacts on the environment
in the early stage of the life cycle of products and services; taking into account
the whole life cycle of product, and adopting concrete measures in all aspects to
prevent harm to the environment, reduce energy and resource consumption, and

strive for environmental affinity;

Emphasize and raise the awareness of pollution prevention, and take prior
control measures to avoid pollution prevention; meantime, attach significance to
the sustainable use of resources, mitigate and adapt to the climate change, and
protect biodiversity and ecosystem, performing our commitment to environmental
protection. MOBI is also committed to eliminating sources of danger, and takes all

feasible measures to reduce occupational health and safety risks;

Put the occupational health and safety of our staff in the first place to ensure that all
business activities strictly comply with respective working procedures and policies,
so as to create a healthy and safe working environment for our employees with a

pursuit of zero injuries and zero accidents;
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RIR - HERERKRE

> The Company strives to create and advocate a culture of protecting environment,
saving resources, preventing pollution and paying attention to safety that supports
the environment and occupational health and safety management system to
achieve expected results. We have established and improved the Health and
Safety Committee and ensured its exercise of functions. We have also set and
implemented a mechanism and process for staff consultation and participation
to ensure that our staff can actively participate in occupational health and safety
activities, provide consultative suggestions and opinions and participate in process
of the decision-making, thereby ensuring that our employees at all levels are fully
communicated with the effective occupational health and safety management and

the importance to meet its requirements;

> Continuously optimize environmental and health and safety management system
performance, persevere in developing new technologies, processes, approaches and
products that are beneficial to the environment and the health and safety of our

employees, and always search for “better solutions’;

> We advocate the concept of EHS, and incorporate related requirements into our
supply chain management activities, to improve performance with our suppliers,
contractors, and subcontractors from the perspective of the overall supply chain,
with a pursuit of a harmonious balance between corporate development, social
responsibility and the health and safety of our employees, promoting common

progress.

Safe production is a core value of the Company. It is the Company's basic responsibility
to prevent casualties and fatalities of our employees and to create a safe and healthy
working environment. The Company strives to become an outstanding organization with
continuous improvement and long-term development. In developing the Company's
strategic objectives, action decisions and in conducting daily operations, the Company will

consider factors such as economy, environment, health, safety and social responsibility.

All of our management personnel are the medium to promote our priorities in the
environment, health and safety, and the exponent for putting such ideas into practice. All
employees are required to comply with the Company's safety regulations and policies.
Employees are the Company's most essential wealth and each employee's contribution
to the Company is unique and value-adding. The Company encourages, recognizes and
rewards employees for their active contributions to the Company's environmental, safety

and health performance.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

GENERAL RULES ON CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY OF MOBI
The Company manages its social responsibility and commitment within the scope of
its control and influence, and ensures that the management systems and regulations

it formulates comply with national laws and regulations and internationally recognized

SAB000 ethical standards.

This includes the principles of the following international agreements and relevant
national laws, regulations and policies: International Labor Organization Convention 29
and Convention 05 (forced labor and debt-bondage), Intemational Labor Organization
Convention 87 (freedom of association), International Labor Organization Convention 98
(right to organize and collective bargaining), Intemational Labor Organization Convention
100 and Convention || (equal remuneration and discrimination), International Labor
Organization Convention 135 (workers' representatives), International Labor Organization
Convention 138 and Recommendation 146 (minimum age and recommendations),
International Labor Organization Convention 155 and Recommendation 164 (occupational
safety and health), International Labor Organization Convention 159 (vocational
rehabilitation and employment), International Labor Organization Convention |77 (home
work), The United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child under The Universal

Declaration of Human Rights etc.

The Company hires, manages and assigns employees in accordance with the requirements
under relevant laws and regulations, including the Labor Law of the PRC, the Labor
Contract Law of the PRC, the Social Insurance Law of the PRC, the Employment
Promotion Law of the PRC, the Implementation Regulations of the Labor Contract Law
of the PRC, the Special Rules on Labor Protection of Female Employees, the Provisions
on the Prohibition of Using Child Labor (Order No. 364 of the State Council), Regulatory
Standards for Penalties Against the Employment of Child Labor (Ministry of Labor, MOF
Document, Laolizi (1992) 27), Regulations on the Special Protection of the Minority
Workers and Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the PRC to pay the salaries of employees at
standards higher than local minimum wages and complies with the provisions of the Labor
Law on working hours, overtime compensation and remuneration. We strictly prohibit the

recruitment of child labor.

The Company promises not to use any form of forced labor or involuntary labor, and
signs an employment contract with the employee’s consent and full understanding of
the terms, and will not require any employee to pay any “deposit” or deposit identity

documents at the beginning of employment.
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The Company has appointed the executive vice president of the senior management team
to take full responsibility for the health and safety of all employees, and the Group and its
subsidiaries has formed Safety Production Committee which is responsible for ensuring
and achieving safe production on the part of the Company. The Company has established
an occupational health and safety management mechanism to effectively identify sources
of danger and to reduce and prevent potential threats to employees’ health and safety

through hazard assessment, preventive measures and related emergency mechanisms.

The Company is committed to providing a safe, clean, healthy and productive working
environment for all employees by providing drinking water, medical and sanitation facilities,
fire safety and proper ventilation conditions. The Company will also take necessary
measures on its own initiative to minimize possible hazards in the workplace when
possible in order to avoid work-related accidents and health hazards. The Company
regularly focuses on reviewing health and safety conditions in the workplace, canteens and

dormitories, and makes constant improvements based on issues identified.

The Company provides training for all employees on health and safety, energy
conservation, environmental protection and various management systems and standards.
In addition, it also provides induction training for new staff, and retraining for transferring

staff.

The Company has formed a trade union which helps its members to safeguard their
legitimate rights and interests, encourages regular communications between employees
and the Company, and assists with solving any special difficulties they have. The Company
respects the freedom of all employees to participate in the trade union, and collective

bargaining as well as their freedom of association.

The Company is strictly prohibited from engaging in or supporting matters based on
race, ethnicity, social hierarchy, nationality, religion, physical disability, gender, age, sexual
orientation, trade union membership or political discrimination in matters relating to the
appointment, remuneration, welfare, training opportunities, promotion, discipline, dismissal

or retirement.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

The Company fully respects the personal religious beliefs and ethnic customs of
employees. We prohibit any personal discrimination and infringement of rights. The
Company does not interfere with the rights of employees to observe their religious beliefs

and customs.

The Company undertakes to respect and treat every employee impartially. It prohibits
compulsive, abusive or exploitative acts of intrusion in the form of gesture, language and
physical contact. The Company also prohibits the engagement or support of corporal

punishment, mental or physical persecution and verbal humiliation.

The Company actively takes measures against extortion and bribery or any form of

corruption, advocates fair and orderly competition and prohibits unfair competition.

In assessing and shortlisting suppliers, the Company considers the ability of suppliers to
meet the requirements of this policy and prioritizes them who have the ability to meet the

requirements.

If necessary, the Company may provide information to stakeholders and communicate
with them on, including but not limited to, the results of its management reviews and
audits. The Company may provide stakeholders with reasonable information and access
to information for them to determine whether the Company fulfills its social responsibility
and ethical commitments. If there is any doubt as to whether the Company fulfills its
obligation on social responsibility and ethical commitments, the Company will conduct
timely investigations before handling and responding to related enquiries. If any employee
presents a question as to whether the Company complies with the requirements of this
provision, the Company will not penalize, dismiss or discriminate against the employee
for it. If any violation of corporate social responsibility and ethical commitments is found,
the Company will take appropriate remedial measures and correctible actions against in

accordance with the severity of its nature.
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The Company engages third parties to conduct annual tracking and auditing of the
relevant management system to ensure that it complies with relevant management
system requirements and standards. In recent years, the Company has also received
more surveys on the EHS, carbon emissions, conflict minerals from key customers,
to which the Company has given positive response. During the Reporting Period, the
Company has not received any complaints and penalties from government, third parties
and customers in these respects. In order to listen to all different opinions, the Group
has a reporting mechanism, employee suggestion boxes and conducts regular opinion
surveys, so that employees can report suspected misconduct, fraud, improper, fraud-
related or safety-related issues without fear of retaliation. Our reporting mechanism and
interal procedures ensure that the Group will make its best efforts to act confidentially
and prudently, without the divulgence of the identity of the reporters and contents of the

reports.

DEVOTION TO ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Company persists in operating its business in an environmentally responsible manner
and adheres to the concept of sustainable development by taking various measures to
reduce the environmental impact arising from its production and business activities with
an aim of achieving harmonious coexistence with the society, the environment and its
stakeholders. The concepts of innovation and environmental consciousness have also been
infiltrated into our entire product life cycle and all business processes from research and
development, production, logistics to customer service. We spare no effort in reducing

energy consumption, resource consumption and carbon dioxide emissions.

The Company has been monitoring and managing our emissions for many years. In recent
years, we have also begun to monitor greenhouse gas emissions and energy consumption.
We hope to strike a balance between business growth and environmental protection by
improving our business operations and practice, and encouraging employees to work in an

environmentally responsible manner in the workplace.

The Company complies with the EU RoHS and China RoHS-related Directive. We
conduct comprehensive management of hazardous substances from product design,
procurement, production and delivery, to avoid the use of prohibited substances, and
to ensure that the volume of restricted substances is within relevant restricted ranges.
The Company also provides declarations of hazardous substances and the content
of substances for customers that require them. Where necessary, the Company may
also provide inspection reports from third parties on the composition of substances to

customers as required.
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The Company complies with the EU WEEE Directive and adopts ecological design
concept in the product design stage with full consideration of recyclability of products,
generalized design and the most economical design principle, to satisfy the recovery rate
and the recycling rate of products and to minimize the environmental impact on the

product life cycle from the source.

In general, the Company's production process and business nature enable low-emission,
low-energy consumption and low pollutant generation. We are committed to operating
our entire business in compliance with relevant environmental protection laws and
regulations. During the Reporting Period, the Company did not violate any relevant
environmental protection laws and regulations and was not subject to any related penalty

either.

EMISSIONS

The Company focuses on the waste management arising from its operating process.

The Company mainly adopts mechanical processing, assembly and testing for its
production and does not discharge industrial wastewater. The Company's domestic
wastewater mainly comes from the drainage of office washrooms and water from
its kitchen. There is no discharge of toxic, hazardous or special substances. For oily
wastewater produced from cleaning canteen kitchens, solid waste is first filtered through
cleaning tank filters. Preliminary fittered kitchen wastewater will flow towards a three-stage
grease trap, where major pollutants are removed during grease treatment before being
discharged into the municipal sewage pipe network. Toilet sewage will go through septic
tank treatment in the industrial area, and will be discharged through the local municipal

sewage pipe network.

Industrial air emissions arising from the production process of the Company mainly come
from residual lead-free solder exhaust, which is collected from exhaust gas collection
devices installed in the workshops and led to the top floor of the workshops through
pipelines to achieve high-altitude emissions. Meanwhile, we continue to improve the
ventilation of our workshops. The emission of exhaust gases after treatment meets the
“Air Pollutant Emission Limit" standards and produces little impact on the surrounding

environment.
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The noise sources of the Company include certain production equipment, such as the
CNC punch press, stamping equipment, die-casting equipment, air conditioning units, air
compressors, cooling towers, fans, pumps and other ancillary power equipment. With
machine layout of the workshops and routine regular equipment maintenance, the noise
generated in the production process meets the “Standard of Boundary Noise of Industrial

Enterprise” and has limited impact on the surrounding environment.

The solid waste produced by the Company includes general industrial solid waste,
domestic waste and a small amount of hazardous waste. Among these, the general
industrial solid waste mainly comprises of production packaging materials, metal scrap,
lead-free slag and plastic scrap, which are sold to relevant external parties after collection
by category, for recycling treatment. Domestic waste is handled by environmental and
health departments after collection by category. Residual hazardous waste produced
during the production process mainly comprises of oily rags, oily gloves and waste oil,
the volume of which falls below the minimum requirements for transport, and so they
are regularly delivered to external parties with relevant qualifications in hazardous waste

disposal for collective treatment.

In addition, through continuous improvement of our production process, including the
gradual shift to semi-automatic or fully automated production methods, the Company
strives to enhance production capacity and reduce labor input to increase production
efficiency, while improving staff training and management to improve operating
performance, consummating and standardizing the management system of the Company,
vigorously promoting clean production, and actively pursuing energy-saving measures by
using environmentally friendly materials and improving the utilization of raw materials.
We always use recyclable packaging materials to reduce pollutant emissions and achieve

advanced circular economic standard.
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Consumption of Packaging Materials
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2020 2021
Note: Antennas orders decreased, product shipments declined from 207,950 to 76,325, and packaging

materials decreased compared with 2020
The Company's statistics on waste in 2021 are as follows:
Industrial wastewater: none.

Domestic sewage: 183,569 tons, recording a decrease from 2020. In 2021, the
Company improved the pipeline network in the park, thus reducing leakage of
pipelines. We also urged employees to save water, resulting in a decrease of
domestic sewage in 2021. The company has not encountered any major problems

in obtaining suitable water sources.
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Lead-free solder exhaust: traces in compliance with regional environmental standard 2.

and without significant environmental impact.

Factory noise: in compliance with regional environmental standards.

General solid waste (recyclable): in 2021, the amount of general solid waste

(recyclable) was 83.45 tons, and the amount of waste per working hour was

3.37635E-05 tons, which was a trace amount. There was an increase in the

generation of solid waste (recyclable) as compared with 2020 due to the return to

stable production in 2021,

General Solid Waste (Recyclable) Output (Tons)
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Household waste: in 2021, the amount of household waste was 401.8 tons, and
the amount of waste per working hour was 0.000163E. Household waste increased
as compared with 2020, due to the production stabilization and no suspension of

production and work caused by the pandemic in 2021.
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Hazardous waste: There was an increase in hazardous waste output as a result of
a rise in the amount of scrap rubber as compared with 2020 due to the retum
to stable production in 2021. Based on the Company's average annual reduction
in hazardous waste generation, taking 2021 as the base year, the Company's

hazardous waste production per working hour will be reduced by 1% in 2022.
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The statistics about the Company's total greenhouse gas emissions in 2021 were as

follows:

AR

mT :

2021

2021 5

Carbon emissions
(carbon dioxide
(CO,) equivalent)

Volume per
working hour

A FEAERBEENENAER
2020
20204

Carbon emissions
(carbon dioxide
(CO,) equivalent)

Volume per
working hour

B E BUTHE B E BNTKE
(Z&{LiCo, (Z&{LixCo,
EE) EE)
Total greenhouse gas emissions (tons) 758858  0.0022/working hour 742539 0.0027/working hour
BERBAYINE () 00022/ Tk 00027,/ K
Scope | direct emissions — emissions from
vehicles, power generators and boilers (tons) 27296  0.0001/working hour 311,56 0.0001/working hour
BRI (RE) - 78  BERK
SREHER () 00001,/ TH 00001,/ L
Scope 2 Indirect emissions — emissions from
electricity (tons) 731562 0.0021/working hour 7,113.83  0.0026/working hour
It BE g (86E12) — B HER (W8) 00021,/ T 00026, LB
As the Company's greenhouse gas emissions mainly involve electricity and relevant energy, ~ RBARFEEREBHANTIBR P RERNA

there is a goal of reducing electricity consumption in 2021. On this basis, taking 2020 as HaeR - 2021 FEARERMDH T@%ﬂﬁ'\]
the base year, the electricity consumption per working hour in 202 | will be reduced by 1%. R 20205 2
5B

Meanwhile, for this purpose, the Company will make the following efforts: FHAE /NSRS VYA o
ZHmT

In daily production, the Company will reduce the energy and electricity I @ﬁi@i@jﬁ%‘*‘ ' @ifbi%é&ﬁaﬁlzﬁ
consumption of each production equipment by strengthening the daily maintenance E%%% ’ H{HXI%:—@&W Tﬁﬁt’ﬁ@g E5
of production equipment and carrying out optimization through technological 5 CBREELEEREERL HORE
measures, etc, =

2. The Company will carry out publicity for the employees” awareness of energy 2 %Iﬁﬁ@ﬁﬁéﬁ%? 58 H ﬁlflﬁﬁp
saving and consumption reduction, so that the employees will develop the habit of ERSHHATEE  MAAERRE
saving electricity in daily work, such as turning off the lights when people walk away, BOREEMESE °

thus reducing the electricity consumption.

Note |:Total working hours in 2021 were 2,311,589.035 hours. Al 2021 BT A2311,589.035/ N o
Note 2:The calculation of the above greenhouse gas emissions is based on the 2019 China Regional Grid 2 DERERE Efﬁ;%}ﬂﬁ’&qﬂﬁi}\ﬁ%ﬂi
Baseline Emission Factors announced by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the People's EREBAMZQIIFETRRIGEHELE
Republic of China. SHEREELD
Note 3:The total greenhouse gas emissions increased as compared with those 2020, the emissions per i3 55'155\& ’é‘%%@ﬁfﬁﬂl%@2020$f§ﬁiﬂﬂ ' ﬁﬁi%
working hour increased as compared with those 2020. For detailed analysis of reasons, please refer H%??FW%@ZO?O@‘\‘Eﬁiw o ARRREANITEH
to the following description on usage of energy resources. RTESERERERERHSA -
Total Greenhouse Gas Emissions (Tons) BERE AR (W)
7650 7,650
7600 7,588.58 7,600 7,588.58
7,550 7,550
7500 7,500
7450 742539 7450 742539
7400 7,400
7350 7,350
7300 7,300

2020 2021 20204 20214
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Greenhouse Gas Emissions per
Working Hour
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USE OF RESOURCES: ENERGY, WATER AND OTHER RAW MATERIALS

The main raw materials consumed in the Company's production are aluminum, copper,
steel, plastic, PCB boards and others. At the product level, we focus on the efficient use of
resources. In the product development stage, we conduct rigorous design and assessment
to assure product features and performance while using a variety of materials in the most
frugal manner by the use of environmentally friendly and recyclable or reusable materials.
This not only ensures that costs can be controlled, but also reduces the consumption of
resources. We promote clean production and strengthen equipment maintenance while

improving energy efficiency.

In our daily office operations, we advocate the concept of energy-saving. Through regular
self-examinations, inspection and reporting, we enhance the awareness and capability of
our staff in energy-saving and reducing emissions. Meanwhile, we advocate a paperless

office to reduce the use of paper, and always reuse waste paper, such as print and copy

paper.
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The Company attaches great importance to electricity saving, and promotes environmental
protection and energy conservation through the implementation of relevant policies and
measures, to achieve energy conservation and consumption reduction. For example,
we make full use of natural light when the weather is bright. We always choose energy-
saving products when purchasing lamps and electrical appliances. We switch off idle
lights, computers and electrical appliances. In summer, our air conditioning is generally
set at room temperature of above 26 degrees. We conduct timely maintenance of
air conditioners to ensure their good operation. In addition, we encourage the use of
telephone and video conferencing systems to reduce business travel. We also post some

energy-saving tips on our intranet to remind employees to practice energy-saving ideas.

In terms of water saving, water in the Company comes from the city water supply
system. It is mainly used as domestic water in our offices. Our production process does
not involve industrial water and therefore does not have a serious adverse impact on
rivers, lakes and underground water. We develop and refine water-saving management
system with the use of a water saving faucet, to ensure that the concept of water-saving is

implemented in practice.

Achieving the efficient use of resources not only requires a sound management system,
and implementation of relevant policies, but also the cooperation and support of staff.
The Company strives to create a corporate culture that treasures resources, enhances
employee awareness of environmental issues, and encourages employees to actively

participate in and fulfill our environmental commitments.
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The major energy and resources consumed by the Company in daily life are electricity, AARAEERNEERRNERAEN -
water, paper, natural gas, gasoline and diesel. The following table shows the use of energy 7K  #K 5k ~ RARM MR « TRIIR

resources for 202 and 2020: 2021 FEM2020F EREERERERBR -
2021 2020
2021 F 20205

Consumption Consumption
Energy Consumption Total Consumption  per working hour ~ Total Consumption ~ per working hour
RRH#E HHERE BAUTRERE HRERE BTN EHE
Electricity (KWh) 9,096,768.06 3.935/working hour 8,845,844.39  3.229/working hour
& (ThE) 3935/ T 3229/ Tk
Water (Tons) 193,256.35  0.084/working hour 248866.03  0.091/working hour
7K (1) 0084/ TFs 0091/ IH
Paper (Sheets) 3,053,880.00  1.321/working hour 371954300  1.3576/working hour
% () 1321,/ Ik 13576,/ T
Canteen liquefied gas (Litres) 16554.10  0.007/working hour 1333435 0.0049/working hour
RER(LR (1) 0007,/ TH 00049,/ T
Motor gasoline (Litres) 3691941 0.016/working hour 3651631 0.013/working hour
BATH () 0016/ TH 0013/ Ik
Motor and power generator diesel (Litres) 3684252 0.016/working hour 5283265  0.019/working hour
ERREERAEH (1) 0016/ TH 0019/ I

BEtkB#RAERAL2A
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Total Consumption of Energy

N 2020 W 2021
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0 T T T 0
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gas generator
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Among which,

I+ The total consumption of electricity and the consumption per working hour
in 2021 slightly increased over those in 2020, mainly because the electricity
consumption increased in 2021 due to the weakening impact of the pandemic
and the production stabilization; the consumption per working hour rose slightly
increased due to small change in the number of employees. For the purpose of
saving resources and protecting the environment, taking 2021 as the base year,
it is estimated that the electricity consumption of the Company per working
hour will be reduced by 1% in 2022. Meanwhile, the “target” reduction in the
total greenhouse gas emissions in 2022 is consistent with the target of electricity
consumption reduction in 2022.
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The total consumption of water and the consumption per working hour in 2021
slightly decreased over those in 2020, mainly because the Company improved
the pipeline network in the park in 2021, thus reducing leakage of pipelines. We
also urged employees to save water, resulting in a slight decrease in the total
consumption of water and the consumption per working hour in 2021. Based on
the Company's average annual reduction in water consumption, taking 2021 as the
base year, the Company's water consumption per working hour will be reduced by
196 in 2022.

The total consumption of papers and the consumption per working hour in 2021
decreased over those in 2020, mainly because the Company gradually promoted
online approval of documents, and employees' awareness of saving paper increased,
which led to a decrease in paper consumption and consumption per working hour.

The total consumption and the consumption per working hour of canteen liquefied
gas in 2021 slightly increased over those in 2020, mainly due to the increased
canteen liquefied gas consumption caused by the weakening impact of the
pandemic, the smooth recovery of production, and the increased employees dining
in canteens in 2021.

The total consumption of motor gasoline in 2021 was basically the same as that
in 2020, mainly because the three places strengthened management and control
of vehicles, optimized their vehicle dispatching to reduce the frequency of vehicle
usage.

The total consumption of diesel in 2021 declined as compared with 2020, and
the consumption per working hour was basically the same as that in 2020, mainly
because the consumption of diesel decreased as the transportation of antenna
goods declined due to the product structure adjustment, and employees” working
hours decreased. The two decline ratios were basically the same, resulting in the
consumption per working hour fluctuating little from last year.

The total working hours (2,311,589.03) in 2021 declined by 15.63% as compared
with the total working hours (2,739,749.07) in 2020, as a result of which the
total consumption of electricity, water, papers and canteen liquefied gas declined
slightly due to improved daily energy saving and consumption reduction, and the
consumption per working hour declined due to the decrease in the total working
hours.
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Shipments
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ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES
Based on the nature of the Company's main business, our business activities will not have
a significant impact on the environment and natural resources. However, the Company
will continue to enhance environmental protection to reduce any adverse effects on the
environment brought about by our business operations.

According to the environmental laws, regulations and relevant policies of the PRC,
including the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Environment Protection Tax Law of People's Republic of China, Law of the People's
Republic of China on Water Pollution Prevention and Control, Law of the People’s
Republic of China on Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution, Law of the
People's Republic of China on Prevention and Control of Noise Pollution, Law of the
People's Republic of China on Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by
Solid Wastes and the Energy Conservation Law of the People's Republic of China.
When carrying out project construction, the Company will assess the potential pollution
arising during the construction and production process, the feasibility of governance
measures, whether production processes and products are in line with clean production
requirements, and the impact of the actual discharge of pollutants on surrounding
environment. An Environmental Impact Assessment Report (“EIA Report”) will be
submitted to the environmental protection department in accordance with the laws and

regulations.

With regard to major climate changes which may occur and affect the Company, such
as typhoons, rainstorms and earthquakes, the Company has formulated the Emergency
Preparation and Response Control Procedure, and routinely prepares an annual
emergency response plan according to the requirements of the document. In case of any
major climate change, the Company carries out emergency treatment according to the

emergency response plan.
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CONFLICT MINERALS

Since the late 1990s, most of the minerals mining in the Democratic Republic of the
Congo and its neighboring countries and territories has contributed to local armed
conflicts, leading to long-term instability in the region and creating serious human rights
and environmental problems. In 2012, the US Securities and Exchange Commission has
required all securities issuers whose production processes involve the use of four types of
minerals, namely tantalum, tin, tungsten and gold, to disclose their mineral sources. These
four types of conflict minerals are widely used in the information and communications
technology products manufacturing industry. The Company takes the initiative to refrain
from using minerals from conflict-affected or high-risk areas and conducts surveys on
conflict minerals every year in cooperation with clients. The Company has signed Conflict
Minerals Agreements with a total of 224 related suppliers in 2021, and has undertaken not

to procure and use metal minerals from conflict-affected or high-risk areas.

Quantity Distribution of Suppliers
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ESTABLISHMENT OF A TEAM OF EXCELLENCE

The Company is committed to creating a good working environment for its employees.
We attach great importance to the value of talents, carry out selection of high-quality
talent and make good use of their talents. We mainly recruit through on-campus and
general recruitment. Our recruitment procedure is open, fair and reasonable. The
Company has established a series of standardized human resources recruitment and
training programs and systems, which have been strictly implemented. In 2016, the
Company set up the MOBI Academy to provide educational training and training functions
for all levels of the Company, providing valuable seminars to support and strengthen
the knowledge and skills of employees for the benefit of their career development and
promotion. The Company provides competitive remuneration packages, sets working
hours complying with relevant national policies and regulations. We also provide various
types of paid leave, as required by the government, and do not allow any inequality or

discrimination in respect of job opportunities and other aspects.
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STAFF EMPLOYMENT
. Employment Chart:
(1) Region Distribution Chart:
By Region (Person)

B Shenzhen M Xian Jian

906
1,262

(2)  Age Distribution Chart:

Age Distribution of Employees
W Age 30 and below M Age 31-40 M Age 41-50 M Age 51-60 M Age 61 and above

38 2
526

1,092

1011

(3)  Education Structure Chart:

Education Structure

W Master's degree ™ Bachelor's College W High school or
and above degree technical secondary
% school and below

421

214

1,988
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(4)  Employment Type Distribution:

Employment Type Distribution

B Number of labor = Number of contract
dispatch workers employees

1014

1,655

(5)  Gender Distribution Chart

Gender Distribution

B Number of male B Number of female
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Employee Turnover Rate (by Region)

o 68.6%
.6%
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Employee Turnover Rate (by Education Structure)
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Master's degree Bachelor's College High school or
and above degree technical secondary

school and below

Note: Occasional fluctuations in orders have resufted in large changes in frontline production personnel

and a higher turnover rate.
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HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Company established an occupational health and safety management system which
was recognized by the I1SO45001. The day-to-day operation of the Company follows
national laws and regulations, including the Production Safety Law of the People's Republic
of China, the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of
Occupational Diseases, the Law of the People's Republic of China on Prevention and
Treatment of Infectious Diseases, the Fire Control Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Regulation on Work-Related Injury Insurances, the Regulations on Safety Supervision
of Special Equipment, the Regulation on Work Safety Permits, the Measures for the
Administration of Registration of Hazardous Chemicals, the Social Insurance Law of the
People's Republic of China and the Measures for the Administration of Occupational
Health Examination, and its health and safety policy and regulations to ensure a safe and
healthy working environment and to protect the physical and mental health and safety of

our employees.

Since the outbreak of the COVID-19 epidemic, the Board has been closely monitoring
the epidemic and responded cautiously. The executive directors and senior management
of the Group established “MOBI Group Emergency Management Commanding Team
for the Prevention of Epidemic” on 26 January 2020 to closely monitor and respond to
the development of the epidemic, and report major issues to the emergency team as
soon as possible for making unified decisions and coordinate the management team and
various departments of the Group to implement relevant measures. The Group has also
adopted comprehensive and strict preventive and control measures in accordance with
relevant regulations issued by the Chinese government to fight against the epidemic, and
the relevant measures have begun to show results. Although the Group has gradually
resumed production, the Group will continue to strictly abide by these preventive and
control measures to ensure that employees can work in a safe and healthy environment.
During the Reporting Period, the Company did not receive any report on the violation of

laws and regulations related to health and safety in workplaces.

Staff health examination: The Company provides staff health examinations on an
annual basis. Funded by the Company, all staff are entitled to physical health checks
at medical institutions where medical reports as well as health advices will be

provided.
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Occupational disease inspections: The Company conducts occupational disease
inspections on annual basis for employees identified with potential exposure to
minimize the risks. In 2021, a total of 367 employees have been arranged for

occupational disease inspections.

Work injury data: In the past three years, there were no cases of death arising out
of work-related injuries in the Company. In the meantime, the Company recorded
the total reportable accident rate per a million working hours of I.19 and the
lost-time rate per a million working hours of 274.59 in 2021, which increased as
compared with those of 0.34 and 79.87 in 2020, mainly due to accidents caused
by employees riding outside. The Company strengthened safety management, and

safety awareness of employees needed to be enhanced.

(Note: total reportable accident rate per a million working hours = total number of reportable
accidents (including work-related injuries and accidents) |0%total working hours, and lost-
time rate per a million working hours = lost working hours (including work-related injuries

and accidents) |0%/total working hours)

Total reportable accident rate per a million working hours

‘I;

034

2020 2021

Lost-time rate per a million working hours

274.59

79.87

N

T
2020 2021
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4. Health and safety manual: The health and safety manual is available to every
employee at any time on the WeChat platform of the Company so that they could
learn about the Company's health and safety concepts, strategies, measures, and
safety guidelines, and know about what is right or wrong though pictures and texts,

so as to prevent risks and reduce health and safety hazards.

DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The Company's MOBI Academy has a wealth of courses, including courses on corporate
culture and rules and regulations, new employee induction training courses, staff basic
skills training, on-the-job knowledge training, management skills and leadership, and
other aspects. The course lecturers include the Company's in-house instructors and
external lecturers from external schools and training institutions. In 2021, the Company
provided 86,655.39 hours of training, with a total of 16,847 trainees including 99.4% of
the employees, and 5.1 | hours of training per person. 100% of employees at middle and
senior levels were trained, and more than 99% of ordinary employees were trained. The
female and male trainees accounted for 99.80% and 99.14% respectively. There was a
significant increase in the number of trainees due to the high turnover rate as a result of
changes in orders with the fluctuation of the extemal market environment. This led to a

decrease in the total training hours and the training hours per person as compared with

2020.

Total Training Hours
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Training Hours (by Gender)
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The Company has also cooperated with a number of tertiary institutions. Through the
provision of pre-courses to send students to the Company as intems, we hope to alleviate
the disconnection between school learning and the actual needs of enterprises with

common training of practical talents.

The Company has established an internal platform for career development and promotion
in operations, technology and management. Through a well-functioning mechanism,
employees are encouraged to exert their talents, expand their horizons and maintain
their vitality, ensuring that the development of our employees synchronizes with the

development of the Company.
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(1)  Dual-Beam Antenna Index Analysis Knowledge Training: () BERRRKERDHABIZI

(2)  Succession Management Cadre Training Course: (2 BEBEEHRIBEIIE

(3)  “Meet at Night” Learning, Sharing and Exchange Meeting on Improving Cadres’ B) EHREHNIBNEEEIRAZREI=Z
Management Ability: RRE :

(4)  Fire Drill 4 HEEE

BEtkB#RAERAL2A
20214 R

87



88

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RiIR HERERES

LABOR STANDARDS

The Company strictly abides by national laws and regulations, including the Labor Law of
the PRC, the Labor Contract Law of the PRC, the Social Insurance Law of the PRC, the
Employment Promotion Law of the PRC, the Labor Dispute Mediation and Arbitration
Law of the PRC, the Law on Safeguarding Women's Interests and Rights of the PRC, the
Law on the Protection of Minors of the PRC, the Implementation Regulation of the Labor
Contract Law of the PRC, the Special Rules on Labor Protection of Female Employees
of the PRC, the Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labor, the Regulations on
Paid Annual Leave for Employees and the Provisions on Minimum Wages. We do not
employ child labor or use any forced labor in any of our businesses. In the recruitment of
employees, we will verify the age of candidates through an identity card verification system
to prevent non-compliance. During the reporting year, there was no violation of the Labor
Law in any form. For details, please see “General Rules on Corporate Social Responsibility
of MOBI" above.

In order to prohibit the use of child labor, the Company checks the ID cards, household
registers, education certificates and knowledge mastery of the employees at the time of
employment. The Company undertakes that it will not use any form of forced labor or
involuntary labor, and that it shall not require employees to pay a “deposit” or deposit
their ID cards at the time of employment, it provides each employee with statutory social
security such as five insurances and one fund (pension, medical care, unemployment,
workers  compensation, maternity, housing provident fund) in accordance with national
policies. In addition, the Company will also maintain corresponding commercial insurance
for employees as required. If any violations are found, the Company has established
channels for employees to report immediately, and management will take immediate
follow-up actions.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not materially violate employment-related
laws and regulations or labor standards. The Group’s human resources policies and
operations complied with local labor-related laws and regulations.

All suppliers/contractors who provided services to the Company shall comply with the
Working Procedures of Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Management of Suppliers,
Contractors and Outsourcers, and shall not use child labor or force employees to work,
and shall comply with labor law, labor ethics, environment and occupational health and
safety and other laws and regulations of local governments.

The Company strictly follows national laws and regulations and provides various kinds of
paid time off to ensure that every employee has reasonable working hours and holidays,
including statutory holidays, marriage leave, maternity leave, paid annual leave and paid sick
leave, to encourage employees to strike a balance between work and life.
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STAFF ACTIVITIES: CULTURAL CAMPAIGNS AND RECREATIONAL
SPORTS

We pay great attention to humanistic care and team building. For many vyears, we continue
exploring new cultural and sports mechanisms for staff, and striving to assist employees
in achieving a work-life balance, improving the working and living conditions of staff and

enhancing their happiness and sense of belonging.

(I)  RF Manufacturing and Debugging Skills Competition:
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BETED : WLEE  REES

BRIEANBENEIRENRSR 26
RTHFERE T XIS - ENHEB
BITFEIEEATE REBIIENLER
G RABI=REMNZBER

() SHASBERBRELRAE

(2)  Organizing the Three Places of the Company to Carry out the Activities of “Celebrating
the Dragon Boat Festival Passionately and Sharing Well-being” with Letters
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(3)  Eagle Training Camp Expansion Activities of MOBI Group for the 2021 Fresh () ELEE202 EEELEHERIRERR
College Graduates EE

(4) 202! Successor Training and Expansion Activities of MOBI Group 4 EBhHEEQIFETEZERREH

(5)  Organizing the 2021 “Celebrating the National Day * Casual Photographing —  (5) #A&BIR202I F[NEE o BEFH — &
Discovering the Beauty of MOBI” Photography Competition: REL X |IBYLE !

(6)  2021”MOBI Cup” Tug of War Competition: (6) 2021 F[EELLHR | BOTELEE
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RESPONSIBLE SUPPLY CHAIN AND PRODUCT LIABILITY MANAGEMENT

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

The Company is committed to promoting the integrity of business practices and positive
social responsibility, to guiding the suppliers’ code of conduct, and stipulating requirements
on corporate social responsibility of suppliers in relation to integrity, law-abiding, respect
for human rights, employment of labor, health and safety, environmental protection and
business ethics. We require each supplier to follow the standard and the relevant laws and
regulations of their place of operation, especially key suppliers with long-term cooperation.
Meanwhile, the Company identifies and controls supply chain risks every year, including
but not limited to customer communication risks, business risks, transportation risks and
other risks. The Company evaluates new suppliers and conducts an annual inspection of
qualified suppliers according to the Working Procedures of Corporate Social Responsibility
(CSR) Management of Suppliers, Contractors and Outsourcers and the Management
Procedures of Acquisition of Suppliers, etc, to confirm whether the suppliers comply with
the laws and regulations and the requirements of the Company in terms of labor ethics,

corporate social responsibility, environment and occupational health and safety.

In 2021, we signed corporate social responsibility agreements with 224 suppliers with a
view to exerting influence on their environmental, social and governance requirements.
The types of agreements and undertakings signed are as follows:

“Supplier's Green Product (GP) Declaration”

“Supplier Quality Assurance Agreement”

“Supplier Quality Assurance Agreement — Supplemental Agreement”

“Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Agreement with Suppliers, Contractors, and
Outsourcers of MOBI"
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PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

The Company emphasizes the management of product responsibility. During the product
research and development stage, we carry out stringent implementation of product
management, not only to identify product features and performance requirements, but
also to identify the demand in environment, safety, reliability and other aspects for the
products. We strictly adhere to the industry and international standards to meet customer
and legal requirements in all respects. During the production and delivery stage, in
accordance with the processes and standards developed by the Company, we carry out
product checks and tests at all stages from stocking, manufacturing to product delivery
to ensure the safety of products delivered. In 2021, the Company did not receive any
product returns due to product health and safety problems, and the customer satisfaction
reached 86.06%.

In 2021, the Company received |6 complaints from customers. In responding to
customer complaints, the customer service department received the customer complaint
information, and confirmed the complaint information with the quality engineering
department and the sales department; the quality engineering department was responsible
for transmitting the customer complaint information to the corresponding departments

and following up the treatment of the issues until the case was closed.

The Company has implemented an intellectual property policy for many years. We have
documenting procedures and systems to regulate the management and operation of the
Company's intellectual property rights. As of the end of 2021, the Company had applied
for 1,015 patents, with 142 ones newly increased as compared with that at the end of
2020. And 736 patents had been granted, with 105 ones newly increased as compared
with that at the end of 2020. No patent infringement incidents occurred in 2021. The
Company has formulated internal controls to protect customer information. There are
clear guidelines available for the collection, storage, use and destruction of customer
information. We have also adopted a variety of measures to prevent leakage, including
providing training on the customer information confidentiality and conducting regular
checks for each safety and security measure. The Company has also established a product
recall system, and there were no product recalls caused by product quality and safety
incidents in 2021. In accordance with customer requirements, the Company will sign
business framework agreements on mutual cooperation with its customers to ensure
that confidential information of both sides will not be disclosed. In 2021, the Company
did not receive any complaints and litigation caused by leakage of customer information
and confidential data. The Company has established a corresponding customer complaint
and handling procedure to regulate the follow-up of customer complaints and product
returns or exchange. In addition, the Company will maintain product liability insurance for

customers’ products in response to their individual requirements.
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During the Reporting Period, the Company did not experience any material breach or

failure to comply with relevant product liability laws and regulations.
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COMPLIANCE IN OPERATION

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

[t is the basic principle of the Company to carry out operational compliance by abiding
by business ethics and observing the laws and regulations of China and other countries
where the Group operates. The Company is committed to ethical operations and legal
compliance in operations. We practice “zero tolerance” of any violation of laws and
regulations, and any breaches of business ethics. We carry out compliance in operations in
a proactive, effective and scientific manner, and are willing to work with global customers,

suppliers and other business partners to achieve sustainable development.

The business of the Company is mainly carried out by its subsidiaries in Mainland China,
and it is listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The operations of the Company strictly
comply with relevant laws and regulations of Mainland China and Hong Kong. During the
Reporting Period, there was no serious breach or non-compliance with relevant laws and

regulations (including prevention of bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering).
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ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Company actively takes measures against extortion and bribery or any form of
corruption. It has a zero-tolerance policy for corruption, and strictly abides by relevant
local laws and regulations, including the Law of the People’s Republic of China Against
Unfair Competition and Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China. The Company
encourages all employees to report any case of corruption and has established a
formalized management system as well as developed a formalized process for the daily
business operations to prevent the occurrence of corruption. The Company has set up
an independent audit department to strengthen the regular review of the operations of
various centers and departments of the Company in order to detect any non-compliance
with the code of ethics. The Group has effective reporting procedures to ensure that any
suspicious, improper or illegal behavior can be reported. The reporters may report all
details and evidence of any suspected misconduct to the department head or the Board
of the Group orally or in writing. If the reporter believes that the misconduct is related to
the Board, the reporter may directly report such misconduct to the audit committee. In
order to protect the interests of the Group and the safety of reporters, all investigations
will be conducted in a timely and confidential manner. If any suspicious criminal acts
are found, the Group will report such matter to the local functional departments if the
management deems it necessary, and will ensure that the identity of the reporters and the
contents of the reported cases are kept confidential. During the reporting year, the Group
did not materially violate the code of conduct and anti-corruption and competition laws.
Sound corporate governance is the foundation of our anti-corruption work. For more
information on the corporate governance structure and practices of the Group, please
refer to the section headed “Corporate Governance” in the annual report 2020/21. In
addition, the Company engages independent auditors to conduct accounting and auditing
of the financial management system on an annual basis to prevent financial and internal
control risks. During the Reporting Period, the Company was not involved in any litigation
in relation to corruption or bribery. In 2021, the Company trained employees of the
marketing department in anti-corruption and the code of conduct of marketing personnel,
which mainly included the training in current laws and regulations and the code of conduct
to which marketing personnel were subject.

COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT

As a company that values sustainable development, the Company has been committed
to contributing to the interests of the community, and spared no effort in creating more
value for the community, with a view to fulfilling corporate citizenship responsibilities.
MOBI pays attention to the interests of the community and gives back to the community,
by activities including but not limited to: children’s education in poverty-stricken areas,
social and environmental protection, labor demand of vulnerable groups, cultural
construction of the community, active participation in sports activities, etc. In the donation
project in community engagement activities in the year, the Company donated clothes to
Daliangshan and approximately RMB7,000 to poor mountainous areas. The Company will
more actively organize employees to participate in relevant charity and donation activities,
and encourage employees to create value for the community, thus further enhancing our
corporate image.
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CHARITY ACTIVITIES
During the Reporting Period, the Company has actively participated in various charity

activities, leaming activities organized by Community Party Branch and other activities.

MOBI Party Branch established a pioneer volunteer team of party members

During the epidemic, the MOBI Party Branch formed a pioneer volunteer team of
party members to go deep into the Company's front line of fighting the epidemic
and contributed to the Company's epidemic prevention and control.
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2. Everyone is responsible for protecting the environment! Red Pioneer Public
Welfare Activities of MOBI Party Branch

MOBI Party Branch led some party members and tens of MOBI volunteers to carry
out the red pioneer public welfare activities in their spare time, and cleaned up the
garbage around Guangming Park, Shenzhen.
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3. 202l “Donate for Love” charity activity on donating used clothes to Daliang 3. 2020/ RAEREINRLBRERNA

Mountain B®ED
MOBI organized employees in three places to donate clothes to the poor people HBARZHETI ANRILENER
in the Daliang Mountain area. ARREXY
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Directors and Senior Management

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Hu Xiang, aged 68, is an executive Director, the chairman of the board of Directors and
the chief executive officer of our Company. He is also a director, the chief executive
officer and legal representative of MOBI Shenzhen and MOBI Xian and a director of
MOBI Jian and MOBI HK. Mr. Hu was appointed a Director on 19 December 2002. Mr.
Hu was an engineer. Mr. Hu graduated from the Xian Infrastructure University (now
Xian University of Finance and Economics) majoring in radio communication in August
1981. During the period from 1972 to September 1981, Mr. Hu worked in the hydraulic
transmission and control department of the Northwest Industrial University. Mr. Hu
then served as chief of the planning and supply department at Shenzhen Zhongxingxin
Tongxun Shebei Co,, Ltd. for the period from 1992 to 1999. Mr. Hu joined our Group in
August 1999. Mr. Hu was a director of Shenzhen Kang Cheng Jixie Shebei Co,, Ltd. from
June 2002 to June 2007 and the general manager of Shenzhen Zhongxing Weixiantong
Shebei Co,, Ltd. from March 2000 to September 2007. He is a shareholder of Fangyi
Collaboration Holdings Limited, a substantial shareholder of the Company.

Liao Dong, aged 51, Mr. Liao was appointed as an executive Director and chief operating
officer of the Company with effect from 26 March 2015, Mr. Liao resigned as an
executive Director and chief operating officer on 5 November 2021. Mr. Liao graduated
from Chongging University with a doctoral degree in mechanical manufacturing and its
automation in 1999. Mr. Liao had worked at ZTE Kangxun Telecom Co., Ltd. during the
period from July 1999 to February 2001 and at ZTE Corporation president” office during
the period from February 2001 to March 2003. Mr. Liao joined the Group in March 2003.

Non-executive Directors

Qu Degian, aged 59, is a non-executive Director, and a director of MOBI Shenzhen,
MOBI Jian and MOBI Xian. Mr. Qu was appointed a Director on |9 December 2002.
Mr. Qu graduated from Shaanxi Institute of Finance and Economics (now School of
Economics and Finance of Xian Jiaotong University) in June 1992 and he further obtained
the qualification as an accountant in the PRC in October 1994. From June 1993 to
April 2003, Mr. Qu was the chief of ZTE Corporation’s accounting and auditing centre
and the deputy chief of its financial centre. In April 2003, Mr. Qu was appointed as the
deputy general manager of Shenzhen Zhongxing Weixiantong Shebei Co., Ltd. and since
September 2007, has been the general manager of Shenzhen Zhongxing Weixiantong
Shebei Co,, Ltd.. Mr. Qu joined our Group in December 2002. He is a shareholder of
Fangyi Collaboration Holdings Limited, a substantial shareholder of the Company.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Li Tianshu, aged 68, is an independent non-executive Director. Mr. Li was appointed a
Director on | July 2007. Mr. Li graduated from Xi'an Jiaotong University in 1976 majoring
in computational Mathematics. From 1985 to 1988, Mr. Li studied business economics
at Universitat Mannheim in Germany and pursued a doctoral degree at Universitat
Mannheim in 1988. From 1988 to 1995, Mr. Li worked as a research assistant in the
business economics department of Universitat Mannheim. During the period from March
1995 to September 1995, Mr. Li worked in Germany for Friatec Aktiengesellschaft, an
international manufacturing enterprise, and was designated to become the future managing
director for China. From 1995 to 1998, Mr. Li first worked for KSB Aktiengesellschaft,
an international machinery manufacturing enterprise, as the assistant to the chairman of
the management board of KSB and then became the chief representative of its Beijing
Representative Office. During the period from 1998 to 2002, Mr. Li took the position of
regional director of Messer, an international chemical manufacturing enterprise, responsible
for its business development in Northern China as well as the operation, sales and profits
of its joint ventures and wholly owned companies in the Northern China region. During
that period, Mr. Li also served as the general manager of Messer North China Industrial
Gas Co, Ltd. and the chairman to the board of Tianjin Messer Gas System Co,, Ltd. Since
2002, Mr. Li has been the general manager of Beijing Delintech Technology Co., Ltd, a
technical promotion service provider and sales service provider. Since 27 March 2011,
Mr. Li has been the general manager of Beijing Zhong Biao Fang Yuan Anti-counterfeiting
Technology Co. Ltd. Mr. Li has valuable experience in international corporate management

and enterprise resources planning (ERP). Mr. Li joined our Group in July 2007.
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Zhang Han, aged 58, is an independent non-executive Director appointed on 25
November 2009 and the chairman of the audit committee. Mr. Zhang is currently an
independent director of Perfect World Co,, Ltd. (stock code: PWRD), a Nasdaq listed
company, where Mr. Zhang has also served as a member of its audit committee since
July 2008. The responsibilities of such role include overseeing the accounting and financial
reporting processes as well as external and internal audit of the Company. Mr. Zhang
received his bachelor's degree in chemistry from the Peking University in 1985. He
later obtained an EMBA degree from the China Europe International Business School
in 2004. From 1985 to 1988, Mr. Zhang worked at Beijing Fiber Reinforced Plastic
Research & Design Institute. Mr. Zhang was the Manager in the securities department
of Shenzhen Shekou China Merchants Co,, Ltd. from 1989 to 1994. Mr. Zhang was the
deputy manager at the finance department of China National Technical Import & Export
Corporation, and also the general manager of Shanghai CNTIC Investment Advisory
Co,, Ltd. from 1994 to 1998. From 1999 to 2000, Mr. Zhang served as assistant to the
general manager, investment director and fund manager at Penghua Fund Management
Co, Ltd, a fund management company in China. Mr. Zhang served as the deputy general
manager of Rongtong Fund Management Co,, Ltd,, a fund management company in
China, from 2001 to 2003. Mr. Zhang also served as the general manager of Great Wall
Fund Management Co., Ltd, a fund management company in China, from 2004 to 2005.
Mr. Zhang is currently a partner of Share Capital Partners Ltd, a Chinese venture capital
firm. Mr. Zhang has built up his experience in conducting due diligence work in respect
of the financial performance, management and corporate government quality of various
companies and conducting financial analysis of listed companies throughout his various

tenures in the investment industry. Mr. Zhang joined our Group on 25 November 2009.
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Ge Xiaojing, aged 61, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the
Company with effect from 3 August, 2018. She is a partner of SAIF Partners. Ms. Ge
joined SAIF Partners as vice-president in 2009 and became a partner in 2018. At SAIF
Partners, Ms. Ge has been responsible for investments in high-end smart manufacturing,
big data, energy, education, new media and other areas, and has also led the investments
in certain successful enterprises, including Orbbec (BBLEHY), QKM (ZEEEENL),
UniFortune Supply Chain (Bf& F 2 &5 ), SuperC Technology (JE#%HY ), Hujiang
Education (JBIT#{B ), Xinzhi Digital Media (¥TA1E#E) and Annoroad Technology (%
FEfEE) . In addition, Ms. Ge is currently a director of QKM (ZEE#){t), UniFortune
(Bt 5 ME ), SuperC Technology (B#H ) and Xinzhi Digital Media (¥ A1##E)

From 2005 to 2009, Ms. Ge was the deputy general manager and financial controller of
Mobi Antenna Technologies (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (BELb K& £ AT ORI BRA 7).
Ms. Ge has nearly 30 years of working experience in, among other things, corporate
finance and operation, international business development, project management and
information technology. Ms. Ge graduated from The George Washington University in
1994 with a master degree. She obtained her master and bachelor degrees from Tsinghua

University in 1986 and 1983, respectively.
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Directors and Senior Management

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Shao Zhiguo, aged 58, was an executive Director of the Company from | April 2012
to 25 March 2015 and is the executive vice-president in research and development and
quality of the Company, MOBI Shenzhen, MOBI Xian and MOBI Jian respectively. Mr.
Shao graduated from the Northwest Telecommunications Engineering College (now
Xidian University) with a bachelor degree in wireless equipment structure design in
1984. In 1998, Mr. Shao obtained a master degree in systematic engineering from Xian
Electronic Technology University. During the period of 1984 to 1999, Mr. Shao has held
such positions as engineer and senior engineer at the Shijiazhuang Communications Survey
and Control Technology Institute. Mr. Shao has over |5 years experience of research and
development in the area of telecommunication measurement and control technology and
has received a second class award in Scientific Technology Advancement of the Ministry
of Machine Building and Electronics Industry. Mr. Shao is a senior member of the Chinese
Institute of Electronics. Mr. Shao was a director of Kang Cheng from June 2002 to June
2007. Mr. Shao joined our Group in August 1999.

Kong Weitong, aged 58, is the executive vice-president of the Company, which
responsible for operation, manufacturing and supply chain. Mr. Kong obtained a bachelor's
degree in economics from Shaanxi Institute of Finance and Economics (now School of
Economics and Finance of Xian Jiaotong University) in August 1998. Mr. Kong worked
at the China Aerospace Corporation from 1982 to 2002 in the areas of accounting and
audit, where he was appointed as an accountant in 1992 and as a senior accountant in
1999. Mr. Kong became a non-practicing member of the Chinese Institute of Certified

Public Accountants in 2006. Mr. Kong joined the Group in May 2002.

Chen Yang, aged 40, is the vice president of the Company, responsible for leading
businesses in the operator market in China. Mr. Chen Yang graduated from Xidian University
majoring in electronic information engineering, in 2003, with a Bachelor' s degree. He joined
the Group in 2003, and has successively acted as sales manager in provinces in China and

general manager in the intemational key account marketing region.
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Ye Rong, aged 42, is the vice-president of the Company responsible for leading the
business of the research and development of RF products. Mr. Ye Rong graduated from
Xidian University in 2005 with a master of science degree in electromagnetic field and
microwave technology. He joined the Group in 2005 and successively held the posts of
electrical engineer, research and development project manager, division head and the

general manager of the radio-frequency product business division.

Wu Qian, aged 33, was appointed as chief financial officer of the Company with effect
from 13 July, 2018. Ms. Wu joined the Group in 2015 and successively held variously
positions, such as manager of investment and financing, manager of investor relationship,
head of securities and investment department, etc. From 2013 to 2015, she joined a joint
venture of the Shell Oil as a management trainee, responsible for matters relating to
supply chain. Ms. Wu obtained a bachelor's degree in management from School of Public
Affairs and another certificate in second major of finance from School of Economics,
Zhejiang University in July 201 1. She subsequently obtained her master's degree in science

from University College London in November 2012.

Zhou Lingbo, aged 41, is the executive vice-president of the Company responsible for
the personnel and administration system, the domestic market system, the strategic
development and empowerment division. Ms. Zhou Lingbo graduated from the
department of law of Nanjing University in 2004 with a LLB degree. She joined the Group
in 2004 and successively held the posts of director of the infrastructure office and director

of the president’s office.

Zeng Zhi, aged 40, is the vice president of the Company, responsible for leading
antenna product research and development businesses. Mr. Zeng graduated from the
School of Electronics and Information Engineering, Harbin Institute of Technology majoring
in communication and information system in 2006, with a Master of Engineering degree,
and from the Shenzhen Graduate School, Harbin Institute of Technology majoring in
communication and information system in 2015, with a Doctor of Engineering degree.
Mr. Zeng joined the Company in 2006, and has successively acted as antenna engineer,
research and development project manager, department manager, technical director, and

general manager of the antenna business department.
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Directors and Senior Management

COMPANY SECRETARY AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Lau Wing, aged 49, is our deputy financial officer, authorized representative and company
secretary. He is also the deputy financial officer of financial centre of MOBI Shenzhen.
He is responsible for our company secretarial, financial and accounting management and
internal audit affairs. Mr. Lau obtained a bachelor's degree in accountancy from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University in 1996, and later obtained a master's degree in business
administration (financial service) in 2005. He is a Certified Public Accountant of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Lau has over 20 years of experience in finance,
accounting, auditing and company secretarial matters. Mr. Lau had held senior financial

positions in several listed companies. Mr. Lau joined our Group in May 201 1.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated financial

statements for the year ended 31 December 2021.

CORPORATE REORGANISATION
The Company was incorporated with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 16
December 2002.

The shares of the Company were listed on the Stock Exchange on |7 December 2009.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the
subsidiaries comprise the research, development, manufacture and sale of antenna system,
base station radio frequency subsystem and products of coverage extension solution.
There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group's principal activities during

the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A business review as required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
including a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group and an
indication of likely future developments in the Group's business, can be found in the
Management Discussion and Analysis set out on pages | | to 36 of this annual report. This

discussion forms part of this report of the directors.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year ended 3| December 2021 and the state of affairs of
the Group at that date are set out in the financial statements on pages 128 to 252.

The Board did not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the year ended 31
December, 2021.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following is a 5 years summary of the resufts and assets and liabilities of the Group

for the last five financial years, as extracted from the Prospectus and the audited financial

MBERHE
TREAAEBBEDENBFRENEER
BEMABE RERRERREEGVHR

statements. xKo
Year ended 3| December
BZNA3BLEE
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
2021 F 20204 20194 20184 20176
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMTRE ARBTT ARETT ARBTT ARETR
RESULTS £
Revenue WA 661,389 884,541 1214929 1257215 1,422,441
(Loss) profit before taxation  FiAT (&518) FIH (308,038) (43,388) 16,756 10,021 (60,980)
Income tax (expense) credit ~ FT15H% (FZ) K (21,663) 13,575 6,855 6,668 12,471
(Loss) profit for the year FR (BE) M (329,701) (29.813) 23611 16,689 (48509)
(Loss) profit and the total ARRAER AEIGH
comprehensive income FE (BB MER
(expenses) for the year 2EWA (Fx) #5
attributable to owners
of the Company (329,701) (29.813) 23611 16,689 (48509)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERERE
Non-current assets FREEE 472,233 567,187 547,649 537,626 540,782
Current assets MBEE 1,086,665 1,381,187 1,422,185 1,764,814 1,807,204
Current liabilities mBAaE (756,573) (747,208) (780,636)  (1,126905)  (1,157,942)
Non-current liabilities =V (6,680) (75,117) (17,770) (12,773) (12,797)
Net assets BEFH 795,645 1,126,049 1,171,428 1,162,762 1,177,247
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT V¥ BERGE

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year

are set out in note 14 to the financial statements.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

On 13 January 2010, 18,443,000 over-allotment shares of USD0.00000! each of the
Company at price of HKD3.38 per share were issued pursuant to the underwriting
agreement of the IPO of the Company. Pursuant to a shareholder resolution passed on |
June 2010, a bonus issue of 72,446,099 shares of USD0.00000! each of the Company is
issued to the persons whose names appear on the register of members of the Company
at the close of business on | June 2010 on the basis of one share for every ten shares held

on | June 2010. These new shares rank pari passu with the existing shares in all aspects.

Details of movements in the Company's share capital and share options during the year

are set out in notes 28 and 29 to the financial statements, respectively.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Save for the share option scheme of the Company as set out on pages |10 to 112, no

equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or existed during the year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

At 31 December 2021, the Company's reserves available for distribution, calculated in
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, amounted
to RMB454.1 million. This amount includes the Company's share premium account
of RMB403.4 million at 31 December 2021, which may be distributed provided that
immediately following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary

course of business.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
In the year under review, revenue attributed to the Group's five largest customers
accounted for 85.1% of the total revenue for the year and revenue attributed to the

largest customer accounted for 38.6%.

Purchases from the Group's five largest suppliers for the year is less than 27.6%.

The Directors’ Interests in a major customer and suppliers are set out in the paragraph
headed "Directors’ Material Interests in Transactions, Arrangements or Contracts” on

page | 15 of this report.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:
Executive Directors

Hu Xiang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Liao Dong (Notel)

Non-executive Directors
Qu Degian
Independent non-executive Directors

Li Tianshu
Zhang Han
Ge Xiaojing

Under the provisions of the Articles, all of the Directors are subject to retirement by

rotation and re-election.

In accordance with Article 130 of the Articles, Mr. Hu Xiang, an executive Director
and Mr. Qu Degian, a non-executive Director will retire and, being eligible, will offer

themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors an
annual confirmation of their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules
and the Board still considers each of the independent non-executive Directors to be

independent from the Company.

(Note ) On 5 November 2021, the board of directors approved the resignation of Mr. Liao Dong from

executive director with effect from 5 November 2021.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES
Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the senior management of the

Group are set out on pages 97 to 103 of the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT
Each of the executive Director and non-executive Director has entered into a service
agreement with our Company commencing from |7 December 2021 for a term of three

years, respectively.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Zhang Han and Ms. Ge Xiaojing
has entered into a letter of appointment with our Company for a term of three years
commencing from |7 December 2021 and 3 August 2021 respectively (except for Mr.
Li. Tianshu whose engagement with us commenced on | July 2007) and renewable by

mutual agreement on annual basis.

None of the Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other

than statutory compensation.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, every Director shall be entitled to
be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he
may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in

relation thereto.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage

for the Directors and officers of the Group throughout the year.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
Directors' emoluments are reviewed by Remuneration Committee with reference to

Directors' duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the Group.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

As at 31 December 2021, the number of ordinary shares in respect of which options had
been granted and remained outstanding was 40,036,000 (2020: 45,266,000), representing
4.90% (2020: 5.53%) of the total ordinary shares in issue at end of the reporting period.

The total number of ordinary shares issued and to be issued upon the exercise of options
granted and to be granted to each eligible participant (including both exercised and
outstanding options) in any period of twelve consecutive months up to and including the
date of grant shall not exceed [% of the ordinary shares in issue as of the date of grant.
Any further grant of options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders” approval in

advance in a general meeting.

Particulars of the Company's share option scheme are set out in note 29 to the financial

statements.

The following table discloses movements in the Company's share option scheme during

fBRESTE

R2021F12A31 8 - RBEERERLE
MARITENERERSROEBREE R
40,036,000% (20204 : 45,266,0008%) * 167
EWMMREETEBREZMN4.90% (2020
% 1 553%) o

BESLBRERS (BEZE) LEE 128
AEMHE BIfEETEERTEAER
SEEBRE (BRETERHRITEZE
BE) ME TR TRITZERRER T
GHBRLABZEBTEARBEZ1%-
EHIE-FREBRZRBLERRERAER
RIRRIIRRAS LHE - TTAIEE -

AR BB B RN B A SRR MR 29

TERAEAL AR BF A

the year:
Exercise price Outstanding Granted Cancelled Exercised Outstanding
per share (RMB) as at beginning during during during asatend
Name Option type Date of grant BRITHEE Exercisable period of the year the year the year the year of the year
4 BRERD  RHEE (ARE) AT ERE ENHATE ERi ERd#  FREAR  FREAGE
Directors:
g
Hu Xiang W0150ption A 2632015 147 142016 -2532025 450000 - - - 450000
#3 DISERREA
20150ptionB 2632015 147 142017 - 2532025 450,000 - - - 450,000
155 E iR
W0I150ptionC - 2632015 147 1420182532025 600,000 - - - 600,000
WISERREC

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Exercise price Outstanding Granted Cancelled Exercised Outstanding
per share (RMB) as at beginning during during during asatend
Name Option type Date of gant BRITEE Exercisable period of the year the year the year the year of the year
£ FRESN  RAEH  (AR®) q7EHE ENHATE ERiH EREH  FREAE  FREAGRE
Qu Degian 0130ption A 23122013 109 [62015- 22122023 150000 - - - 150000
ERY I3FRHREA
0130ptionB 23122013 1,09 142016 -22.12.2023 150,000 - - - 150000
DI3FERIEL
0130ptionC 23122013 109 142017 - 22122003 200,000 - - - 200000
DIERRIEC
0150ptionA 2632015 147 142016 - 253-2025 150000 - - - 150000
DISFRREA
015C0ptionB 2632015 147 142017 - 2532025 150000 - - - 150000
WISFERIED
0150ptionC 2632015 147 142018 - 2532025 200,000 - - - 200000
0I5 EIIEC
Sub-totat 2500000 - - - 2,500,000
it
Other participants:
AfigRE
Participants 2005 Option 3182005 06655 3182006 - 3082015 - - - - -
paz W05 R
Participants 013 0ption A 23122013 1,09 162015 -22.122023 - - - - -
bz NI3EERIEA
0130ptionB 23122013 1.09 142016 - 22122023 - - - - -
I35 ERER
0130ptionC 23122013 109 [42017- 22122003 - - - - -
WI3FRREC
Participants W0150ption A 2632015 147 142016 -2532005 - - - - -
bz NI5EERIEA
0150ptionB 2632015 147 142017 - 2532025 - - - - -
0I55BRER
0050ptionC 2632015 147 142018 - 2532025 - - - - -
WISFRREC
Sub-totat - - - - -
Ik
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Exercise price Outstanding Granted Cancelled Exercised Outstanding
per share (RMB) as at beginning during during during asat end
Name Option type Date of gant BRITEE Exercisable period of the year the year the year the year of the year
i FREEN  RHAS  (ARW) fTEHE FAMANE ERiRd FRiE#E  FREME  FRHAGE
Other employees:
HfpfES -
Employees 0130ptionA 23122013 109 [62015- 22122023 6,494,000 - (924000) - 5570000
& I3FRREA
2013OptionB 23122013 1.09 142016 - 22122023 7,058,000 - (924000) - 6,134,000
VI3FERIED
20130ptionC 23122013 109 142017-22.12.2003 9,884,000 - (1,232,000) - 8,652,000
NI3FERMIEC
Employees 0150ptionA 2632015 147 142016 -253.2005 5,799,000 - (645,000) - 5154000
& DISFRREA
0150ptionB 2632015 147 1420172532005 5,799,000 - (645,000) - 5154000
155 EiED
0150ptionC 2632015 147 1420182532025 7732000 - (860000) - 6,872,000
0I5 EIRIEC
Sub-totat 42766000 - (5,230,000) - 37536000
It :
Total: 45266000 - (5,230,000) - 40,036,000
it

The weighted average closing share price immediately before the dates on which the HEEIREETFE R - RO IETEY
options were exercised was HK$1.53. WHERISIBIT

1 1 2 MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of the Directors, the chief
executive or their associates in the share capital, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO™) ) which were notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of SFO),
or which, as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange

pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
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“Model Code"), were as follows:

FARBRTEER S HIETFA (28T
BI)) A& A R R R ERTAR N

T
Ordinary shares of the Company: ARAEBR
Approximate
percentage of
Number of the Company’s
shares and issued capital
Number of underlying shares HEERT
Name of Director Nature of Interest Number of shares underlying shares 5 K& B¢y
BEEpE ERME ROBE HERGEE HERROBE BRAHE 2L
Hu Xiang Personal 26,102,500 1,500,000 27,602,500 3.38%
FiiE2) EPN Long Position Long Position Long Position
=9} =) 29y
Qu Degian Personal — 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.12%
[EE EPN Long Position Long Position
=) 59y
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Share options of the Company:

Details of the Directors interests in share options of the Company are set out in the

Section headed “Share Options” in this report.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of the Directors or the chief
executive of the Company had registered any interest or short position in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
SFO), or which as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

So far as is known to the Directors or Chief Executive of the Company as at 3|
December 2021, shareholders (other than Directors or Chief Executives of the Company
who had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the

Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Ordinary shares of the Company: RAREBR
Approximate
percentage of
Number of the Company’s
shares and issued capital
Name of Substantial Number of underlying shares HEERT
Shareholder Nature of Interest Number of shares underlying shares R K 2RT
FTERREW BEME BHEE HERORE HEROHE BRANBED
Fangyi Collaboration Beneficial owner 230,607,300 — 230,607,300 28.22%
Holdings Limited EnBBA Long Position Long Position
TEERAR AR =9 =9
Li Xiaoyong Beneficial owner 52,679,000 — 52,679,000 6.45%
FINE ERBEAAN Long Position Long Position
=9 =

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

As at 31 December 2021, Directors' interests in a major customer were as follows:

ZTE Corporation (“ZTE")

. Hu Xiang and Qu Degian, Directors of the Company, are members of the 39 .
shareholders (“Beneficial Owners”) of Fangyi Collaboration Holdings Ltd. (“Fangyi"),
a substantial shareholder of the Company.

. The Beneficial Owners had an indirect equity interest of approximately 10.4% in |
ZTE, the second-largest customer of the Group for the year ended 3| December
2021, through their shareholdings in Shenzhen Zhongxing Weixiantong Shebei Co.,
Ltd. (“Shenzhen Weixiantong™). Shenzhen Weixiantong owns 49% shareholding
interest in Shenzhen Zhongxingxin Tongxun Shebei Co., Ltd. (“Zhongxingxin”),
which in turn had approximately 21.30% shareholding interest in ZTE.

EERRS  REHSHNZEAER

HZE2021F 128318 EXTERFTHNES
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. Hu Xiang and Qu Degian together held approximately 4.1% shareholding interests
in Shenzhen Weixiantong. Therefore, they have indirect shareholding interests in
ZTE through their shareholding interests in Shenzhen Weixiantong.

As of 31 December 2021, Directors' interests in major suppliers were as follows:

Shenzhen Zhongxingxindi Technology Co., Ltd. (“Zhongxingxindi") which former name as
Shenzhen Zhongxingxindi Tongxin Qicai Co., Ltd.

. The Beneficial Owners have an indirect equity interest in Zhongxingxindi, a supplier
accounted for 0% purchase of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021,
through their shareholdings in Shenzhen Weixiantong. Shenzhen Weixiantong
was a 34.3% shareholder of Zhongxingxindi. Shenzhen Weixiantong owned 49%
shareholding interest in Zhongxingxin, which in turn had a 70% shareholding

interest in Zhongxingxindi.

. Hu Xiang and Qu Degian as members of the Beneficial Owners, therefore, have
indirect shareholding interests in Zhongxingxindi through their shareholding

interests in Shenzhen Weixiantong.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other transactions, arrangements or contracts
of significance in relation to the Group's business to which the Company's or any of its
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or its connected entities had a material
interest (whether directly or indirectly) subsisting at the end of the year or at any time

during the year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions entered into by the Group are set out
in note 36 to the financial statements which did not fall under the definition of “connected
transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” under Chapter 14A of the Listing

Rules.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company's articles of association
or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares

on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge
of the Directors, as at the date of this report, the percentage of shares of the Company in
public hands is in compliance with the prescribed level of the minimum public float as set

out in Rule 8.08 of the Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Company has set up an audit committee with written terms of reference. The audit
committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors and reports to the

Board of Directors.

The Group's consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021
have been reviewed by the audit committee of the Company, who are of the opinion that
such statements comply with the applicable accounting standards and legal requirements,

and that adequate disclosures have been made.

AUDITOR
A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting to re-appoint Deloitte

Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
MOBI Development Co., Ltd.

Hu Xiang
Chairman

14 April 2022
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Deloitte.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of MOBI Development Co,, Ltd.
(the “"Company™) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out
on pages 128 to 252, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial

statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2021, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs")
issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described
in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit

evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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BYZBERE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

REELER

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most BREZFERRMNZXAEH - BRA
significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. MR BRRTREENEE - HAIRE
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial RERBGENBHRRRBLEZENIILTY
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a ~ FXER. ' MAEHLEEBRER/ERER

separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters

HRELER

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

BMRELRINEERRERER

Valuation of inventories

FEMLE

We identified the valuation of inventories as a key audit
matter due to the use of judgment and estimates by the
management in estimating the allowance for inventories.

In determining the allowance for inventories, the
management considers the aging information, technology
development of the industry, net realisable value for
obsolete and slow-moving inventories that are no longer
suitable for use in operation and subsequent sales or usage.

ZARFEHERTABRELZSTE  RRAREEE
fhatF B BB LR 8 R fhat o

ERERERES  FRESETENERERNE
FBE  TEEA BENEERE AERORES
WEEOTERFE -

Our procedures in relation to valuation of inventories included:

*  Understanding how management estimates the allowance of obsolete and
slow-moving inventories items;

»  Obtaining the inventory aging information and checking its classification by age
on a sample basis to relevant documents;

+  Checking on the net realisable value of inventories to subsequent selling prices

less costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale or usage of
inventories on a sample basis to relevant documents;

RMBEEFEHERRNEFEE
« TEREEBNAGRRENDHT OB
- DBEERKES  BEREREDBRIERX T

« DHEEERSHFEN R FENREHEERRETHIARHEE
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How our audit addressed the key audit matters

EMRELBINEERRELER

Valuation of inventories (Cont d)

FEMEE)

As disclosed in note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements, as at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount
of inventory was RMB213,113,000, net of allowance for
inventories of RMB132,773,000.

WMERE FISRRM T 19T HE - H2021F 128318
FEEREEEAARE3 13,0007 HIBEEEEA
FR#132,773,0007T °

+ Evaluating the reasonableness of the allowance of obsolete and/or slow-
moving inventories identified by the management with reference to the aging
information of inventories, subsequent sales and usage of inventories; and

+ Performing a retrospective review on the allowance estimation by
management by comparing historical allowance made to the actual selling
prices and actual loss incurred.
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BYZBERE

Key audit matters

HRELER

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

EMRELBINEERRELER

Impairment assessment of the Identified Long-lived Assets (as defined below)

ERARAEE (ERE T30 MR ERE

We identified the impairment assessment of the long-
lived assets relating to the Group's business of research,
development, manufacture and sale of antenna system,
base station radio frequency subsystem and products of
coverage extension solution, comprising certain property,
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
(the “Identified Long-lived Assets”), as key audit matter as
significant judgement by the management is required to
assess the amount of impairment of these assets.

During the year ended 3| December 2021, the
management of the Group performed an impairment
assessment of the Identified Long-lived Assets due to the
indication for impairment as disclosed in notes 4 and 14
to the consolidated financial statements. For the purpose
of assessing impairment of these assets, the recoverable
amounts of these assets have been determined by the
management of the Group by value in use calculations
using financial budgets based on past performance and
expectation for market development, where the key input
parameters include growth rates and discount rates.

RERERE BEXRERERER  ZUGFHATRERR
BELHATREQNAR  HE  RERBEXHH
RHEE (BRETYE  BELRE EREEER
BVAE) ([CRARPEE ) 0REFHER AR
EREE  RHNEEEREELBRHE AT AZ
FEREMRESHE
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RERE T REMF4 R 4P EENRETRMHER
AIRBEEETREN G - T EENFTMHRER
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AEENTEET  FREBNTEDNERBENE
ERBEHMSEENMKEE  EThERBAZER
EEERRFTRE -

Our procedures in relation to management's impairment assessment of the
Identified Long-lived Assets included:

+ Understanding the Group's impairment assessment process, including
impairment assessment model adopted and assumptions used;

+  Evaluating the independent qualified professional valuer's competence,
capabilities and objectivity;

* Engaging our internal specialists to review the reasonableness of the
impairment assessment model adopted and assumptions used by the
management of the Group;

+  Assessing the reasonableness of the management's estimate of the growth
rates with reference to the historical performance and the latest budgets of
the Group and market data;

* Assessing the reasonableness of the discount rates used by management in

determining the value in use, with reference to the current market risk-free
rate of interest and the industry specific risk factors;
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Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters

HRELER EMRELBINEERRELER

Impairment assessment of the Identified Long-lived Assets (as defined below) (Cont d)

CRERBEE (ERRTX) WEENE ()

Based on the management's assessment, an impairment  *  Assessing the sensitivity analysis prepared by management on the significant

loss of the Identified Long-lived Assets of RMB60,9 16,000 assumptions to evaluate the extent of impact of these assumptions on the
has been recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31 impairment assessment model.
December 2021.

As disclosed in note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements, as at 31 December 2021, the aggregate
carrying amount of the Identified Long-lived Assets was
RMB404,220,000, net of impairment loss of RMB60,916,000.

REEEENIE  BE2021F12A310LFE B « FEEEEREERHRIRBEOGBUEDIN - UFEZFHRRERBE
BRI RHEENREEEARK60916000TE R B AR ERE -
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OTHER INFORMATION
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual report, but does not include

the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is
to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other

information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due

to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for
assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no

realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial

reporting process.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the

economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and

maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or

the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose

of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Contd)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors” use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Group's ability to continue as a going concem. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events

or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner

that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of
the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit

opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,

the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any

significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards

applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor's report is Mok

Sau Fan.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

14 April 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
GERaRkEME2EREERR

For the year ended 3| December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

2021 2020
2021 F 20205
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

P aE ARBTT ARETTT

Revenue WA 5 661,389 884,541
Cost of sales HERA (644,582) (684591
Gross profit E7 16,807 199,950
Impairment losses under expected credit loss (‘ECL") TEER(EEEE ([FEHREEEE])

model, net of reversal EXTHRERSE - KA (4,185) (1,550)
Impairment losses on Identified Long-lived Assets B i#iBI R EiE ERRIERE (60,916) -
Other income HApdg A 6 34,354 45316
Other gains and losses oty o 2 B 18 6 (9,494) (20,102)
Research and development expenses e (121,179) (109,597)
Administrative expenses THRX (98,631) (94958)
Distribution and selling expenses DN IHERX (55,172) (55,400)
Finance costs B RS AR 7 (7,692) (5292)
Fair value change on derivative financial instruments ~ $74 & @ T A A FEEE) (1,454) (1,349)
Share of results of associates il NS5 (476) (406)
(Loss) before tax Bal (BH8) (308,038) (43,388)
Income tax (expense) credit Pt (Fx) % 8 (21,663) 13,575

(Loss) and the total comprehensive expense for FREHEBEANBENEE (HR) R 9

the year attributable to owners of the Company ~ 2 HEF XA (329,701) (29.813)
(Loss) per share Bk (B#B)
~ basic (RMB cents) - ZUNE S 13 (40.29) (3.64)
— diluted (RMB cents) -85 (ARER) 13 (40.29) (3.64)
1 28 MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e PR &R

At 3| December 2021
20216 12A318

2021 2020
2021 F 20204
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B=E AR¥ETR ARETIT
Non-current Assets FREEE

Property, plant and equipment ME - BB LR 14 325,507 379,256
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15 31,625 34,061
Deposits for purchase of plant and equipment BERELRBEE RS 13,240 11,671
Deferred tax assets BERIEEE 16 50,691 71362
Intangible assets B EE 17 47,088 66,312
Derivative financial instruments TEeRMITA 27 33 -
Interests in associates NN ol Ea 18 4,049 4,525
472,233 567,187

Current Assets REEE
Inventories 7E 19 213,113 270017
Trade and other receivables B 5 M EMEUER 20 550,839 624,838
Income tax recoverable BREEH - 1,586
Pledged bank balances BIERIRITAER 21 72,167 112816
Bank balances and cash RITERRB 2 21 250,546 371930
1,086,665 1,381,187

Current Liabilities =N
Trade and other payables B 5 R EMERNERR 22 599,277 630,952
Contract liabilities BHERE 23 13,347 7272
Bank and other borrowings RITREMER 24 137,277 99,575
Derivative financial instruments PTHEERT A 27 - 1,349
Tax payable FERNHIE = 604
Lease liabilities HERE 25 4,402 4920
Deferred income BRI 26 2,270 2,536
756,573 747208
Net Current Assets REEEFHE 330,092 633979
Total Assets less Current Liabilities BEERRBEE 802,325 1,201,166

BEtkB#RAERAL2A
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
mE B AR R

At 3| December 202 |
2021612831 B

2021 2020
2021 F 20205
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

P aE ARBTT ARETTT

Non-current Liabilities FREEE
Other borrowing HAbE® 24 = 65,000
Lease liabilties HE&E 25 2,661 3,851
Deferred income FEIEWA 26 4019 6,266
6,680 75,117
Net Assets BEFH 795,645 1,126,049

Capital and Reserves BRAER &
Share capital PR 28 6 6
Reserves i 795,639 1,126,043
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ARAEE AEIGER 795,645 1,126,049

The consolidated financial statements on pages 128 to 252 were approved and authorised FBIBENENGAEVBERRELESZERN

for issue by the board of directors on 14 April 2022 and is signed on its behalf by: 2002F4 B 14 BHUEFBHETIE - WHIATE
EREEE
Hu Xiang
EES
DIRECTOR
£
1 30 MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GERRBBHRE

For the year ended 3| December 2021
HZ0ENA3IBILFE

Statutory
Enterprise surplus Share
Share Share  expansion reserve Special option  Retained
capital  premium fund fund reserve reserve earnings Total
TERE  EERH
Bx  R&EE ig B RIEE BRERE REEN @zt
RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARMTRL AREBTR AR®TR ARMTR ARETRT ARETR AR%TR ARMTR
(note a) (note b) (note b) (notec)  (note 29)
(Frzta)  (Wakb)  (B¥akb)  (MiRE)  (W&E29)
At | January 2019 R19%51 A18 6 419711 3034 67,702 2999 25,761 652215 1171428
(Loss) and the total comprehensive R (BB kzE
expense for the year gt - - - - - - 9813 (9813)
Transfer ELE - - - 2288 - - (2288) -
Transfer of share option reserve upon PR YRR iR 82
forfeiture of share options BERERE - - - - - (575) 375 -
Dividends recognised as distribution BRED KA S
(note 12) (FizE12) - (15080) - - - - - (15080)
Repurchase and cancellation of shares BE R
(note 28) (BizE28) - (486) - - - - - (486)
At 31 December 2020 R2020£ 124318 6 404,145 3034 69990 2999 25,186 620689 1,126049
(Loss) and the total comprehensive £E(BR) R2E
expense for the year gt - - - - - - (3u0h (329700
Transfer 3 - - - 3 - - (32) -
Transfer of share option reserve upon TR YRR RS 82
forfeiture of share options BERERR - - - - - 2.391) 2391 -
Repurchase and cancellation of shares RO Rk
(note 28) (izE28) - (666) - - - - - (666)
Repurchase of shares (note 28) frtr el (FizEos) - 37) - - - - - 37)
At 31 December 2021 021 12A318 6 403442 3034 70022 2999 22,795 293347 795,645

BEtkB#RAERAL2A
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GERERBBHRE

For the year ended 3| December 2021
BEIFA3IBLEFE

Notes:

@

(®)

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands (2009 Revision), the share premium of the
Company may be applied for redemption or purchase of any shares of the Company, payment of
distributions or dividends to shareholders provided that immediately following the date on which
the distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, payment of its debts as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business. During the year ended 31 December 2020, dividends were paid out

of its share premium.

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"),
the Company's PRC subsidiaries are required to maintain statutory reserve. Appropriations to such
reserve are made out of net profit after tax reported in the statutory financial statements of the
PRC subsidiaries while the amounts and allocation basis are decided by their respective boards of
directors annually. The statutory reserve can be used to make up their prior year losses, if any, and
can be applied in conversion into capital by means of capitalisation issue or expanding the capital

base of the PRC subsidiaries by means of capitalisation issue.

Special reserve represents the difference between the paid-in capital of EEEL R&REAT ORI A
fE 2 &) MOBI Antenna Technologies (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (“MOBI Shenzhen”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, and the nominal value of the Company's shares issued in connection
with the acquisition of MOBI Shenzhen. MOBI Shenzhen was acquired pursuant to the group
restructuring completed on 19 December 2002, at which time the Company entered into an

equity transfer agreement for the acquisition of the entire equity interest in MOBI Shenzhen.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GERERER

For the year ended 3| December 2021
HZ0ENA3IBILFE

2021 2020
2021 20205
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARETR
OPERATING ACTIVITIES e
(Loss) before tax BiAl (E18) (308,038) (43,388)
Adjustments for: SATEBEL AR
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BERREITE 31,852 36,329
Impairment loss on the Identified Long-live Assets ERRIRPEENRERR 60,916 -
Amortisation of intangible assets mILEESH 20,688 17,161
Write-down of inventories TFEMOR 69,211 16,426
Unrealised exchange losses REBELEE 10,299 6416
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 7,067 6,061
Finance costs B 7,692 5292
Impairment losses under ECL model, net of reversal HHEEEBRER T
REEE - MR 4,185 1,550
Fair value change on derivative financial instruments TEemIAATES ,454 1,349
(Gain) loss on disposals of property, plant and equipment HEME - BFEREHED (W)
ER (17) 637
Share of results of associates JELERE N ARG 476 406
Interest income from bank deposits RATEHFEMA (5,127) (2920)
Government grants related to assets HEERBENRIHEDE (2,513) (3971)
Cash discount from suppliers upon settlement REBRREHERHNE TN - (12)
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital ~ Kt & BB 2 ZEFNLERERE (101,875) 41,336
Increase in inventories e (12,307) (4,752)
Decrease in trade and other receivables g5 R E MR TR 63,587 85,847
Decrease in trade and other payables H 5 KA MR BRFOR (23,134) (38976)
Increase in contract liabilities BHAGEEM 6,075 1,066
Settlement for derivative financial instruments HETEERIA (2,836) -
Cash (used in) generated from operations me () mERe (70,490) 84,521
Taxation paid SN2 (10) (1

ELERERLA
20214 3§
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GERERER

For the year ended 3| December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

2021 2020
2021 F 20205
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARETTT

NET CASH (USED IN) FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  #8%&)&8) (FTH) E4AH & 558 (70,500) 84,510
INVESTING ACTIVITIES KREEE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEME  BELRE (27,165) (63947)
Withdrawal of pledged bank balances R ERRITAEER (41,120) 145,452
Development costs paid and capitalised ENREREERKAE (19,692) (17,200)
Deposits paid for purchase of plant and equipment HEERE MREX RS (13,240) (11,671)
Redemption of (placement of) pledged bank balances BO (FE) EEARITHAR 81,769 (121,194)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEWE - BEKRENMERIE 9,435 35,291
Interest received BUCHE 5,127 2,920
Capital contribution to an associate A —fEEE RAIHE = (930)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES KERETAR S FE (4,886) (31,279)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEED
Repayments of bank borrowings EBRITER (99,575) (114,170)
Interest paid ERFE (6,906) (5292)
Repayments of lease liabilities EEHEaE (6,775) (5,187)
New bank and other borrowings raised FTILIRIT R E A AR 72,277 179,863
Repurchase of shares DR (703) (486)
Dividends paid BERRE - (19212)
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  BbE &S (FTH) FTiiSR & 548 (41,682) 35516
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND RekReZBWHE ORL) 5

CASH EQUIVALENTS (117,068) 88,747
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT | JANUARY RIAIBNRE KR EEFEY 371,930 292411
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES INEREREEHTE (4316) (9.228)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER, R 12831 BHIRE RIS EED
REPRESENTED BY BANK BALANCES AND CASH (BNSR1TTHEH KRR ) 250,546 371,930

1 34 MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2021



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

MOBI Development Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) is a public limited company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (“The Stock Exchange”) on 17 December 2009. The address
of its registered office is Maples Corporate Services Limited P.O. Box 309, Ugland
House, Grand Cayman KYI-1104, Cayman Islands and its principal place of business
is 7 Langshan First Road, Science and Technology Park, Nanshan District, Shenzhen,
Guangdong Province, the PRC.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are

production and sale of antennas and radio frequency subsystems.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB"), which is

also the functional currency of the Company and its principal subsidiaries.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™) for
the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual periods beginning on

or after | January 2021 for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendment to HKFRS 16

BERMBHEERFE 1657 (BRI X)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16
BRMBHELER LT - BEGALERE395

BRRGMELAETH - BERBERELF45H R
BB RELEE 165 (BRTAK)

ELERERLA
20214 3§

mEMBHRRME

For year ended 31 December 2021
HZ0ENA3IBILFE

—REHR

BEHBERERAR ([ARA]) BER
EREEMKINDRBERAA -
BR2009F 12817 HHEBRERA
SHAERRAE (TBRA]) L
o 37 5 B2 /0 Hb ik A5 Maples Corporate
Services Limited P.O. Box 309, Ugland
House, Grand Cayman KYI-1104, Cayman
lslands * EF EEEMB RTHEERE
ARYE LB ERL —H 758

h:[t ><>}/ /|

N

<

ARABIREFRA([AEE TR
EBREENBEERG R BRES AT
ES

BRVBHRRAARE (TARK] 2
5o ARBTEZARRRATEFAF
KR EH -

ERERMKREER ([EEHE
HREER ) BETR
AEERHERCEBHBREENS
S

RAFE - AEBERRERGENER
KEAERBEASHMAE ([B5g
SRR ) iz TIIEE BN RS
RRIZIER] - BRAERTR2021 51 A 1A
5.2 14516 2 G IE HARSA I AR

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
WIOEMRSHBESESR

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2
FIRERENE - F R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (Cont'd)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year
(Cont'd)

In addition, the Group applied the agenda decision of the IFRS Interpretations of
the International Accounting Standards Board issued in June 2021 which clarified
the costs of an entity should include as “estimated costs necessary to make the

sale” when determining the net realisable value of inventories.

The application of the amendments HKFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group's financial positions and performance for the current and prior

years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs

that have been issued but are not yet effective:

2.

EREEUBHREER (EBHKE
HREER ) BRTR(E)
EEERNERZEBUBREELS
HENE 7

Mo AEEEARB S ENZES
2 BB s i s M B R R 2021 56 A
BHROBEERTE  HEEEBRETR
B ERFERBEIEETHERS
ZIBETRCAR ] BIRA o

RAEERBEBMHRE LR ZEFT
REAEBENE B LB EFE 2 B HIR
RERAR / FEEERIBBRERM
HBBEIEBATE -

ERMEERER T ERMBRE
EARERMBHRELEIETE
REBEYERFEM IS BMEER
M B EwE R LA BN
BREEAETA -

HKFRS 17

BAMBMEERE 175

Amendments to HKFRS 3

BEBWBRELERE3 (BFTAK)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

BB BIMEERE 105 REBG LR
ELEACHES)

Amendment to HKFRS 16

BERPBHEERF 165% (BRI X)

Amendments to HKAS |

BRGHERE 5 (BFTA)

Amendments to HKAS | and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

BRI ERE  RREBUERELER
EBmER2T (BFTAR)

Insurance Contracts and the related Amendments®

Riga# RAEBIER]

Reference to the Conceptual Framework?

B ER MR

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture®
REEHEABERANAEREZRNEEHESTE

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021

2021 F6 A30A%R019BRASHEBHESEE'

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)°

BEVBRRBAIERIARBTERESRH (20205F) 2 HRER]

Disclosure of Accounting Policies®

EHEE Y RE

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRRME

For year ended 31 December 2021
HZ0ENA3IBILFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. ERTEAMEREERDN (BFEMK

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Contd)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Cont d)

Amendments to HKAS 8

BB ERES (BRI X)
Amendments to HKAS 12

BB GERIE 125 (BATA)
Amendments to HKAS 16

BB GTERE 1658 (BFIA)
Amendments to HKAS 37

BB GERIE7H (BATA)
Amendments to HKFRSs
BERPBHEER (BFTAK)

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | April 2021.

2

3

4

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2022.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2023.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined

WEER N ERTA ()
EREMENRERZHTERYBRE
EAREBUBHEENBTE ()
Definition of Accounting Estimates’

SHERTZER’

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction®
RE-RGELZEENABRBNETHE

Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before Intended Use?

WE - B k&R - BEREA SR

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract?

EEAH - BITAKMBA

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018 — 20207

BAM B EER2018F 22020 FEH 2 FEKHE?

P02 F4 R 1 Bz & Rte 2 FEERM
R o

2 M00F 1 BIBS 2 &Rts 2 FE B
R o

; R2023%F 1 A1 BEZ &%k FEHH
G

C O REEASRZENEZFENEE
o

ARRERERY - EAMEEMIEE

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all other new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated financial

statements in the foreseeable future.

ELERERLA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary
users. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong

Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical
cost basis except for certain financial instruments that are measured at fair
values at the end of reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies

set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given

in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable
or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of
the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics
into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair
value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based
payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 16 and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but
are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value
in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets (“"HKAS 36").

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements (Cont d)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a
market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset
in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that

would use the asset in its highest and best use.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are
categorised into Level |, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to
the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs

to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

. Level | inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the

measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within
Level I, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or

indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

ELERERLA
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For year ended 31 December 2021
HZ0ENA3IBILFE

GEUMBBRNEREEREAS
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3.1
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

32

Significant accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of
the Company and entities controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.

Control is achieved when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable retumns from its involvement with

the investee; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three

elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over
the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary.
Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control

until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are attributed

to the owners of the Company.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the Group's

accounting policies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Basis of consolidation (Cont'd)

Al intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full

on consolidation.

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those

policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these
consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting. The
financial statements of associates used for equity accounting purposes are
prepared using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity method,
an investment in an associate is initially recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of
the associate. Changes in net assets of the associates other than profit or
loss and other comprehensive income are not accounted for unless such
changes resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When
the Group's share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group's interest in
that associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form
part of the Group's net investment in the associate), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only
to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations

or made payments on behalf of the associate.
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For year ended 31 December 2021
HZ0ENA3IBILFE
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Investments in associates (Cont'd)

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity method from
the date on which the investee becomes an associate. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate, any excess of the cost of the investment over the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of
the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period

in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the interest
in an associate may be impaired. When any objective evidence exists,
the entire carrying amount of the investment is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable
amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with
its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to
any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of the
investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance
with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment

subsequently increases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Investments in associates (Cont'd)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate, it
is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in the investee with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When the Group
retains an interest in the former associate and the retained interest is a
financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS
9"), the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and
the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition. The difference
between the carrying amount of the associate and the fair value of any
retained interest and any proceeds from disposing the relevant interest in
the associate is included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal
of the associate. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that associate on
the same basis as would be required if that associate had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities,
the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a
reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant

associate,

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits and
losses resulting from the transactions with the associate are recognised in the
Group's consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in

the associate that are not related to the Group.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is
satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying the particular

performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of
goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that

are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant

performance obligation if one of the following critenia is met:

. the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits

provided by the Group's performance as the Group performs;

. the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset that the

customer controls as the Group performs; or

. the Group's performance does not create an asset with an alternative
use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment

for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer

obtains control of the distinct good or service.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Cont d)

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration in exchange
for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a customer that
is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance with
HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the Group's unconditional right
to consideration, ie. only the passage of time is required before payment of

that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer goods or
services to a customer for which the Group has received consideration (or

an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract are

accounted for and presented on a net basis

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress towards complete
satisfaction of a performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation
is measured based on output method, which is to recognise revenue on
the basis of direct measurements of the value of the goods or services
transferred to the customer to date relative to the remaining goods
or services promised under the contract, that best depict the Group's

performance in transferring control of goods or services.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for

consideration.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Leases (Cont d)

Definition of a lease (Cont d)

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial
application or arising from business combinations, the Group assesses
whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition under
HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the

contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the

non-lease components.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the recognition exemption
for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis

or another systematic basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Leases (Cont d)

The Group as a lessee (Contd)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

. any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less

any lease incentives received;

. any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

. an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling
and removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which it is
located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by

the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease

liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain
ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the lease term
are depreciated from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over

the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the

consolidated statement of financial position.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Leases (Cont d)

The Group as a lessee (Contd)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 and initially
measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-

use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and measures
the lease liability at the present value of lease payments that are unpaid at
that date. In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses
the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the

interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed

payments) less any lease incentives receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest

accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) when the lease term has
changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase
option, in which case the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the date of

reassessment.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the

consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Leases (Cont d)

The Group as a lessee (Contd)

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

. the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right

to use one or more underlying assets; and

. the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in scope
and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect

the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, the
Group remeasures the lease liability less any lease incentives receivable,
based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the

modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by making
corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset. When the
modified contract contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the modified contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative
stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone

price of the non-lease components.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Leases (Cont d)

The Group as a lessee (Contd)

Changes in the basis for determining the future lease payments as a result of
interest rate benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the future lease payments as a result
of interest rate benchmark reform, the Group applies the practical expedient
to remeasure the lease liabilities by discounting the revised lease payments
using the unchanged discount rate and makes a corresponding adjustment
to the related right-of-use assets. A lease modification is required by interest

rate benchmark reform if, and only if, both of these conditions are met:

. the modification is necessary as a direct consequence of interest rate

benchmark reform; and

. the new basis for determining the lease payments is economically
equivalent to the previous basis (i.e. the basis immediately preceding

the modification).

Covid- | 9-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct consequence of the
Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has elected to apply the practical expedient
not to assess whether the change is a lease modification if all of the following

conditions are met:

. the change in lease payments results in revised consideration for the
lease that is substantially the same as, or less than, the consideration

for the lease immediately preceding the change;

. any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally due
on or before 30 June 2021; and
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Leases (Cont d)

The Group as a lessee (Contd)

Covid-19-related rent concessions (Cont d)

. there is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the

lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for changes in lease
payments resuting from rent concessions the same way it would account for
the changes applying HKFRS 16 if the changes are not a lease modification.
Forgiveness or waiver of lease payments are accounted for as variable lease
payments. The related lease liabilities are adjusted to reflect the amounts
forgiven or waived with a corresponding adjustment recognised in the profit

or loss in the period in which the event occurs.

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or operating
leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee,
the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as

operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term except for investment

properties measured under fair value model.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Leases (Cont d)

The Group as a lessor (Cont d)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease components, the Group
applies HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“"HKFRS 15”)
to allocate consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease components.
Non-lease components are separated from lease component on the basis of

their relative stand-alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits
Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under HKFRS 9 and
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition

are considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not part of the
original terms and conditions are accounted for as lease modifications,
including lease incentives provided through forgiveness or reduction of

rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a new
lease from the effective date of the modification, considering any prepaid
or accrued lease payments relating to the original lease as part of the lease

payments for the new lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of

historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on
the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in the

period in which they arise.

Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which

they are incurred.

Government grants
Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance
that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to them and that

the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over
the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses the related costs
for which the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, government
grants whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase, construct
or otherwise acquire non-current assets are recognised as deferred income
in the consolidated statement of financial position and transferred to profit
or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related

assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Government grants (Cont d)

Government grants related to income that are receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable.

Such grants are presented under “other income”.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to the state-owned retirement benefit schemes and the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) which are classified as
defined contribution plans are recognised as an expense when employee

have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted amount
of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees rendered the
services. All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the

cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as wages
and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting any amount already

paid.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share option granted to employees
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing
similar services are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at

the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments determined at
the grant date without taking into consideration all non-market vesting
conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based
on the Group's estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest,
with a corresponding increase in equity (share options reserve). At the end
of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of
equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant
non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative
expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to

the share option reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in
share option reserve will be transferred to share premium. When the share
options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share option reserve will

be transferred to retained earnings.
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For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and

deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from profit/loss before tax because of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting

period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying
amount of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and
the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can
be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial

recognition of goodwill.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Taxation (Cont'd)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse

in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to

be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying

amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions in which
the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the related lease liabilities,
the Group first determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to

the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Taxation (Cont'd)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable to the
lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes requirements
to the leasing transaction as a whole. Temporary differences relating to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis. Excess of
depreciation on right-of-use assets over the lease payments for the principal

portion of lease liabilities resufting in net deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by

the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when
they relates to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the

business combination.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes
(other than plant and machinery under construction as described below).
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and

subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Property, plant and equipment (Cont d)

Plant and machinery in the course of construction for production, supply or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment
loss. Costs include any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to
the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs
capitalised in accordance with the Group's accounting policy. Depreciation of
these assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences when

the assets are ready for their intended use.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of properties
which includes both leasehold land and building elements, the entire
consideration is allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition. To the
extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably, interest
in leasehold land that is accounted for as an operating lease is presented
as “right-of-use assets” in the consolidated statement of financial position.
When the consideration cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease
building element and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land, the

entire properties are classified as property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets other than
construction in progress less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective

basis.

ELERERLA
20214 3§

mEMBHRRME

For year ended 31 December 2021
HZ0ENA3IBILFE

GEUMBBRNEREEREAS
ATBE (&)

32

ERERBE(E)

¥ BERZE(E)
EREE - HRESITHAENE
RS N M 2R R A AR ] 2
RBEBBARK - KABREEE
EEIENRREERRENT
ARREE MU BN E R IRITF
B REEMEMRA - MER
ARBEREEMS - BEXARIE
AEEGHBRENL - ZFE
ERFAERERERRGRER
tREERRNERNE

EASERMENEEERES
(BREEELHRBTED) (5K
B 2BRERNRELHRET
20 2 MR VIA HER IS B AR E A
FENLADE - EARRE MR
ERISEDERIERT - ARSI A
REHENEELERINGS
AR BED 25 R £ HE
BE|  EREEZEHEBHEEL
R IFHEEF RN MR D B4
HZEAESRE  BEVED
BRNE  BERRE -

PRERTIRIAIMIBERMGER]
ERERHUEREERINE - N
MSHE AR (FORRER TMEETR) ©
fEATAIEMEH ~ SR MEBEKT
ETERZ 2RBRIRE - E[
fhEt BT ERIAREEAR -

159



160
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For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Property, plant and equipment (Cont d)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued
use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is

recognised in profit or loss.

Intangible assets

Internally-generated intangible assets — research and development
expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period

in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development activities
(or from the development phase of an internal project) is recognised if, and

only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

. the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will

be available for use or sale;

. the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

. the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

. how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic
benefits;

. the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to

complete the development and to use or sell the intangible asset; and
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Intangible assets (Contd)

Internally-generated intangible assets — research and development
expenditure (Contd)

. the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the

intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible asset is
the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when the intangible
asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above. Where no intemally-
generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is

recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible assets are
reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment

losses (if any).

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts
of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets with
finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine

the extent of the impairment loss, if any.
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For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets (Cont d)

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets are estimated individually. When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the

recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporates assets are
allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units to which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared
with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of

cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of future

cash flows have not been adjusted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets (Cont d)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group
compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units, including
the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment
loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of cash-
generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use
(if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss

is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
(or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) in prior years.

A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs of
inventories are determined on a weighted average method. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary
to make the sale include incremental costs directly attributable to the sale

and non-incremental costs which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or
constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be
required to settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the

amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of the
reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding
the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated
to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of

those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. All regular
way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame

established by regulation or convention in the market place.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Financial instruments (Cont d)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value
except for trade receivables arising from contracts with customers which are
initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15, Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or

financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost
of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest income and
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial

recognition.

Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently

measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is

to collect contractual cash flows; and
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont d)

Financial instruments (Cont d)

Financial assets (Cont d)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (Cont @)

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount

outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently

measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is

achieved by both selling and collecting contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount

outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except that
at initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect
to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in
other comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither held for
trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business

combination to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

. it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near
term; or
. on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial

instruments that the Group manages together and has a recent actual

pattemn of short-term profit-taking; or
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Financial instruments (Cont d)

Financial assets (Cont d)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (Cont @)

it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging

instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that are

required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at

FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for
financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost and debt
instruments/receivables subsequently measured at FVTOCI. Interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from the next reporting period. If the credit
risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting
period following the determination that the asset is no longer credit-

impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont d)

Financial instruments (Cont d)

Financial assets (Cont d)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (Cont @)

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at

amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are measured at

FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes

any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is included

in the “other gains and losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under

HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit
loss ("ECL") model on financial assets (including trade receivables, other
receivables, pledged bank balances, and bank balances) which are subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at

each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Financial instruments (Cont d)

Financial assets (Cont d)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Cont d)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default
events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In contrast,
I2-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected
to result from default events that are possible within |2 months after the
reporting date. Assessment are done based on the Group's historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at

the reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables without

significant financing component.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to
[2-month ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial

recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont d)

Financial instruments (Cont d)

Financial assets (Cont d)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under

HKFRS 9 (Cont d)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking

information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when

assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial

instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

. significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit
risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit

default swap prices for the debtor;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Financial instruments (Cont d)
Financial assets (Cont d)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Cont d)
(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Cont d@)
. existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant

decrease in the debtor's ability to meet its debt obligations;

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating

results of the debtor;

. an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor's

ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information

that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to
identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable
of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount

becomes past due.

ELERERLA
20214 3§

For year ended 31 December 2021
HZ0ENA3IBILFE

GEUMBBRNEREEREAS

TR (8)

32 BAEHEEK(E)
SRITAE)
EHEE (&)

AREBEEEMBREERNEIRT
PORERHE £ R EERIE ()

0

EERBAIEZN (&)

o EB MBSREER
EIR A IR A F
2 (B eENE
BABRTTEEBAE
HIBE AR &)

. EBAEEEEER
SEMEEE

- EBANEE  LF
HEMRENERK
REHERTHES
BHEBABITHEE
BEEHNENKET

f% o

Aim LR ER WA
Kﬁlﬁ&ééﬁﬁﬁﬁ
HIBB30AK - FER
Q%Kﬁ%u%aﬁ%%
e EARERSEAR
XF R ERERARI o

A5 B BB R A AR
EERERA S KEE M
BEZ M - BERIRE
(MEE) REEREZER
SR ENEERR
AIRIZAN

171



172

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Financial instruments (Cont d)

Financial assets (Cont d)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under

HKFRS 9 (Cont d)

(i)

(i

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event
of default occurs when information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any

collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to

demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that
financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-

impaired includes observable data about the following events:

(@)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Financial instruments (Cont d)

Financial assets (Cont d)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Cont d)

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets (Cont d)

(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower's financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)

would not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e)  the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset

because of financial difficulties.

(iv)  Write-off policy
The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery. Financial assets written
off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group's
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any

subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Cont d)
Financial instruments (Cont d)
Financial assets (Cont d)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Cont d)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default,
loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data and forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the respective

risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the

effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are considered on a
collective basis taking into consideration past due information and
relevant credit information such as forward looking macroeconomic

information.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Financial instruments (Cont d)

Financial assets (Cont d)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Cont d)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Cont'd)

For collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration the

following characteristics when formulating the grouping;

. Past-due status;

. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

. External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the
constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk

characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit impaired, in which
case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of the

financial asset.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights
to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to

another entity.

ELERERLA
20214 3§

For year ended 31 December 2021
HZ0ENA3IBILFE

GEUMBBRNEREEREAS

TR (8)

32 BAEHEEK(E)
SRITAE)
EHEE (&)

AREBEEEMBREERNEIRT
PARERHER 2 R E ER(E (&)

V)

BHEEBRNERE
RE

AEERERFEHEA
RIS #E A T RE

< EEHOR

« BEBANME  R/E
BiT%E R

C OB ETR (Y
)

FRIGKEEEE R
&+ DAREGR AR I X 1 4
BOREBUEERBEL -

FaRAReRARNS
BEEHE  BERLR
AEHBREEHE  AIF
BUARS BB E NS
RO -

BURR e REE
AREEREERSRENGH
BNEMAEEEeREETE
BRAHDEEMARERR KL
BT 5 —EBE - TEIURER
TREE -

175



176

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Financial instruments (Cont d)

Financial assets (Cont d)

Derecognition of financial assets (Cont d)

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the
difference between the asset's carrying amount and the sum of the

consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial labilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as
equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and

the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the
assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue

costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and
deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company's own equity

instruments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Financial instruments (Cont d)

Financial liabilities and equity (Cont d)

Equity instruments (Cont d)

Financial liabilities

Al financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the

effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables and bank and other
borrowings) are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective

interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the
Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the

consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows as a result of
interest rate benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows of a
financial asset or financial liability to which the amortised cost measurement
applies as a result of interest rate benchmark reform, the Group applies the
practical expedient to account for these changes by updating the effective
interest rate, such change in effective interest rate normally has no significant
effect on the carrying amount of the relevant financial asset or financial

liability.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

32

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Financial instruments (Cont d)

Financial liabilities and equity (Cont d)

Changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows as a result of
interest rate benchmark reform (Cont'd)

A change in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows is required

by interest rate benchmark reform if and only if, both these conditions are

met:

. the change is necessary as a direct consequence of interest rate
benchmark reform; and

. the new basis for determining the contractual cash flows is

economically equivalent to the previous basis (ie the basis immediately

preceding the change).

Denvative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when derivative
contracts are entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their
fair value at the end of the reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is

recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the net amount
presented in the consolidated statement of financial position when, and
only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the
recognised amounts; and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise

the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are described in note
3, the directors of the Company are required to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.

Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the

revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see
below), that the directors of the Company have made in the process of applying
the Group's accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the

amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Capitalisation of development costs

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of the Group's development costs
amounted to RMB35.5 million (2020: RMB24.5 million), which are not ready for
the intended use, were included in intangible assets. The capitalisation involved
management’s judgement in assessing of whether technical and commercial
feasibility of each project had been achieved. Technical feasibility are evaluated
based on testing results of products and commercial feasibility are evaluated based
on forecast with assumptions on revenue to be generated, budget costs to be

incurred and relevant market analysis of the relevant product.
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For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Contd)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that may have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets

and liabilities within the next financial year.

Allowance for inventories

The Group provided an allowance for inventories based on an assessment of
the net realisable value of inventories. Allowance is applied to inventories where
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the net realisable value is lower
than the cost of inventories. The identification of obsolete inventories requires the
use of judgment and estimates on the conditions and usefulness of the inventories.
The management may consider the aging analysis, technology development of
the industry, net realisable value for obsolete and slow-moving inventories that
are no longer suitable for use in operation and subsequent sales or usage. Where
the actual outcome or expectation of the net realisable value of inventories
is different from the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying
value of inventories and allowance for inventories in the period in which such
estimate has changed. The carrying amount of inventories at 31 December 2021 is
RMB213,112,000, net of allowance of RMBI32,773,000 (2020: RMB270,017,000,
net of allowance of RMB63,562,000).

Provision of ECL for trade receivables
Trade receivables with significant balances and credit impaired are assessed for ECL

individually.

In addition, for trade receivables which are individually insignificant or when the
Group does not have reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort to measure ECL on individual basis, collective
assessment is performed by grouping debtors based on the Group's internal credit

ratings.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2021

4.

R TR EENERS T HE R
TEXRR(E)

it TRERE 2 T EHRR
ATARIRERR - FlatiBREARRR
NBAST—EMBEEEERAED
RHEFLERAENEHARNEE
Rex Rt MEEE R HME Z K
iR o

FERRE

AEEAFER ERFENTER/EE
REFERE - HWAFHRERECE
R ER A 2RFEERKA - AIZA%H

FEHERE - REFTENHRIAER
HEEMR RS AT AIEL £ 15 &

it o EREA R ERRR AN - 175
FilrEBARTBEES AREE REE
HERFANRERBHTFENTER

FE  WFEAERFENERERY
FEERR AR - BREERTE
BRE LR ESNRRANTFERF
EREBEREE - N200F 128318 &
EREREEARARE213,112,0007T (0
BRIBEM A R 132,773,0007T) (20204

AR#270,017,0007C (R EARE
63,562,0007T)) °

B RRES R EERER
RAEERNEHRLEERENE 5 RYR
S ERFHAETRAIEEES -

BEoh - SERIFEERE 5 EKEER A

SEVEAERIRNBAMNDIBZRK

A N EENESRERNEENE

ﬁ%ﬁf%% BREASBERBEET
C HEBAD ER TR o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Contd)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont d)

Provision of ECL for trade receivables (Cont d)

The Group uses collective assessment to calculate the lifetime ECL for the trade
receivables through groupings of various debtors of same credit rating. Trade
receivables within same internal credit rating have similar loss patterns after
considering of ageing, repayment history and past due status of respective trade
receivables, The estimated loss rates are based on the Group's historical default
rates over the expected life of the debtors and taking into consideration forward-
looking information that is reasonable and supportable available without undue
costs or effort. At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are

reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The information about
the ECL is disclosed in note 33 and the details of the Group's trade receivables is
disclosed in note 20.

Estimated impairment of Identified Long-lived Assets (as defined below)

Certain long-lived assets are related to the Group's business of sales of the antenna
system and related products, base station RF subsystem and related products and
coverage extension solution and related products, comprising certain property,
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets (the “Identified Long-
lived Assets™). In determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to
exercise judgment and make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an
event has occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset value; (2) whether
the carrying value of an asset can be supported by the recoverable amount, in
the case of value in use, the net present value of future cash flows which are
estimated based upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate
key assumptions to be applied in estimating the value in use including cash flow
projections and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the assets belongs, including allocation
of corporate assets when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, otherwise recoverable amount is determined at the smallest group of
cash generating units, for which the relevant corporate assets have been allocated.
Changing the assumptions and estimates, including the discount rates or the growth

rate in the cash flow projections, could materially affect the recoverable amounts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Contd)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Contd)

Estimated impairment of Identified Long-lived Assets (as defined below) (Cont d)

The recoverable amounts of the Identified Long-lived Assets have been determined
by the management of the Group by value in use calculation on the basis of the
cash-generating unit to which these assets belong. The value in use calculation
uses financial budgets based on past performance and expectation for market
development, where the key input parameters include growth rates and discount
rates. The Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
as it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of each of the Identified
Long-lived Assets individually. Where the expected future cash flows arising from
the relevant cash generating units differ from the original estimation, an impairment
loss may arise. Details of the recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in note

14.

As at 31 December 2021, the aggregate carrying amount of Identified Long-lived
Assets was RMB404,220,000 (2020: RMB426,142,000), after taking into account
the impairment losses of RMB60,9 16,000 (2020: nil).

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the chief executive officer of the Company, being the chief
operating decision maker (“CODM"), for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance focuses on types of goods sold or services

provided.

The Group’s reportable and operating segments under HKFRS 8 are as follows:

Antenna system — manufacturing and sales of antenna system and related products
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd)

The Group’s reportable and operating segments under HKFRS 8 are as follows:
(Contd)

Base station Radio Frequency (“RF”) subsystem — manufacturing and sales of base

station RF subsystem and related products

Coverage extension solution — manufacturing and sales of a wide array of coverage

products

Performance obligations for contracts with customers

All of the Group's revenue except for revenue from provision of engineering
procurement construction is recognised when goods are delivered or picked up,
being the time when the customers obtain control over the antenna system and
related products, base station RF subsystem and related products and coverage

extension solution.

The Group provides engineering procurement construction services to customers.
Such services are recognised as a performance obligation satisfied over time as
the Group creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced. Revenue is recognised for these construction services based
on the stage of completion of the contract using output method. Contracts with

the Group's customers are agreed in fixed-price.

All the Group's contracts have an original expected duration of one year or less.
As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to the remaining

performance obligation of these contracts is not disclosed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd) 5. WARZHER (&)
Information of segment revenues and segment results EHEIBUARD BEENER
2021 2020
2021 £ 20206
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBETT
Segment revenues 2 EBBA
Antenna system NS 183,256 453,729
Base station RF subsystem EUbSTET R4t 360,316 254,899
Coverage extension solution BELHAR 117,817 175913
661,389 884,541
Timing of revenue recognition LON AT
A point in time PR AR R R 661,389 864,094
Over time R — B R MR - 20,447
661,389 884,541
Segment results DEEE
Antenna system PN ¥ (95,104) 53611
Base station RF subsystem EURGHIRF R A (70,090) 8,583
Coverage extension solution BERMFAR (94) 28,159
(165,288) 90,353
Reconciliation of segment results to (loss) before tax: D EPEZEF AT (F518) ¥R
Impairment losses under ECL model, net of reversal FEHIEEBRRA THRE
B8 - MERER (4,185) (1550)
Other income and expenses, other gain and loss Hp WA RFAX - Bl &k
i 24,860 25214
Unallocated corporate expenses RO ER (153,803) (150,358)
Finance costs B (7,692) (5292)
Fair value change on derivative financial instruments TEemIAATES (1,454) (1,349)
Share of results of associates - YNCIE - (476) (406)
(Loss) before tax Al (E518) (308,038) (43,388)
Other segment information HittpHER
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment: WE - BB NREITE
Antenna system PN EN 12,649 12,764
Base station RF subsystem HUETIET R 6,381 6,997
Coverage extension solution BERMERR 1,172 1,688
Segment total DEbAEET 20,202 21,449
Unallocated amount ADEER 11,650 14,880
Group total SEMEE 31,852 36,329
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

For year ended 31 December 2021
HZ0ENA3IBILFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd)

Information of segment revenues and segment results (Cont d)

WA D ERER ()

AR BRARD BREEANER (E)

2021 2020
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%®TR ARETT
Research and development expenses: MERY
Antenna system PN ¥ L 66,663 62,881
Base station RF subsystem B GHAT R4t 39,754 30,965
Coverage extension solution BERMFERR 14,762 15751
Group total (note a) KB (fisra) 121,179 109,597
Amortisation of intangible assets: BEESH
Antenna system KIGZER 7,578 10,988
Base station RF subsystem BULGHEF 24t 13,090 6,173
Group total B 20,668 17,161
Allowance for inventories FEERE
Antenna system PN EN 18,555 5,701
Base station RF subsystem EIhGHET R4t 44,562 10,089
Coverage extension solution BELRAR 6,094 636
Group total (note a) SEEsT (Fita) 69,211 16,426
Impairment losses on Long-lived Assets REOBEENREESE
Antenna system PN E L 46,887 -
Base station RF subsystem EIGHAT R4t 7,089 -
Coverage extension solution BELRAR 6,940 -
Group total (note a) SE@s (M) 60,916 -

Notes:

() Amounts included in the measure of segment results.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd)

Information of segment revenues and segment results (Cont d)

Revenues reported above represent revenues generated from external customers.
There are no inter-segment sales for the years ended 31 December 2021 and

2020.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as the Group's
accounting policies described in note 3. The Group does not allocate impairment
losses under ECL model, net of reversal, other income and expenses, other gain
and loss, unallocated corporate expenses, finance costs, fair value change on
derivative financial instruments and share of results of associates to individual
reportable segments when making decisions about resources to be allocated to
the segments and assessing their performance. This is the measure reported to the

CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.

No segment information on assets and liabilities is presented as such information
is not reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and

performance assessment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

For year ended 31 December 2021
BZ021 F12A31ALLFE

WA D EER (&)
REEFENNUAREREND R

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers and information about

products

Revenues from each group of products within the operating segments are as

HARERARIHBALIT :

follows:
2021 2020
2021 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BTR ARBTT
Segments x|
Antenna system ABRE
Multi-band/multi-system antennas L VS N 45,055 172,984
5G antennas SGREF 54,213 126,056
WCDMA/FDD-LTE single-band/multi-band antennas WCDMA/FDD-LTEE 48,/
ZIRR 24,578 63,199
Low-band refarming/loT antennas RIEEH /M ERE 20,759 37,140
Microwave antennas R RAR 15,696 13,757
Multi-Beam antennas EE TN 11,473 5,883
FDD+TDD antennas FDD+TDDA#LR 4,193 3,290
AAU antennas AAUZ BEX IR 507 353
Other antennas HA R4 6,782 31,067
183,256 453,729
Base station RF subsystem RS FA
WCDMAV/LTE RF devices WCDMA/LTESTSBEE 1 309,656 216,876
TD/TD-LTE RF devices TO/TD-LTES SRR 1+ 16,712 28,307
GSM RF devices GSMETSBER 1+ 4309 4998
Low-band refarming/loT RF devices SRR,/ s A8 5T SRR 2,423 3522
5G RF devices SGEEBET 4 16,050 911
Other devices Hfbast 11,166 285
360,316 254,899
Coverage extension solution BEEMEE
Aesthetic antennas &N 99,925 80,376
Customer premise equipment B P iimE 1,217 67,382
Engineering procurement construction AR 3,654 20,477
Access point BEAR 2,452 1,530
Small cel (6372 5,145 1312
Other products Hoh 2 o 5,424 4836
117,817 175913
661,389 884,541
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Contd) 5. WARSHER(E)
Information about major customers FHRTEEFNER
Revenues from customers of the corresponding years contributing over 10% of the RENEBFEHAREERABEER
total revenue of the Group are as follows: BB 0% EFPERANT
2021 2020
2021 20206
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETT

Customer A EPA 255,118 198,745
Customer B! EFB 194,632 27267
Revenue from antenna system and base station RF subsystem. RERBEG REUG T ZREW
Ao
Geographical information HhEEE
Information about the Group's revenue from external customers is presented BUAEBEKRBIIEEEUARIERTY
based on the location where the goods are delivered to: BEXNERHME 2 :
2021 2020
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BTR ARETT

The PRC H 355,528 489,448
Overseas I
Other countries/regions in Asia NEMER & 106,164 119912
Europe BUM 140,498 204315
Americas M 59,199 70,838
Others Hit - 28
Subtotal NG 305,861 395,093
661,389 884,541
All non-current assets (other than deferred tax assets) of the Group are located in KREBMMAEIFRTHEE (REHIBELE
the PRC. BRON) R E
1 88 MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRRME

For year ended 31 December 2021
HZ0ENA3IBILFE

OTHER INCOME, OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 6. HftlA - HtERER
2021 2020
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETT
Govermment grants B E
— related to expense items (note) — BRI IE B ARRE (M) 16,505 29,869
— related to assets (note 26) — EEEER (fFh26) 2,513 3971
Rental income =G UN 10,209 8,556
Interest income from bank deposits RITERMBBLA 5,127 2920
Other income HAA 34,354 45316
Gain (loss) on disposals of property, plant and equipment &Y « BE K& HER
W (B51R) 17 (637)
Exchange loss B SR (6,032) (19,426)
Others 2t (3:479) (9
Other gains and losses Hhlam R EE (9,494) (20,102)
Total Aast 24,860 25214

Note: The amounts represent incentives from various PRC government authorities in connection

with the enterprise expansion support, technology advancement support and product

development support during the year, which had no conditions imposed by the respective

PRC government authorities.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group also received government grants of

RMBI,172,000 in respect of Coronavirus pandemic (COVID-19) - related subsidies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BIEEAK
2021 2020
2021 5 20204
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®BTT ARETTT

Interest on bank borrowings RITERFE 7,256 4,671
Interest on lease liabilities MEGENS 436 621
7,692 5292
8. TAXATION 8. HE
2021 2020
2021 20205
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BT R ARETT
Current Tax: ENEARETE -
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") Bl R PTISHE
([MER) 10 615
Underprovision in prior year BEFERETTE 982 -
992 615
Deferred tax expense (credit) (note 16) ERERIERS () (PHE16) 20,671 (14,190)
21,663 (13575)
Hong Kong HEER
The applicable tax rate of the Company and MOBI Technology (Hong Kong) RABRELRE (BS)BRAA
Limited (“MOBI HK" is 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit for both years. (TEELL VS |) MIEF S R (b et FEER R F
BEERRER165%
No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been recognised as the Group had no AEERMEFELEEEBEEREM
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong for the both years. FERTAARE - B EBL B AN ETEL
Bt -
1 90 MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

TAXATION (Contd)

The PRC (excluding Hong Kong)

In September 2014, MOBI Shenzhen was defined by Shenzhen Finance Bureau,
Administrator of Local Taxation of Shenzhen Municipality and Shenzhen Municipal
office of the State Administration of Taxation (the “SZ Authorities”) as a High and
New Technology Enterprise and therefore was entitled to 5% preferential tax
rate from the EIT for three years starting from the year ended 31 December 2014,
according to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law. On 31 October 2017, the SZ
Authorities have further extended the preferential tax rate for another three years
starting from the year ended 31 December 2017. On || December 2020, the SZ
Authorities have further extended the preferential tax rate for another three years
starting from the year ended 3| December 2020. Accordingly, the tax rate for
MOBI Shenzhen is 15% for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

In November 2016, MOBI Telecommunications Technologies (Ji An) Co., Ltd.
("MOBI Jian") was defined by Province Finance Bureau and Administrator of
Local Taxation of Municipality and Municipal office of the State Administration of
Taxation in Jiang Xi (the "Jiang Xi Authorities”), as a High and New Technology
Enterprise and therefore was entitled to 15% preferential tax rate from the EIT for
three years starting from the year ended 31 December 2016, according to the PRC
Enterprise Income Tax Law. On 16 September 2019, the Jiang Xi Authorities have
further extended the preferential tax rate for another three years starting from the
year ended 31 December 2019. Accordingly, the tax rate of MOBI Jian is 5% for
the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

In December 2019, MOBI Technology (Shenzhen) Co, Ltd. (“MOBI Technology™)
was defined by the SZ Authorities as a High and New Technology Enterprise and
therefore was entitled to 15% preferential tax rate from the EIT for three years
starting from the year ended 31 December 2019, according to the PRC Enterprise
Income Tax Law. Accordingly, the tax rate of MOBI Technology is 15% for the year
ended 3| December 2021 and 2020.

The applicable tax rate of other PRC subsidiaries is 25% for the year ended 3|
December 2021 (2020: 25%).

ELERERLA
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For year ended 31 December 2021
HZ0ENA3IBILFE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

8.

TAXATION (Contd) 8.
Taxation for the year can be reconciled to (loss) before tax per the consolidated

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

BiR (%)
FABRAA R B AR a
REBRBLAT (B5HR) BRI T

2021 2020
2021 20204
RMB’000 RMB000

AR®BTR ARETT

(Loss) before tax Al (B8) (308,038) (43,388)
Tax at EIT at 15% (2020: 15%) (note a) IR EFERBIR 5%
(2020%F : 15%) FTEMBIR
CEZY (46,206) (6,508)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose TERERERAZ OB E 921 346
Tax effect of share of results of associates LS ARRENTBTE 71 6l
Tax effect of additional deduction on research and BIMIRETHEN AN R E
development costs (note b) (PFF7ED) (16,865) (11,107)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERUBERNRBTE 45,932 3483
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised BRBERER 2 BEER - (334)
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences not AR E R EEN
recognised M2 38,460 -
Underprovision in prior year ﬁﬁiﬁ;ﬁéﬁz\ﬂ 982 -
Effect of different tax rates of group entities EERBNTRM RN E (1,632) 484
21,663 (13575)
Notes: BfsE
() Applicable income tax rate of 15% represents the relevant income tax rate of MOBI (a) IS%MERMERHERARAEETF
Shenzhen, MOBI Jian and MOBI Technology, the major subsidiaries of the Company. NEIELRY - B E R RELRHES
TBRRATERIRE -
(b)  Pursuant to the relevant tax rules and regulations in the PRC, additional 100% (2020: 75%) b) BEFEREBHRERIRER 581K

of the qualified research and development costs are entitled to claim as PRC income tax
credits. Such PRC income tax credits are accounted for deduction from enterprise income

tax expenses when relevant conditions are fulfilled.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

For year ended 31 December 2021
HZ0ENA3IBILFE

(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

(Loss) for the year has been arrived at after charging (crediting) the following items:

FE(BR)

FE (BR) Sk GTA) L TER

2021 2020
2021 F 20206
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT
Directors' remuneration (note 10) R SR 1,951 3453
Other staff costs HiB THA 220011 215,689
Retirement benefits scheme contributions for other staff  Efth B TR K@ FTEIE 23,725 11,383
245,687 230,525
Less: amount capitalised as cost of inventories B FEBUEK AN AR &
manufactured (83,518) (77,105)
162,169 153,420
Auditors' remuneration A G EA
— audit services — B%IR 1,971 2,192
Lease payment on short-term leases in respect of W% 2 REIRERNAERNK
premises 1,763 2,442
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment Mm% - BERRETE 31,852 36,329
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 7,067 6,061
Amortisation of intangible assets B EESH 20,668 17,161
59,587 59,551
Less: amount capitalised as cost of inventories W FEEEKANERNME 2 F
manufactured (18,271) (18,022)
41,316 41,529
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses BRRFAHFERA 644,582 684,591
Write-down on inventories (included in cost of sales) TFEMOR (FTAHERA) 69,211 16,426
Impairment losses under ECL model, net of reversal FEHIEEBRER THRE
518 - HEREEE 4,185 1,550
Impairment losses on Identified Long-lived Assets ERAIRAEENRERE 60,916 -

ELERERLA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

10. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS 0. EBERFETRAEMSE
Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments EERIETHAEME
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the directors and chief executive by R RE A & AR B K 2 BB PR R
the Group in connection with the management of the affairs of the Company and B AEERERAARIRAEEER
the Group, disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and the Companies ENHENSEZREZTHABHM
Ordinance are as follows: ST
2021
2021 F
Other
Retirement emoluments
benefits (mainly basic
scheme salaries and
Fees  contributions Bonus allowances) Total
Hit#e
RIKER (FEBRE
ne TR Re EHFREW) EH

RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT AR®TR ARE®TRT ARETR ARBT:R

Executive directors HITES

Hu Xiang (note a) e (et 82 = = 667 749

Liao Dong (note b) BR (Mfb) 56 14 - 654 724

Non-executive director FHTES

Qu Degian [BiEE, 83 - - - 83

Independent non- BYEHIT

executive directors =

Li Tianshu FXE 147 - - - 147

Zhang Han G 133 - - - 133

Ge Xiaojing BRE 15 - - - 15
616 14 - 1,321 1,951

1 94 MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

For year ended 31 December 2021
HZ0ENA3IBILFE

10. DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS (Cont'd) 0. EERFETHAEME (&)
Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Cont d) EERFETHAEME (Z)
2020
20205
Other
Retirement emoluments
benefits (mainly basic
scheme salaries and
Fees  contributions Bonus allowances) Total
Hiofe
NN (XRBR
i FEHEA Re EFLER) st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AREBTE  ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETRT

Executive directors HiTES

Hu Xiang (note a) H5 (Ffata) 82 - 591 648 1321

Liao Dong (note b) BR (Mib) 67 14 852 707 1,640

Non-executive director FHITEE

Qu Degian B 89 - - - 89

Independent non- BYEHT

executive directors Ex

Li Tianshu FRAEF 147 - - - 147

Zhang Han R 142 - - - 142

Ge Xiaojing ERE 114 - - - 114
641 14 1,443 1,355 3453

BLtERABRALA 195
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

10.

DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS (Cont d)
Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Cont'd)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services as
directors of the Company and the Group and their services in connection with
the management of the affairs of the Company and the Group. The non-executive
director’s emoluments shown above was for his service as director of the Company
or its subsidiaries. The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown

above were for their services as directors of the Company.

Certain executive directors of the Company are entitled to bonus payments which

are determined based on the performance of the Group.

Notes:

(a) Mr. Hu Xiang (“Mr. Hu") is also the chief executive officer of the Company and his
emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered by him as the chief

executive officer.

The retirement benefit scheme contribution of Mr. Hu is paid by Shenzhen Zhongxing
Weixiantong Shebei Co., Ltd. TR ELE T BRAEFR AT ("SZWS") as Mr.
Hu is also a director of SZWS. SZWS s controlled by a group of common controlling

shareholders of the Company.

(b) On 5 November 2021, the board of directors approved the resignation of Mr. Liao Dong

from executive director and chief operating officer of the Company.

During the years ended 3| December 2021 and 2020, no emoluments were paid
by the Group to the directors or the chief executive as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. None of the directors
or the chief executive has waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the

years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

For year ended 31 December 2021
HZ0ENA3IBILFE

IuEeFHFMES
BEXIFNANBLEFE A%ER
ZEEFMALTEERS (2020F - M
R)EF  RENMSFBRHNLX -
HA=4 (20205 : =8) &aFMA
THBEEINMT

1. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES [
The five highest paid individuals of the Group included two (2020: two) directors
for the year ended 31 December 2021, details of whose emoluments are set
out above. The emoluments of the remaining three (2020: three) highest paid

individuals are as follows:

2021 2020
2021 & 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFT
Salaries and other benefits e hEAET 1,722 1,665
Bonus i - [,134
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme RIREFFTEIH R 48 42
1,770 2,841

Their emoluments were within the following bands: BERMS N RAT

2021 2020
2021 20206
No. of No. of
employees employees
BEAY EEAH
Hong Kong Dollar (“HK$") nil to HK$ 1,000,000 Z £ 1,000,000/ 7T ([T )) 3 3

12. DIVIDENDS 2. BE
2021 2020
2021 & 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTT

Dividends recognised as distribution during the year: FRRABIEDIRAIRE. -
Nil (2020: 2019 final dividend of HK$0.02 per share) & (2020%F : 2019F RHAMR B

FR0.02%87T) - 15,080

No final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021 was recommended by

the directors.

ELERERLA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

13. (LOSS) PER SHARE 13. B (&8
The (loss) for calculation of the basic and diluted (loss) per share attributable to the RUAGERR A& BRES ARIEEA
ordinary owners of the Company are based on the following data: EARREE (BB 6 (BE) DRET

NEEAE -

2021 2020
2021 & 20204
RMB’000 RMB000

ARBTT ARETTT

(Loss) (E5E)
(Loss) for the year attributable to owners of the Company ANAFIHEA AELER (E518)
and (loss) for purpose of basic and diluted (loss) per FREtEBREAKREE

share (E18) & (B18) (329,701) (29.813)
Number of shares REGEE

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the REHEBRERREE (B18)

purpose of basic and diluted (loss) per share B i AR N AE T £ 818,283 819,444
The computation of diluted loss per share for the year ended 3| December 202 HE2021 F 2020 12A31HIESF
and 2020 did not assume the exercise of the Company's share options as the - BRARAABRIERETR - SR
exercise price of these options was higher than the average market price for shares BEERNH E RN R BB RENT
for both 2021 and 2020. EERRRAR2021 F R2020FHFH
MiHE -

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

For year ended 31 December 2021
HZ0ENA3IBILFE

4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 4. Y% - WERRE

Furniture,
fixtures and Leasehold Motor Plantand  Construction
Buildings equipment  improvements vehicles  machinery in progress Total
B %8 BENZ BER
g7 ET] %8 RE e HRIR @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB000  RMB000 RMB000  RMB'000
ARETR  ARBTT ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR AR®TRT AR%T:R
COsT A
At | January 2019 RWI9F A8 306423 34,660 12,988 6,66 251,235 32,04 64401
Additions AE 593 3341 4 4 56913 12,963 74,35
Transfer 82 - 3 - - 10487 (10518) -
Disposals e (250) (1,556) (302) @) (55417) - (57.736)
At31 December 2020 #2000F 128318 306,766 36476 13,107 6454 263218 34489 660510
Additions AE 150 1,728 6l 45) 9,142 11,004 23,087
Transfer g3 710 830 - - 6803 (8343) -
Disposals e (729) (2209) - (575) (3649) - (7.182)
At31 December 2021 H2021F12A318 306897 36,805 13718 633 275514 37,150 676415
DEPRECIATIONAND &R fE
IMPAIRMENT
At | January 2019 RWI9F1A18 69.96! 19,729 6,844 4553 165,646 - 266733
Provided for the year FREE 10614 3,702 526 706 2078! - 36,329
Eliminated on disposals &3 (250) (728) (248) (201) (20381) - (21,808)
At31 December 2020 H2000F 128318 80325 0703 7122 5058 166046 - 281,254
Provided for the year ENER 9733 2,705 1,064 467 17883 - 31852
Impaiment loss recognised  PMBRTER L
In profit or loss HEER - 5271 1,729 47 35,19 - 42,668
Eliminated on disposals &4 (705) (1204) - (281) (2676) - (4.866)
At3| December 2021 R202IE12A31H 89,353 29475 9915 5716 216449 - 350908
CARRYING VALUES REE
At3| December 2021 R202IE12A3IH 207544 7330 3803 615 59,065 37,150 325507
At31 December 2020 #200F 128318 26441 13773 5,985 1,39 97,172 34489 379,25

ELERERLA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

14.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Contd)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of property, plant and
equipment other than construction in progress over their estimated useful lives
and after taking into account of their estimated residual value, using straight-line

method, at the following rates per annum:

Buildings Over the shorter of the term of
lease or 30 years

Fumiture, fixtures and equipment 199% —31.7%

Leasehold improvements 3% —33.3%

Motor vehicles 9.5% — 19%

Plant and machinery 9% — 33.3%

The Group's buildings are situated in the PRC under medium-term land use rights.

The Group was in process of obtaining certain relevant property ownership
certificates for buildings with carrying amount of approximately RMB6,089,000
(2020: RMB6,343,000) in property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 2021.
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the relevant property ownership

certificate can be obtained in due time without incurring significant costs.

Due to slowdown in demands for mobile network construction in overseas
countries and regions and slower-than-expected progress of 5G network
construction in the PRC during the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
experienced drop in business performance and suffered losses. The management
of the Group has identified certain long-lived assets (“Identified Long-lived Assets™)
have an indication of impairment loss. For the purpose of impairment assessment,
the management of the Group estimated the recoverable amount of the Identified
Long-lived Assets was RMB404,220,000 (2020: RMB426,142,000), including
certain property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets of
RMB325,507,000, RMB31,625,000 and RMB47,088,000 (2020: RMB379,256,000,
RMB34,061,000 and RMB66,312,000), respectively, as disclosed in this note and
notes |5 and 17.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Contd)

The estimation of recoverable amounts was based on the value in use of the
cash-generating units to which the Identified Long-lived Assets belong. The value
in use calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved
by the management covering a five-year period and discount rate at 14.24% (2020:
13.13%). The value in use calculations were determined by an independent valuer
appointed by the management of the Group. The forecasted growth rate is based
on the Group’s budget, future business plan and the forecast of the industry growth.
Other key assumptions for the value in use calculations included budgeted sales and
gross margins and their related cash inflows and outflows patterns, estimated based
on the units" historical performance and management's expectation of the market

development.

The recoverable amount of building and leasehold lands are estimated individually.
Based on the result of the assessment, management of the Group determined
that the recoverable amounts of certain cash-generating units are lower than the
corresponding carrying amounts. The impairment amount has been allocated to
each category of the Identified Long-lived Assets such that the carrying amount of
each category of asset is not reduced below the highest of its value in use, fair value

less cost of disposal and zero.

Based on the result of the assessment, the management of the Group determined
that an impairment losses of RMB60,9 16,000 (2020: Nil) have been recognised
against the carrying amounts of Identified Long-lived Assets, including impairment
losses allocated to certain property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets of
RMB42,668,000 (2020: Nil) and RMB8,248,000 (2020: Nil), as disclosed in this

note and note |7 respectively.

The carrying amount of the building and leasehold lands has not been reduced
since the amounts of fair value less costs of disposal of the building and leasehold

lands are higher than their carrying amounts.

BEtkB#RAERAL2A
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mEMBHRRME

For year ended 31 December 2021
HZ0ENA3IBILFE

M - BERRE (&)
ARESBHOETRERCHBIRGE
EfBNBRSELSNNEREBE %
STERAGERAREEEMIERERT
HEzVREEFE R RETEAR
14.24% K9 BE38 R (20204 © 13.13%) &t
o FRBENENENBHAEEER
BZAMBIGEMET - BAKRE
DRBASENTEE - RREHTER
TEERBAMT - bt EERER
MEIERFALFENREELEN 2B
AXEREREUMSEREHELZ
HEREMNBERBEB LRSS RARR
HEE o

BFREEL AR ER B
it REFEER  AEEEEERR
ATREELBUMAKESRERE
HEREE - RESFC HEEEHH
RHEEZSEER  NESEERH
WEREENERREENEFERER -
ERVEBERLERARTZERE °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Contd) 14.

The Group as lessor

The Group leases out certain floors of Group's owned buildings under operating

leases. The leases typically run for a fixed period of | to 10 years. The Group is not

exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of the lease arrangements, as all leases

are denominated in the respective functional currencies of group entities. The

lease contracts do not contain residual value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to

purchase the property at the end of lease term.

The portions of the Group's owned buildings under operating leases could not

be sold separately or leased out separately under a finance lease and the portions

of the Group's owned buildings which are held for use in the Group's production

of goods or for administrative purposes are not insignificant. Such of the Group's

owned buildings are included in the Group's property, plant and equipment.

M - BE KRB (E)
AEEEREHEA
AEERBEELHELHARER AR
FETEE HEBRETRHIZEI0
FopRMEREINEBREESEAN
DB E  BAKETERHEER
BmAZINERR - HEANTEEE
EERE/ FEEANEEHREE
MEREEZRE -

AEEREHERTOHOBEEFT
RBEVHEIREREEEB L LHE
AEEREANAREEMEERITR
RENBRBTHEALAEK - ZFA
SEBAETHALKENDE - B5E
FRfE

5. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 5. ERREE
Leasehold Leased
lands premises Total
HELH HENE act
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR ARBT R
As at 3| December 2021 M2021F 128318
Carrying amount AREE 24,755 6,870 31,625
As at 3| December 2020 2020128318
Carrying amount BRmEfE 25423 8,638 34,061
For the year ended 31 December 2021 B 22021 F 12831 ALFE
Depreciation charge nER 668 6,399 7067
For the year ended 31 December 2020 & Z2020F 12831 ALFE
Depreciation charge nE® 668 5393 6,061
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRRME

For year ended 31 December 2021
HZ0ENA3IBILFE

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Cont ) ERELE (&)

2021 2020

2021 5 20206

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETTT

Expense relating to short-term leases B HIHE AR 1,763 2442

Total cash outflow for leases MERSRLE 7,939 8,250

Additions to right-of-use assets EREEERE 4,631 4,661
For both years, the Group leases leasehold lands and premises for its operations. RREFER  ~AEBAHLEHEER

Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of | year to 50 years. Lease terms
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms
and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non-
cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and determines

the period for which the contract is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for office premises and staff
quarters. As at 31 December 2021, the portfolio of short-term leases is similar to
the portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-term expense included in

administrative expenses as disclosed in note 9 and above.

In addition, lease liabilities of RMB7,063,000 are recognised with related right-of-
use assets of RMB6,870,000 as at 31 December 2021 (2020: lease liabilities of
RMB8,771,000 are recognised with related right-of-use assets of RMB8,638,000).
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security
interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be

used as security for borrowing purposes.

ELERERLA
20214 3§

B NET - BEANTIRETEFH
| FESOFATL - HEEFIRERIE
RBETHE - BBRSETRIGR I
1 o MEEE T S AHih A AT R B Ay
RER  ARERAENNTRLETE
AR R BRFIHITHOER -

AEBT BB ABIRE IEERIY
RETEE - R2021 512 A318 - EAHE
SHEAEUR AM T R EX AT E
THRAXHEARAEPEEES -

AN - 72021 F 12831 B - BRHESR
& AR 7,063,000 R AERE{E A E E
AR #6,870,0007T (20205 : HERHE
BEARKS 771000t MIEEEREE
EARS,6380007T) - HEHBZETHE
MEAEZH - AR ENHREEE
#mﬁﬁ%\ﬁwomééﬁT SoLfE
FAYEHEH -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

16.

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS le. JEEBHEEE
Excess of Unrealised
accounting profit of
Allowance  depreciation  Allowance inter-
for overtax for credit company Share-based
inventories  depreciation |osses sales  Tax losses payment Others Total
EifiE )
BHHE HED HRGA
el REBR KE5 B
FERRE 8 B ME  HEER (A Eft E
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARMTR ARETR ARBTR ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARMTR
At | January 2019 R019F1A1H 10425 1,608 2,101 4761 32101 4276 1,900 57172
Credit (charge) to profit  FE&REAR
or loss (18)
Effect of change of IREREY
temporary difference  HIF/E (1210) 149 (643) (926) 15390 - | 430 14,190
At3| December 2020 72020
12A31A 9,215 757 458 3,835 47491 4276 3330 71362
Charge toprofitorloss e BRI
Effect of change of EREBEHN
temporary difference  F/& (3,124) - - (3254 (14300) - 7 (20671)
At3 December 2021 #2001 F
124318 6,091 757 458 581 3391 4276 3337 50,691

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.

ANNUAL REPORT 2021



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (Contd)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses of
RMB575,590,000 (2020: RMB333,242,000) available for offset against future profits.
A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of RMBI51,633,000 (2020:
RMB281,553,000) of such losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of the remaining RMB423,957,000 (2020: RMB51,689,000) due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in unused tax losses is tax loss of
RMB565,065,000 (2020: RMB322,715,000) which will expire in the following years

ending 31 December and other losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

mEMBHRRME

For year ended 31 December 2021
HZ0ENA3IBILFE

BELEREEE (&)

RBERR  AEBRBAHBKER
AR®575590,0007T (20204 : AR
333,242,0007T) AT AR SE AR RAN A o
EFARKE151,633,0007T (2020F © A
FR#281,553,0007T ) BB 1B R RIRAERY
HEE - BRRRBFRH TR
- B A ER T AR #423,957,000
JC (20204 : AR¥51,689,0007T) R
EREBEEE - REANBEBES
RUTEZ 12831 BIEFEREROTK
B8 A R #565,065,0007T (20204 A
FR#6322,715,0007T) K EAth B 18 A] A R
HAfEEE -

2021 2020
2021 20204
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR%F R ARETTT

Unused tax losses with expiry in: R TEES B REAHBESE -
—202] —2021 4 - 37519
—-2022 —2022% 77,709 77,709
-2023 —20234F 45,144 45,144
—2024 —20244F 4435] 4435]
~2025 —20254F 117,992 117,992
—-2026 —2026%F 279,869 -
565,065 322715

Under the relevant laws of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed on dividends
declared in respect of profits eamed by the PRC subsidiaries from | January 2008
onwards. Deferred taxation has not been provided for in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of temporary differences attributable to accumulated profits
of the PRC subsidiaries amounting to RMB279,229,000 (2020: RMB460,146,000) as
the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable

future.

ELERERLA
20214 3§

REHBEBEBEERE - H20085F1 A1 H
fe - AR EF R RREA A EE RATAR
BRBINEI SRS MBHRRALER
RPEFRAREERANEERER
AR#279,229,0007C (20205 : AR
460,146,0007T) HRRIEHIE - AR
SEAEHREE R EENRRE - BY
R R AR VRER B R AS SR A o
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

BVEE

Development costs

BREBA
RMB’000
ARETT
COST %S
At | January 2020 202051 A1 H 130,029
Additions NE 17,200
At 31 December 2020 72020 12 A31H 147,229
Additions RE 19,692
At 31 December 2021 2021 12A31H 166,921
AMORTISATION E]
At | January 2020 20205 1 A 1A 63,756
Charge for the year FAMNGK 17,161
At 31 December 2020 2020 12 A31H 80917
Charge for the year FAHBR 20,668
Impairment (note 14) WA (PHEE14) 18,248
At 31 December 202 | P2021 12 A31H 119,833
CARRYING VALUES IREE
At 31 December 202 | 202112 A31H 47,088
At 31 December 2020 20205 12 A31 8 66,312

Development costs on antenna system (LTE antennas and Multi-system Antennas)
and base station RF subsystem (LTE filters and new models dedicated for some
customers) are intemally generated and amortised on a straight-line basis over 3
years when they are ready for use. Included in the cost of the Group's intangible
assets, approximately RMB35.5 million (2020: RMB24.5 million) were relating
to development of systems not ready for the intended use and, accordingly, no
amortisation was made.

At 31 December 2021, the Group conducted an impairment review of those
Group's intangible assets and set forth in note 4.

Certain intangible assets were pledged to independent financial institution to secure
other borrowing of the Group.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRRME

For year ended 31 December 2021
BZ021 F12A31ALLFE

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 18. MEE QT 2B
2021 2020
2021 20205
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BTR ARETT
Cost of interests in associates YN £l DN 6,430 6,430

Share of post-acquisition losses and other comprehensive  FE{UZBE /& B 18 R 2 H

income, net of dividends received Yigs - HIBREWAR S (2,381) (1,905)
4,049 4525

Details of the Group's associates at the end of the reporting period are as follow:

Proportion of

T RS AR EER 82 A
a

Principal ownership Proportion of
Country of  place of interest voting rights held
Name of entity registration  business held by the Group by the Group Principal activity
IREX  FRERAEN FEEFEN
EREH AMER B BRAERLA REEBLA  TEXKED
2021 2020 2021 2020
2020 200F  2021F 2020F
Shenzhen Borynet Co, Ltd. (“Borynet”) PRC PRC 15.1% 15.1% 15.1% [5.1%  Software technology
(note i) development
AYMEE RRRRERAT FE R I5.0%  151%  I5A%  150% HARRREE
(&2 ]) ()
Wauxi Gaoyusheng New Material Technology PRC PRC 40% 40% 40% 40%  Material development
Co, Ltd. (“Gaoyusheng”) (note i)
BHNRTRAMARRARLA G il 40% 0% 40% 0%  PRIFER

5
(&) (K

EhkERERLXT
20214 $}
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Contd) 18. MEE AT R (&)
Notes: BisE
() The entity is accounted for as an associate as at year end date as the Group has directors (i) MRZEREZEAREAEENES
in the board of the entity and is able to exercise significant influence in the entity. BEAREEHZERETEATYE %

&
BRNFEHEERAARIIEBEAT

(i) In October 2019, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and an independent third (i)  R2019FI108 ARRZETFARR—
party agreed to contribute 40% and 60% equity interest of Gaoyusheng, respectively. The BEUB=TREDRIBBE TR 0%
Group has contributed cash investment amounting RMB4,000,000 to Gaoyusheng. In April Ke0% i - AEREREFREAR
2020, The Group has contributed additional cash investment amounting RMB930,000 SREARK4,0000007T ° 52202054
to Gaoyusheng, The Group is able to exercise significant influence in Gaoyusheng as the A FEEREFRBRAREREA
Group has the power to appoint one out of three directors of Gaoyusheng and the Group RH9300007C © A& EBEMHBFRIT
recogised Gaoyusheng as an associate FEAYEN  FEAREREHEEL
RTRZGEEFHEF % BAKHE
HRABTRABZ AT
Summarised financial information in respect of the Group's material associate, BEOASETEHNERASTRNE
Gaoyusheng is set out below. The summarised financial information below BRI ZERIIN T o ATHBERR
represents amounts shown in the associate's financial statements prepared in ZEEEBREEVBRSEGRRNEE
accordance with HKFRSs. REMBWMERATNEE o
Gaoyusheng is accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial BT RS ENGRE M BERENER o
statements.
2021 2020
2021 5 20206
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETTT

Current assets mBEE 22,263 12,649

Non-current assets FERBEE 10,788 12,132

Current liabilities mEaE 23,506 14,088

Loss and other comprehensive expense for the year FEBEMEMPERBY (1,148) (1,488)
208 MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

For year ended 31 December 2021
HZ0ENA3IBILFE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Contd) 18. MEE AT R (&)
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented above to the FIMBERBERN G TR ER
carrying amount of the interest in Gaoyusheng was set out below: REEHREAT
2021 2020
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BTR ARETT

Net assets of Gaoyusheng BFRLEEFH 9,545 10,693
Proportion of the Group's ownership interest in AEERERTR B
Gaoyusheng 40% 40%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in Gaoyusheng ~ ASREREFRER Z KEE 3818 4277
Aggregate information of Borynet that is not individually material ERFEABE2EREHR
2021 2020
2021 F 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT
The Group's share of result from continuing AEBRIEFEEEEBT L
operations o (17) 189
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's interest AEENBE 2 EHZ
in Borynet AREEAR 231 248

ELERERLA
20214 3§

209



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

19. INVENTORIES 9. &E&
2021 2020
2021 20204
RMB’000 RMB000
AREBTR AREF T
Raw materials [ 54,021 63417
Work-in-progress & 19,473 20,464
Finished goods S 139,619 186,136
213,113 270017
20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20, BESZRHEHMEWERR
2021 2020
2021 20204
RMB'000 RMB000
ARE TR ARETIT
Trade receivables — contracts with customers ESRUER-BEFEAH 323,523 356,422
Less: allowance for credit losses W EEERRE (14,678) (10,493)
308,845 345,929
Notes and bills receivables e E % 138,456 160218
Rental and utility deposits M kFiEze 1,219 1,396
Advance to suppliers BEEEES 49,858 38963
Value added tax receivables FEU (BT 20,765 40,545
Other receivables and deposits HAh AR Rz 31,696 37,787
550,839 624,838
As at | January 2020, the carrying amount of trade receivables from contracts R2020F 1 A1H - REREFPEHH
with customers amounted to RMB492,000,000, net of allowance for credit losses ESREWEZFNERE (NKREES
amounted to RMBI4,215,000. BEHARE142150007T) A ARE

492,000,0007T °

21 0 MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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20.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Contd)

The Group offers credit terms generally accepted in the antenna system, base
station RF subsystem and coverage extension solution manufacturing industry to its
trade customers, which range from 30 to 240 days (2020: 30 to 240 days) from the
invoice dates. For the Group's major customers which are network operators and
domestic and overseas wireless network solution providers with good reputation
and repayment records, a longer credit term may be granted to them, depending
on price, the size of the contract, credibility and reputation of them. In order to
manage the credit risks associated with trade receivables effectively, credit limits
of customers are evaluated periodically. Before accepting any new customer,
the Group conducts research on the creditworthiness of the new customer and

assesses the potential customer's credit quality.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables net of allowance for credit

losses presented based on the invoice dates:

20.

mEMBHRRME

For year ended 31 December 2021
HZ0ENA3IBILFE

EZRHEMEBWERR (E)
AEEREFEPRHKRG RS - Kb
ST RARBER R REETEY
BEIHEES FEHAERAH
FEETM F302240 B (20204 : 30E240
H) BREKELHERBRIMNERE
R RUERAAERTBERE
HRBNAEREEERF - alarERE
BROGES  GTER  ARAEK -
BEREFHMEREREEME - RAX
ERHEIRNEFEENEERR -
AREEHEEPHEERBREITT
i AEERA/IAHELH - €HE
RENBPHERTHKTHEBELEER
HIEEEX -

NI REEZAHFTNE S RURR
(R EEERRE) OiRE DT -

2021 2020
2021 FF 20204

RMB'000 RMB'000

AR¥TR ARBTT

0to 30 days 0%30H 123,924 120,58
31 to 60 days 315E60H 54,065 36,639
61 to 90 days 61 £90H 38,631 35071
91 to 120 days 91ZE 1208 15,033 14,033
121 to 180 days 121F180H 17,589 26,457
Over 180 days 818180 H 59,603 113,148
308,845 345929

ELERERLA
20214 3§



212

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

20.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Contd)

At 31 December 2021, included in the Group's trade receivables balance are
debtors with aggregate carrying amount of approximately RMB82,036,000 (2020:
RMB129,457,000) which are past due at the end of the reporting period. Out of
the past due balances, RMB63,656,000 (2020: RMB79,768,000) has been past due
over 90 days and is not considered as in default because the trade receivables are
of good credit quality and repayment records history. The Group does not hold

any collateral over these balances.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables for the year ended

31 December 2021 and 2020 are set out in note 33.

The following is an aged analysis of notes and bills receivables presented based on

the notes and bills issue dates:

20.

EZRHEMEBWERR (E)
R2021F 128318 RBEBHK
EEBs7EREREEEAROA
[R#82,036,0007C (20205 : AR¥
129,457,0007C) it AREE 2 B HEW
AR AR o B ERAE PR A R 6 63,656,000
7T (202046 : AR¥79,768,0007T) 248
HiERR90R - BERWRRELN - RER
BHRBEREELEZ BT BN H
Rif - AEEHERFE TN ZELE
BARIE AR o

HE202I FR2020F 12 A3 HIEFE
WE 5 K EAMEWRZUREFENFIE
EAMIEE33 ©

U ARERETH I REREERN
R -

2021 2020
2021 20204
RMB’000 RMB000

AR®BTR ARETT

0 to 30 days 0&30H 19,149 7,294
31 to 60 days 31E60H 18,238 5,806
61 to 90 days 61 £90H 36,443 12,552
91 to 120 days 91Z120H 27,052 30,749
Over 120 days 8381208 37,574 103,817

138,456 160,218

All notes and bills received by the Group are with a maturity period of less than

one year.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, no notes and bills receivables were pledged

to secure the Group's banking facilities.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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21.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRRME

For year ended 31 December 2021
HZ0ENA3IBILFE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Contd) 20. EBEZRHEMEWERNR (Z)
Analysis of trade and other receivables denominated in currencies other than the NEREEERNEEEINER
functional currencies of the relevant group entities is set out below: FHENE S RAMBKERSTNT
At 3| December
RI2A31R
2021 2020
2021 F 20206
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTFRE  ARETT
United States Dollar (“USD") E(E) 43,052 128792
Furo (“EUR") ot ([BT]) 73,136 -
116,188 128,792
PLEDGED BANK BALANCES/BANK BALANCES AND CASH 2l BEMRTESR RITERRREE

The Group's pledged bank balances represent bank deposits with original maturity
within 12 months and carry fixed interest rate from 0.30% to 3.85% (2020: 0.30%
to 3.85%) per annum. They are mainly pledged to banks to secure bills payables

and certain of the bank borrowings of the Group.

The Group's bank balances and cash comprise cash and bank deposits which carry
interest at prevailing market rates ranging from 0.001% to 0.35% (2020: 0.001% to
0.30%) per annum.

Certain of the Group’s bank balances and cash and pledged bank balances with an
aggregate amount of RMB 145,770,000 (2020: RMB305,161,000) were denominated
in RMB which is not a freely convertible currency in the international market.
The government of the PRC has implemented foreign exchange control and
the remittance of these funds out of the PRC is subject to exchange restrictions

imposed by the government of the PRC.

ELERERLA
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AEENCEARTERERTEN
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(2020 : 0.30EE3.85/F ) My E T F=
FEMBITER  BEEEATERR
TEAREERNERRETRITER
R o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

21.  PLEDGED BANK BALANCES/BANK BALANCES AND CASH (Cont'd) 21, BEMRITES SRITEHRKREAS

(%)
Analysis of pledged bank balances together with bank balances and cash S EEBD SN BT
denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies of the relevant ENEEMRITES  ERBTEHRK
group entities is set out below: RewHEsImT
2021 2020
2021 5 20205
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BT R ARETT
usD e 166,262 167,960
EUR BT 2,808 11,270
HK$ BT 7810 353
Indonesian Rupiah HfeE 63 2
176,943 179,585
22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 22. BEZRHMEMERR
2021 2020
2021 5 20205
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BT R ARETT
Trade payables B S IER IR 424,303 374,648
Notes and bills payable ARESES 102,888 177,974
Payroll payable ERTE 27,161 22218
Payable for purchase of property, plant and equipment BEME - BEKEEN
FERHRAR 12,268 20915
Value added taxes payable JETIZ(ER 8,853 6,128
Accrued expenses ERRER 9,627 12,797
Interest payable FETIE 350 -
Others Hit 13,827 16272
599,277 630,952
21 4 MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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22.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Cont d)

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented based on the invoice

22.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRRME

For year ended 31 December 2021
HZ0ENA3IBILFE

B RHEMBENRR (E)
RIEBRT YN E SRR KK

dates: DT :
2021 2020
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BTR ARETT
0 to 30 days 0&30H 97,666 72,801
31 to 60 days 31E60H 80,369 49,133
61 to 90 days 61290H 57,235 48,396
91 to 180 days 91£180H 63,766 111,294
Over 180 days 8381804 125,267 93,024
424,303 374,648

Typical credit term of trade payables ranges from 60 to 120 days from the invoice

dates.

The following is an aged analysis of notes and bills payable presented based on the

notes and bills issue dates:

ZHORMEZNEEN —REBRA %
ERHLET0AZE 1208 °

REEEHTTH TN ZRORE
AT :

2021 2020
2021 2020
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETT

0 to 30 days 0&30H 24,941 -
31 to 60 days 31260H 2,927 36,324
61 to 90 days 612908 23,500 94,061
Over 90 days #8:890H 51,520 47,589

102,888 177,974

Typical credit term of notes and bills payables ranges from 90 to 180 days.

ELERERLA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

22.

23.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Contd) 22. BEZRHEMENERR(E)
The Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all AEECHE I BREREIRBOR - U
payables are settled within the credit timeframe. RATBERNESEEERANEER
Analysis of trade and other payables denominated in currencies other than the NEBSEERNR GBI ER
functional currencies of the relevant group entities is set out below: SHENE S RAMERERITOT
At 3| December
RI2A31R
2021 2020
2021 F 20206
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®FR ARETT
UsD e 7,832 12,340
HK$ BT 416 349
8,248 12,689
CONTRACT LIABILITIES 23. AWEE
2021 2020
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BTR ARETT
Receipt in advance from contracts with customers HWEPEKIFIE 13,347 7272

As at | January 2020, contract liabilities accounted to RMB6,206,000.

Contract liabilities are to be settled within the Group's normal operating cycle and

are classified as current liabilities.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, revenue amounting to RMB7,272,000
(2020: RMB6,206,000) was recognised in the current year which relates to carried-

forward contract liabilities.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

For year ended 31 December 2021
HZ0ENA3IBILFE

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Contd) 23. BHEE#E)
Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract liabilities HERANANBESRELTEN —
recognised are as follows: RRATRRIGERINT
For revenue recognised upon sales of antenna system and related products, base MIHERBERRAABER - EUg74
station RF subsystem and related products and coverage extension solution, the FEGRBEERARBERMR RN
Group receives certain of the contract value as advance payments from customers BRNWEMS - AEERES DK
according to the contracts terms. The advance payments give rise to contract RERETAOE  (EREFPEMNK
liabilities at the start of a contract until the customer obtains control of the IH o BRNFEEREARBEREEED
respective goods. BB EERFEGHESmIEHER
I
BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 24. BITREMER
2021 2020
2021 2020
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

FifeE AR®T R ARETT

Bank borrowings: RITIER -
— Secured fixed rate borrowings — EERE LB (i) = 20,000
— Unsecured fixed rate borrowings — BEREREN (ii) 72,277 59,575
— Unsecured floating rate borrowings — EEAEBER (iif) - 20,000
72,277 99,575
Other borrowing: HAfE
— Secured fixed rate borrowings — EERERER (iv) 65,000 65,000
65,000 65,000
The amount is repayable: ZRCRAEE
— Within one year ——FR 137,277 99,575
— Within a period of more than one year but — —FR L ENEARF
not exceeding two years - 65,000
Total a5t 137,277 164,575
Less: Amounts due within one year and shown 8 : RBIBEIE T256
under current liabilities R—F 2 REIERE) 51 (137,277) (99,575)
Amounts due after one year R—E1& S| E50E - 65,000
BLtERABRALA 217
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

24. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Contd)

Notes:

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2020, the RMB secured fixed rate borrowings carry

interest at the rate of 3.90% per annum and are secured by pledged bank balances.

(ii) The unsecured fixed rate borrowings carry interest at the rate ranged from 2.4% to 4.8%

(2020: 2.60% to 5.55%) per annum.

(i) During the year ended 3| December 2020, the RMB denominated unsecured floating rate
borrowings carried interest at the rate of the Loan Prime Rate (“LPR") plus 50 basis points

per annum. The effective interest rate for the unsecured floating rate borrowings was 4.00%

per annum.

(iv)  The other borrowing was an asset-backed borrowing from a third party financial institution,

which is secured by certain intangible assets and carries interest at the fixed rate of 4.72%

(2020: 4.72%) per annum.

The Group's bank borrowings that are denominated in currencies other than the

functional currencies of the relevant group entities are set out below:

24, SBTREMERE)

BfFE

(i)

)

BHE200F1NA3ALEE  ARER
EHRTEBEFOFEFERRINE 6B

RIRRITAESMEE -

BERFEEERNFANEARL4EZ48
JE (20204 : 2.60[EE555/2) ©

HE200F1283BIEEE - AR
FHMENEERZBERABRTSRE
& ([LPR]) tnEF SOEE S F &5

B EEAEEER

4002 -

HiERRRAE=S

HEREMNES

TRIBENEE

BIRER - ZERAETEPEERFR

# BEETERIR

ATE) TR ©

72 (20204 :

ARBNEREEEEMINEEREIAIN
HEHHENRTERDT

2021 2020
2021 £ 20204

RMB’000 RMB000

ARETRT AREF T

UsD EY 19,127 19,575

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRRME

For year ended 31 December 2021
HZ0ENA3IBILFE

25. LEASE LIABILITIES 25. HEEE
2021 2020
2021 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T R ARETIT
Lease liabilities payable: EAEEEE:
Within one year —FR 4,402 4920
Within a period of more than one year but not more RHP—FU HENEBME
than two years 2,544 2877
Within a period of more than two years but not more  AEIMF LA LB HBBRAF
than five years 117 974
7,063 8,771
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 months and & : IREIBEE T27K
shown under current liabilities P 12{E A R B4 E R FIE (4,402) (4920)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months and shown ~ RIEREIEEIE T 25K
under non-current liabilities R I2{E A &2 B E R FIE 2,661 3851

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities is 6%

(2020: 6%).

B6E (20205 : 6F) ©

ELERERLA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

26.

27.

DEFERRED INCOME 26.
Deferred income represents non-recurring government grants received for
acquisition and improvement of property, plant and equipment. The deferred
income s released to the profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant

assets. Movements of deferred income during the years are as follows:

IEFEWA

ERERAIEE WECREF L BUF # 8
£ BRBEREREDRE  BERR
& o ETWAZRBEE ERBR A {EA

FHIBABRE - FRETWARE
o

2021 2020

2021 & 20204

RMB’000 RMB000

AR®TR ARETT

Government grant related to assets HEENBNRAHEYS
At beginning of the year A 8,802 12,773
Released to profit or loss REBREREA (2,513) (3971)
At end of the year RER 6,289 8,802
Analysed for reporting purposes as: DITERHAE
Current portion ENERED 2,270 2,536
Non-current portion FERNERES 4,019 6,266
6,289 8,802
DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 27. FiE4SRTA
2021 2020
2021 20206
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETT
Currency forward contracts, at fair value (note) BEERBAH  BRATHETA
(Bt =E) 33 (1349)

Note: At 31 December 2021, the Group has outstanding currency forward contracts with an
aggregate notional amount of USD50,000 (2020: USD19,300,000) that require the Group
to sell USD for RMB at exchange rates ranging from RMB6.36 to RMB7.25 for USD | (2020
from RMB6.52 to RMB6.97 for USDI) with maturity periods up to nine months from the
end of the reporting period. The currency forward contracts give rise to a net fair value
loss of RMBI,454,000 (2020: RMBI,349,000) which recognised in profit or loss.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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27.

28.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

For year ended 31 December 2021
BZ021 F12A31ALLFE

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont @)

The above derivatives are classified as financial assets at FVTPL (2020: financial
liabilities at FVTPL). Their fair values are determined based on the valuation carried
out by financial institutions, which are measured using the present value of future
cash flows estimated and discounted based on the applicable yield curves derived
from quoted forward exchange rates at the end of the reporting period. Details are

set out in note 33,

SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY

27.

28.

fTEEmMIA (&)
B E TAD BARAFER ARa
B R E E (20206 - AT EFAR
mMERAE)  HAFERENHH
BATETMRENETE
ERPRABOEHERGENERE
B RITROR R 2 RORE
ATE o FIBEIMEES3

RERE

Number of shares

I AR R

Issued capital

ROEE BERITRA
2021 2020 2021 2020
2021 20204 2021 20204
Ordinary Ordinary Ordinary Ordinary
shares shares shares shares
EER gl EER Rl
'000 000 usD UsD
T Fig ESH ETT
Ordinary shares of USD0.000001| each SR EE0.000001 =T
HEBER
Authorised: EE
At beginning and end of the year RENRER 2,000,000  2,000000 200000  2,000.00
Issued and fully paid ERITRAR
At beginning of the year REH) 818,842 819,587 818.83 819.58
Repurchase of shares (note) Bt BE el (FHEE) (1,742) (745) (1.74) (0.75)
At end of the year RER 817,100 818,842 817.09 818.83

EhkERERLXT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

28. SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY (Contd)

28.

DRRAE (&
Issued capital
ERTRA
2021 2020
2021 £ 20206
Ordinary Ordinary

shares equivalent  shares equivalent

FEEER FEEEK

RMB RMB
AR AR®TT

Issued and fully paid ERITRAR

At beginning of the year REF] 572641 573149

Repurchase and cancellation of shares (note) Rt RE e st dA (P at) (11.90) (5.08)

At end of the year RER 571451 572641

Issued capital shown in the consolidated statements of financial position as at 31
December 2021 and 2020 were rounded to RMB6,000.

There is no movement of authorised ordinary share during the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020.

Note: During the year, the Company repurchased its own shares through the Stock Exchange as

follows:

2021 F %2020 12831 B Rigd
AR REINROBBITRAL BA
FE#6,0007T

BE2021 FR2020% 12431 HILEF
g AT BRI A o

MIRE - MER - ARFEBHRZAMIRAT A

BOEE R
No. of ordinary Price per share
shares of BRE®K Aggregate
Year Ended Month of repurchase USD0.000001 each Lowest Highest consideration paid
SR E E0.000001

FR BBE A% EnEBERYE BIE 4= B ARE

HK$ HK$ HK$ RMB

BT BT Bt AR¥®R
2020 2020%F September 2020 202099 A 745,000 (note) (FfizE) 072 075 550310 485,619
2021 20215 May 2021 20215 600,000 (note) (Ff &%) 052 053 317,000 279,815
2021 2021 F September 2021 20214F9A 1,142,000 (note) (FiE) 038 039 437,640 386,303
2021 20214 December 2021 20214F 12 A 240,000 037 038 41,569 36693

Note: The above ordinary shares were cancelled upon repurchase.

None of the Company's subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company's listed securities during the year.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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29.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

Share options were granted on 23 December 2013 (“2013 Option"”) and 26
March 2015 ("2015 Option”) for the primary purpose of providing incentives
to directors and eligible employees, and will expire on 22 December 2023 and
25 March 2025 respectively. Under the share option schemes of the Company,
the Board of Directors of the Company may grant options to eligible employees,
including directors of the Company and its subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares
in the Company. Additionally, the Company may, from time to time, grant share
options to an individual consultant or advisor who renders or has rendered bona

fide services to the Company.

As at 31 December 2021, the number of ordinary shares in respect of which
options had been granted and remained outstanding was 40,036,000 (2020:
45,266,000), representing 4.90% (2020: 5.53%) of the total ordinary shares in issue
at end of the reporting period.

No consideration is payable on the grant of an option. For 2013 Option and 2015
Option, options may be exercised after the completion of relevant vesting period

to the tenth anniversary of the date of grant.

2013 Option

30% of total number of options of 2013 Option (“2013 Option A") are exercisable
on the second anniversary date of grant, 30% of total number of options of 2013
Option (“2013 Option B") are exercisable on the third anniversary date of grant
and the remaining 40% of total number of options of 2013 Option (“2013 Option
C") are exercisable on the fourth anniversary date of grant. In addition, 2013
Option is also subjected to the performance condition of the Group and individual

employee to exercise.

ELERERLA
20214 3§

29.

mEMBHRRME

For year ended 31 December 2021
HZ0ENA3IBILFE

URBZANRS

20135 12 8238 K%2015F3 A26 B AR
KA (9 5I1A 201 35 BARE
RI0ISFEREDOFZENTME
EREEREERERE  MZEER
BB RIN2023F 12 223 %2025F
3A2SBER ° REBEARAIHEREST
2 KARRAIEFEGARTEERER
(BREARAREFARNES) AJ R
ARRRMD VBRI o Btoh - RATH
TRAARE ARATREEHRED
1751/ 25 5 B ] o BB el 5% (H PR AR A o

R20215 128318 IREERERH
BARITE B ARERTY & 6L AR 2
B £40,036,000% (20204 : 45,266,000
R)  ERERARSETLBREEH
#94.90% (2020%F : 5.53%) °

BEERLEREMEMORE - 3t
013FEBRER0ISFEBRENS @ B
BRETREESBHTKEER T HH
FHERF B HBTE

2013 FBRE

2013 R R PR R 4 B9 30% (12013
FRREAD TRRLEABRE _ERF
REITTEE - 2013 F BRI EB 2N
30% (12013 F FE AR B ) ATAAR I B
F=ABEFHBITE - M2013FHER
R BB T 40% ([ 201 35 B R
fEC)) TR BB E N EES A #T
i o BEoh - 2013 F BB TEATA LS
Bk EEEENERRIGHETAIITE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

29.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Contd)

2013 Option (Contd)

Pursuant to the board resolution on 29 May 2015, the 2013 Option was amended
whereby the vesting dates of the option has been accelerated. 2013 Option A
shall be vested on, and become exercisable from | June 2015, 2013 Option B
shall be vested on, and become exercisable from | April 2016 and 2013 Option C
shall be vested on, and become exercisable from | April 2017. Such amendment
is applicable prospectively to the unexercised 2013 Option and result in a net
decrease in fair value of such option measured immediately before and after the
modifications, of which no adjustment for the years ended 31 December 2020 and

2019 needed to the fair value of the 2013 Option.

2015 Option

30% of total number of options of 2015 Option (“2015 Option A") are exercisable
from | April 2016, 30% of total number of options of 2015 Option (“2015 Option
B") are exercisable from | April 2017 and the remaining 40% of total number of
options of 2015 Option (“2015 Option C") are exercisable from | April 2018. In
addition, 2015 Option is also subjected to the performance condition of the Group

and individual employee to exercise.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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29.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Cont'd)
2015 Option (Contd)

Details of specific categories of options are as follows:

mEMBHRRME

For year ended 31 December 2021
HZ0ENA3IBILFE

29. BARBXAHRE (&)

20I5FERAE (E)
BN BB AT

Fair value

Option type Date of grant Vesting period Exercisable period Exercise price  at grant date

AL BHH

BRI BB HEH Rt THE AVHE

2013 Option A 23/12/2013 23/122013 10 31/05/2015  01/06/2015 to 22/12/2023 RMBI.09 RMBO.5|

WI3FEREA  2013F 128238 2013F12A23H% WISF6AIHE ARK1097T ARKOSITT
201555 H31H 2023F 12 A2H

2013 Option B 23/12/2013 23/122013 10 31/03/2016  01/04/2016 to 22/12/2023 RMBI.09 RMBO.5|

013FBBER  2013F 128238 2013F12A3HE WI6F4A1HE ARE1097T ARKOSIT
201653 H31H 2023F 12 A2H

2013 Option C ~ 23/12/2013 23/12/2013 10 31/03/2017  01/04/2017 to 22/12/2023 RMBI.09 RMBO.5|

013FBBEC  2013F 128238 2013F12A3HE 0I7F481BE AREI1097T ARKOSITT
201753 H31H 2023F 12 A2H

2015 Option A 26/03/2015 26/03/2015 t0 31/03/2016  01/04/2016 to 25/03/2025 RMB| 47 RMBO.6|

0I15FBBEA 2015838268 2015F38268% WI6F4A1HE AR 14770 AR®061TT
201653 H31H 202553 H25H

2015 Option B 26/03/2015 26/03/2015 t0 31/03/2017  01/04/2017 to 25/03/2025 RMB| 47 RMBO.6|

0I15FBBER 2015838268 2015F3826H%F 0I7F481BE AR 14770 AR®061TT
201753 H31H 202553 H25H

2015 Option C~ 26/03/2015 26/03/2015 t0 31/03/2018  01/04/2018 to 25/03/2025 RMB| 47 RMBO.6 |

0I15FBBEC 2015838268 20I15F3826H8F 0I8F4/1HE AR 14770 AR®061TT
201853 H31H 202553 H25H

ELERERLA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

29.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Cont'd) 29. DURMEXNANRE (&)
The following table discloses movements of the Company’s share options held by TREBSEBRATHANRARIBR
eligible persons: g
2021 2021 5
Granted Forfeited Exercised Expired
Outstanding at during during during during Outstanding at
Option type BRSS! 17112021 the year the year the year the year 31/12/2021
R20215 R2021
IAIH RER RER RER RER 128318
KT & L It B e RATE
2013 Option A 2013FBREA 6,644,000 - (924,000) - - 5,720,000
2013 Option B 20135 BERRER 7,208,000 - (924,000) - - 6,284,000
2013 Option C 2013 FRERRIEC 10,084,000 - (1,232,000) - - 8,852,000
2015 Option A 2015 FEAIEA 6,399,000 - (645,000 - - 5,754,000
2015 Option B 20155 BRER 6,399,000 - (645,000) - - 5,754,000
2015 Option C 20155 BREC 8,532,000 - (860,000) - - 7,672,000
45,266,000 - (5,230,000) - - 40,036,000
Fxercisable attheend ~ AIRERTTHE
of the year 40,036,000
Weighted average IEFTTEE
exercise price RMBI.3518 RMBI.3086 RMBI.3163
AR¥ 135187 - ARK130867C - - AREI131637T

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

For year ended 31 December 2021
HZ0ENA3IBILFE

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Cont'd) 29. DURMEXNANRE (&)
2020 20205
Granted Forfeited  Exercised Expired
Outstanding at during during during during  Outstanding at
Option type BRERR 1/1/2020 the year theyear  theyear  theyear 31/12/2020
R2020%F R2020F
IAIA RER RER  RER  RER 12A31H
i RATHE B L 7% JE R e RATBE
2013 Option A 201 3FREBREA 6,872,000 - (228,000) - - 6,644,000
2013 Option B 2013FEE MR HER 7,436,000 - (228,000) - - 7,208,000
2013 Option C 2013FEREC 10,388,000 - (304,000) - - 10,084,000
2015 Option A 2015FHERIEA 6,492,000 - (93,000) - - 6,399,000
2015 Option B 2015 FEE MR AER 6,492,000 - (93,000) - - 6,399,000
2015 Option C 2015 HREC 8,656,000 - (124,000 - - 8,532,000
46,336,000 - (1,070,000) - - 45,266,000
Exercisable atthe end ~ AJRAERITHE
of the year 45,266,000
Weighted average IETITTEE RMBI 4370 RMBI.3196 RMBI.3518
exercise price AR 143707T - AR®I131967T - - AR®I135187T

No equity settled share-based payment expense is recognised for the years ended

31 December 2021 and 2020 in relation to share options granted by the Company.

ELERERLA
20214 3§
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

30. OPERATING LEASING ARRANGEMENTS 30. REMERH
The Group as lessor FEEERHEA
All of the leased premises have committed lessees for the next one to ten years, FIEMEYEE AR ARBERET

R—E+FREEEM -

Undiscounted lease payments receivable on leases are as follows: MERKZ ATRBERNKET -
2021 2020
2021 20206
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BTR ARETT

Within one year —FR 12,995 9,187
In the second year F_F 11,942 9979
In the third year E=F 8,401 9,333
In the fourth year SINEF 8,282 8,132
In the fifth year BREF 2,523 5,705
Over five years AFENULE 2,514 594
46,657 42930

31. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 3. BARIE
2021 2020
2021 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BTR ARETT

Capital expenditure contracted for but not provided in BRYEDE  BEKRED
the consolidated financial statements in respect of the BETAVERTEAR & MR
acquisition of property, plant and equipment BB 13,702 12,207

228 MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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33.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRRME

For year ended 31 December 2021
BZ021 F12A31ALLFE

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 2. BXERER
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to AEBERHERUERTEEHE %
continue as a going concern while maximising the return to shareholders through NEIAARERE - WE L EREER
the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group'’s overall strategy BT RIRRERZALER - BEF
remains unchanged from prior year. e AEENEBRBRFIE -
The capital structure of the Group consists of bank borrowings, net of cash and AEENEAEBOERITER R
cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising LR eFEMFERARREE AEN
issued share capital, share premium and other reserves. B (BREEBTRE - BROEERH
thEfE) ©
The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a semi-annual basis. ARREEFHLFRAEREE - 15R
As a part of this review, the directors consider the cost of capital and the risks BEH)—HD  EFEEZRERKAKE
associated with each class of capital. Based on recommendation of the directors, the ERERNHEANRR - REZEEHNE
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, #F AREREBRINMNRE - BITH
new share issues and share buy-backs as well as raising of new bank loans. R~ IR BB K ¥ i iR1T B SUAF & AR
SENBRENER -
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 33. MIBEKBREEEERBE
Categories of financial instruments ERMIANESR
2021 2020
2021 5 20206
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETT
Financial assets STREE
Amortised cost BESHRCA 800,312 1,027,665
FVTPL oA AR 33 -
Financial liabilities cRaE
Amortised cost BESHRCAR 718,073 776,602
FVTPL BAFEFABS = 1,349
Lease liabilities HERE 7,063 877l

EhkERERLXT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

33.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Financial risk management objectives and polices

The Group's major financial instruments include trade and other receivables,
pledged bank balances, bank balances and cash, trade and other payables, lease
liabilities and bank and other borrowings. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments
include credit risk, market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk) and liquidity risk.
The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are

implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amounts of the financial assets best
represent the Group's maximum exposure to credit risk. The Group does not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with

its financial assets.

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has delegated
a team responsible for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an internal credit
scoring system to assess the potential customer's credit quality and defines credit
limits by customer. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the

Group's credit risk of trade receivables is significantly reduced.

The Group has a significant concentration of customers credit risk as 17.8% (2020:
172%) and 53.1% (2020: 56.9%) of the total trade receivables was due from the
Group's largest customer and the five largest customers respectively. These major
customers are network operators and domestic and overseas wireless network

solution providers with good reputation and repayment records.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Financial risk management objectives and polices (Cont d)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Cont d)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers (Cont d)

The Group's concentration of credit risk by geographical locations is mainly in the
PRC, which accounted for 68.4% (2020: 62.9%) of the total trade receivables as at
31 December 2021.

In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model on
trade balances individually or based on collective assessment. Except for debtors
with significant outstanding balances and credit-impaired, which are assessed
for impairment individually, the remaining trade receivables are grouped by
internal credit rating under a collective assessment, based on shared credit risk
characteristics by reference to ageing, repayment history and past due status of
respective trade receivables. Impairment of RMB4,185,000 (2020: RMB1,550,000) is
recognised during the year. Details of the quantitative disclosures are set out below

in this note.

Pledged bank balances and bank balances
The credit risk of the Group on pledged bank balances and bank balances is limited
because the majority of the counterparties are intemational banks or state-owned

banks, all of which are with high credit ratings.

Other receivables

The Group's other receivables representing notes and bills receivables and others.
The directors of the Company consider that the credit risk on other receivables is
limited and the management of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition,
the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model on these other
receivables individually. The Group only accepts bills issued or guaranteed by
reputable PRC banks and therefore the management of the Group considers the
credit risk is insignificant. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that

the Group's credit risk on other receivables is significantly reduced.
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For year ended 31 December 2021
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Bk EE B R RBUR (8)

HHREAREEEEREE (&)
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EXEHEFPHEN BZEREN
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62.9%) °

AN AEBRBHEEEERAHE
SR TE R R AR A E R S8BT
fEITRIHE - REEAKRERERKE
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REMBHRRME

For year ended 31 December 2021

HZ0FNA3BILEE

33.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 33.

(Cont'd)

Financial risk management objectives and polices (Cont d)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Cont'd)

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the following

categories:

Internal credit rating Description

Bk EE B R RBUR (8)

PREREEEBEREE (£)
EEmE R BEFG ()

Trade receivables

AR BN ERRRSRTNREN
TR

Otbher financial assets

RERE B PR Bkl B 5 RYRR HitteMEE

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and  Lifetime ECL [2-month ECL
does not have any past-due amounts — not credit-impaired

1 ez HFTMENRRRE BYEEMEYS FEIRPEESRE 2B ABESEEER
R — REAEERE

Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but Lifetime ECL [2-month ECL
usually settle after due date — not credit-impaired

BRRE BERARERHHARER - E—RND HFEREHEEER 12{8 A FREEE &R
HR&EE — REEEERE

Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit  Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
risk since initial recognition through information ~ — not credit-impaired — not credit-impaired
developed intemnally or external resources

ez BEBAMEKRZ ERSIINBERETY) FEIRPEESR FEPEREEER
IR - (EEREREREIEM — REEEERE - REEEERE

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
credit-impaired — credit-impaired — credit-impaired

B FRBERNEREECEEEERE FEHEHEEER FEHEHEEER

—BEEERE —BEEERE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtoris  Amount is written off Amount is written off
in severe financial difficulty and the Group has
no realistic prospect of recovery

s BEBBTNESABABRBNMHERAEL MHARHLE MIEEEER
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33.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(Cont'd)

Financial risk management objectives and polices (Cont d)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Cont'd)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group's financial assets

representing trade receivables, other receivables, pledged bank balances and bank

mEMBHRRME

For year ended 31 December 2021
HZ0ENA3IBILFE

33. BIBEMBERERREEE)

PREREEEBEREE (£)
EEmE R BEFG ()
TRFSAEERETRAEERET
iz emEE (MEFRITRR - it

balances which are subject to ECL assessment: FEM R - BERRITERRRITE
B ZEERR
Internal 2021 2020
Notes creditrating  2-month or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount Gross carrying amount
mEEE  EASEES 01 2000%F
Wi AR BHEERE ARmEE RERmEE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARETT ARETRT
Financial assets at
amortised costs
BBEREIR
LEHEE
Trade receivables 20 (notea) Lifetime ECL - not credit impaired 167,078 213015
Low risk Lifetime ECL - not credit-impaired 142,952 133801
Loss Lifetime ECL - credit-impaired 13,493 323,523 9,606 356,422
B ARWER 20 (M) FEUEHMEEEE - ARLERRE
(ERE FRERHEERE - ARLEEENE
BE FRARNEEEE - RLESRE
Pledged bank balances 21 (note b) 12-month ECL 72,167 72,167 112816 112816
EEMRTAR 2 (M) NEAEHEEER
Bank balances 21 (note b) [2-month ECL 250,359 250,359 371792 371792
RiThER 2 (D) RNEARSREEER
Other receivables 20 Lowrisk 12-month ECL 168,941 168,941 196,990 196,990
G 0 BER RNEARSEEER

ELERERLA
20214 3§
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

33.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Cont'd)
Financial risk management objectives and polices (Cont d)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Cont'd)

Notes:

(a) For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to
measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors with significant outstanding
balances and credit-impaired which are assessed individually, the Group determines the
expected credit losses on these items by using a collective assessment, grouped by internal

credit rating.

(b) The credit risk on bank balance is limited because the counterparties are banks with

reputable credit ratings.

Collective assessment — intemal credit ratings

As part of the Group's credit risk management, the Group applies internal
credit rating for its customers. The following table provides information about
the exposure to credit risk for trade receivables which are assessed based on
collective assessment as at 31 December 2021 within lifetime ECL (not credit-
impaired). Debtors with significant outstanding balances and credit-impaired
with gross carrying amounts of RMB142,952,000 (2020: RMB133,801,000) and
RMBI 3,493,000 (2020: RMB9,606,000) respectively as at 31 December 2021 were

assessed individually.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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33.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Cont'd)
Financial risk management objectives and polices (Cont d)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Cont d)

mEMBHRRME

For year ended 31 December 2021
BZ021 F12A31ALLFE

Bk EE B R RBUR (8)

PREREEEBEREE (£)
EEmE R BEFG ()

Gross carrying amount

AIREE
2020
20205
Average Trade Average Trade
loss rate receivables loss rate receivables
THEER EZRUER THERX E5RKER
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR AREFT
Internal credit rating NEMEERTR

Low risk (R 47,821 # 4602
Watch list BERAE 83,846 # 142312
Doubtful 2 3.5% 35411 3.6% 24,501
167,078 213,015

# The percentage was lower than 0.1%. # B LARR0.1% ©

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical observed default
rates over the expected life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort. The Group rebutted
the presumption of default under ECL model for trade receivables over 90 days
past due based on good credit quality and repayment records history for those
customers. The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant
information about specific debtors is updated. Due to greater financial uncertainty
triggered by the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has increased the expected loss
rates in the current year as there is higher risk that a prolonged pandemic could led

to increased credit default rates.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, impairment allowance of RMB451,000
(2020: impairment allowance reversed of RMB732,000) were made in the profit
or loss based on the collective assessment. During the year ended 31 December
2021, impairment allowance of RMB3,734,000 (2020: RMB818,000) were made in

the profit or loss on debtors which were credit-impaired.

EhkERERLXT
20214 $}

fhat BRE AR ER AR IREF HH
BEABREORMGR  WIRAFILE
BERASIE N A EUSHRTIE IE B FH A
B ARRERPNERERNBAER
FECERR A - EIL AR B R RN B
FEBREL TAREE0ANESE
PERBEAONRR - EEESTHE
Bz # - NREREHFERBAZE
BAE R - RCovid- 19KRITEIBHBE
TRTREMFE  ENRAARTH
RREREREOX LANERES @ &
EERR T AFENEHBRE

BEXIFNANBLEFE EREE
BT EREREARK451,0007T -
(20204 : B EIEEREARE732,000
T)RER - HZE2021F 12831 BIEE
& EERERNEIRZR BRI
B AR #3,7340007T (20205 : A
FR¥E8180007T) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

33.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 33. MIBEBEEEERBEE)
(Cont'd)
Financial risk management objectives and polices (Cont d) BERBEEEEREEK (&)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Cont'd) EEmE R ETE (E)
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognised TREREBECDERNEZEK
for trade receivables under the simplified approach. B FEREREEEEEE -
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired) (credit-impaired) Total
TFHEHEH TFHEHREY
FEER (R¥ FEER
EEERE) (BEEERE) st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETR AR®ETT
As at | January 2020 20201 A1 B 170 14,045 14,215
Changes due to financial instruments ERMIASIBWE
recognised as at | January 2020: 20206 | A1 BER#R -
— Impairment losses recognised — REEE®ER 854 2,027 2,881
— Transfer to credit-impaired -~ EREEERE (15) 15 -
— Impairment losses reversed — REEEEL (155) (1,209) (1,364)
— Write-offs — s - (5272) (5272)
New financial assets originated EEHEREE 33 - 33
As at 31 December 2020 R20205 12431 A 887 9,606 10493
Changes due to financial instruments SR T ESIBNE
recognised as at | January 2021 20211 A1 BERR -
— Impairment losses recognised — BEEERER 482 3,751 4233
— Transfer to credit-impaired -~ EREEERE (153) 153 -
— Impairment losses reversed — REEEEL (278) (26) (304)
New financial assets originated EENFeREE 247 9 256
As at 3| December 2021 20215128318 [,185 13,493 14,678
236 MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

33.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(Cont'd)

Financial risk management objectives and polices (Cont d)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Cont'd)

Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivables are mainly due to:

2021
202 E

For year ended 31 December 2021
BZ021 F12A31ALLFE

Bk EE B R RBUR (8)

PREREEEBEREE (£)
EEmE R BEFG ()
PRI TNERRRES T EH

\
TN
N\

Increase/(decrease) in lifetime ECL

2020
2WN0E

Increase/(decrease) in lifetime ECL

FRORARERR FEERHEERR
gm/ (D) 2/ (84)
Not credit- Credit- Not credit- Credit-
impaired impaired impaired impaired
AREGERE REREAE ARLEEHE  RLEERE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTT ARETT
Trade debtors with a gross camying amounts BEEEARE39130007
of RMB3,913,000 (2020: RMB2,041,000) (2000% = AE#2041,0007T)
defaulted and transferred to credit-impaired BOTBEZEERNENES
FENER (183) 3913 (15) 2041
Nil of credit-impaired trade debtors is written ot~ WA HEEREE HEUER
(2020: Write-off of the credit-impaired trade (2020 : MEHEERE
debtors of RMB5,272,000 as there is evidence ARE5)72000H2 5
indicating that the Group has no realstic RWES - BRBEERER
prospect of recovery) AEERFENERAR) - - - (5272)
Settlement in full of trade debtors with a BREEARBL0007T
gross carrying amount of RMB26,000 (2000% = AE¥1,209,0007T)
(2020: RMBI209,000) WE SRR EHLEE (278) (26) (155) (1209)

EhkERERLXT
20214 $}
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

33.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Financial risk management objectives and polices (Cont d)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Cont'd)

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is information indicating
that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings. None of the trade receivables that have been written

off is subject to enforcement activities.

Credit risk is not increased significantly since initial recognition for other receivables
and all gross amounts balance of other receivables of RMB168,941,000 (2020:
RMB196,990,000) are rated as low risk and assessed with |12-month ECL that no
material impairment losses have been recognised as at 3|1 December 2021 and
2020.

Market risk

Currency risk

The Group has foreign currency sales and purchases and certain trade receivables,
bank balances, trade payables and bank borrowings of the Group are denominated
in HK$, USD, and EUR, currencies other than the functional currency of the
Company's principal subsidiaries, which expose the Group to foreign currency risk.
The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However,
the management monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging

significant foreign currency exposure when the need arises.
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33.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Financial risk management objectives and polices (Cont d)

Market risk (Contd)

Currency risk (Cont d)

The carrying amount of the Group's foreign currency denominated monetary assets

and monetary liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2021
2021 F
Assets
gE
RMB’000

33.

Liabilities
=R
RMB’000

AR®BTR ARBTR

mEMBHRRME

For year ended 31 December 2021
BZ021 F12A31ALLFE

Bk EE B R RBUR (8)

PREREEEBEREE (£)

5 EkE ()

EXmR (&)

Rl E PRAREEAINEHENERE
ENEBAENREEDT

2020
20205
Assets Liabilities
BE AfE
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT

HK$ BT 7,810 417 11,270 349
UsD ESTH 209,315 26,959 296,752 31915
EUR BT 75,944 = 353 -

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a 5% (2020: 5%) change in
RMB against HK$, USD and EUR. The 5% (2020: 5%) represents management's
assessment of the reasonably possible change in the foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis of the Group's exposure to foreign currency risk at the end of
the reporting period have been determined based on the adjustment of translation
of the monetary assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period for 5%
(2020: 5%) change in foreign currency rates. A negative number below indicates an
increase in post-tax loss where RMB strengthens against HK$, USD and EUR. For
5% (2020: 5%) weakening of RMB against HK$, USD and EUR, there would be an

equal and opposite impact on post-tax loss.

EhkERERLXT
20214 $}

TREBAEBARBEAET ETR
BRIT5% (20204F : 5%) BBV BREFF
18 ° 5% (20204 : 5%) JHE 12 BN
RSB L EBNTME - AEER
WS HIR AR NE R B i BUR R
MIREEEERBBENRERHRER
5% (2020%F : 5%) IMNEFE R B {EH Y
ERARETE - UTAERRARER
AT ETRBTAHERR TRIEEE
g RARERET  ETRBUTE
1B5% (20205 : 5%) M5 * BiiaEER
SHIRASERARNTE -

239



240

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

33.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 33. MIBEBEEEERBEE)
(Cont'd)
Financial risk management objectives and polices (Cont d) BERBEEEEREEK (&)
Market risk (Cont d) m5EE (&)
Currency risk (Cont'd) B (&)
2021 2020
2021 & 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BT R ARETT
If RMB strengthens against HK$ WARBEETLIE (363) (539)
If RMB strengthens against USD WARBEETHE (7.671) (11302)
If RMB strengthens against EUR MARELBRTIHE (3,227) (15)

The Group has entered into currency forward contracts to manage its exposure to

USD from recognised liabilities.

In management's opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent
foreign exchange risk as the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure

during the year.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk which arises from pledged
bank balances (note 21), fixed rate bank borrowings (note 24) and lease liabilities
(note 25). The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk which arises from

bank balances (note 21).

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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33.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

For year ended 31 December 2021
BZ021 F12A31ALLFE

Bk EE B R RBUR (8)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 33.

(Cont'd)

Financial risk management objectives and polices (Cont d)

Market risk (Contd)
Interest rate risk (Cont d)

The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging policy. However, the

management monitors interest rate exposure and will consider hedging significant

interest rate exposure should the need arise.

The positive number below indicates decrease in post-tax loss, and vice versa.

PREREEEBEREE (£)

AR B AT ARG BR © AT

g ()
FIEES ()
EREARENEER

CWHEARER

ERETEAFERL

ATEHXRTHREBERYD - kK2

SR o
7N

2021 2020
2021 20205
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BT R ARETT
(note a) (note a)
(BfaEa) (FftzFa)
If the interest rates increase fisi K= £
Decrease in post-tax loss/increase in post-tax profit B,/ HEFEEMN 211 230
2021 2020
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMF T ARBTT
(note b) (note b)
(Ff&ED) (Ff5ED)
If the interest rates decrease st Fll 2= T f
Increase in post-tax loss/decrease in post-tax profit BigEHEE M/ BiefERd (206) 219)

EhkERERLXT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

33.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Financial risk management objectives and polices (Cont d)

Market risk (Contd)

Interest rate risk (Cont d)
Notes:

The sensitivity analyses have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates at the end
of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming the financial instruments outstanding at

the end of the reporting period were outstanding for the whole year.

(3 If interest rate on bank balances had been 10 basis points higher and interest rate on short-
term floating rate bank borrowings had been 50 basis points higher and all other variables
were held constant. These represent management's assessment of the reasonably possible

change in interest rates.

(b) If interest rate on bank balances denominated in HK$ and other foreign currencies had
been 0. basis point and 10 basis points lower, respectively, and interest rate on short-
term floating rate bank borrowings had been 50 basis points lower and all other variables
were held constant. These represent management's assessment of the reasonably possible

change in interest rates.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level
of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the management to finance
the Group's operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance

with loan covenants.

Banking facilities available to the Group amounting to approximately
RMB686,000,000 (2020: RMB797,000,000) granted the Group for the bank

borrowings, bills payables and letter of credits.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as a source of liquidity. As at 31 December
2021, the Group has available unutilised banking facilities of approximately
RMB615,517,000 (2020: RMB506,2 18,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRRME

For year ended 31 December 2021
BZ021 F12A31ALLFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 33. MKEREEEERBX(Z)
(Cont'd)
Financial risk management objectives and polices (Cont d) BERBEEEEREEK (&)
Liguidity risk (Contd) REELERE ()
The following table details the Group's remaining contractual maturity for its TEALEETREBERTANIHA
financial liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash HEE - TRIDBRASEANEEE
flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be HRFRBRESRBENRITRRES
required to pay. mMERS -
The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest ZREHFERFERSINE WS
flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curve BEBMNERGE  BIRTReERRS
at the end of the reporting period. HIREVFIE R -
Weighted
average Total Carrying
effective  Repayable 0030  3lto60 611090 9t (80 I8ldaysto  Iyearto undiscounted  amountat
interest rate o demand days days days days | year Syears  cashflows 3| December
i 322! 1818 BAFR  RA3
ERAE ZRREE  0E08 3IEB 6IEZNB YEINE  EIF IESF  RERE ANEEE
% RMBOOO  RMBO0OO  RMBOO0  RMBOOO  RMB0O0  RMBOOO  RMB0O0  RMBO00  RMBO00
% ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARETR ARMTR
0l mIF
Trdeandotherpayables  BHREAMENES NATHER 138129 160300 105663 176705 - - VA V.
Bank and other bomowings  $R{TREABIEH
- Fixed nerest rete ~EEHE 436 - 489 £ 0l 100 %8 - g BIam
Lease iites HERR 600 - 45 540 T 108 2081 376 8197 7063
138129 lel214 106654 207473 2070 100353 3,766 719,659 5,137
2000 00F
Tradeand other payebles ~ SRREMERER NATER 15340 138807 113259 158913 47588 - - e 6100
Bankand other borowings  SR{TREMIER
- Fixed interest rete -ESHE 455 - 548 S8 40548 1089 108794 - BT 4
~Floating interestrate &P 400 - 6 6 67 0 0B - 20534 20000
Derivatve financia frEeMIA
instruments NANER - - - - - 1349 - 1,349 1,349
Lease fabltes BEAR 600 - 0 548 M1 3 9434 877l
153460 139842 114420 199948 5046 1342 1731 94871 786712

EHERAERRZSF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

33.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Financial risk management objectives and polices (Cont d)

Liguidity risk (Contd)

The amount included above for variable interest rate instruments for non-derivative
financial liabilities are subject to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to

those estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the reporting period.

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values at the end of the reporting period. The fair
value of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined in accordance with

generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

Fair value hierarchy as at 3| December 2021

33.

Bk EE B R RBUR (8)

PREREEEBEREE (£)
HBELmE ()
WIFTEEMAET S TAZFEANER
S RBEIRETE < Gt H AR

A z*z

Atz TR Az 8% °

ERMIANQVEFE
ARREZRS - WEHEKATAGA
MBRERNEREENRERABHNRE

EEANFEHRNATERES - &
BERERABNATERLRTER

A REFRBESREANTMETE -

202112831 BN AFESER

Level 2
EFH
RMB’000
ARBTR
Financial Assets at FVTPL BAFEABRZEREE
Currency forward contracts BRERBEH 33
Fair value as at Fair value
Financial assets 31 December 2021 hierarchy Valuation technique(s) and key input(s)

R20215 128318

TREE WAVE 2AVESR GERTREREA
Currency forward contracts Assets — Level 2 Discounted cash flow. Future cash flows are estimated based
RMB33,000 on forward exchange rates (from observable forward exchange
rates at the end of the reporting period) and contracted forward
rates, discounted at a rate that reflects the credit risk of various
counterparties.
EHREHEH & - F-R BBBEERE - ARBRSRENVRBEREE (RENVHRE
AR#33,0007T HIARM A BREHER) RATAEAE - WRRRAF
RPGHF 2 EERBR 2R KT ALEL fhE -

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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33.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRRME

For year ended 31 December 2021
HZ0ENA3IBILFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 33. MKEREEEERBX(Z)

(Cont'd)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments (Cont @)

Fair value hierarchy as at 3| December 2020

SRMIENDAFENE(Z)
2020 12 A3 B A T EER

Level 2
F
RMB'000
ARBTT
Financial Liability at FVTPL BAFESABRZERAE
Currency forward contracts BRERBEH 1,349

Fair value as at Fair value
Financial liability 31 December 2020 hierarchy  Valuation technique(s) and key input(s)
AFER
SBAR 0% 128318 AFESR (EERTRBREA
Currency forward contracts Liability — Level 2 Discounted cash flow. Future cash flows are estimated based
RMB1,349,000 on forward exchange rates (from observable forward exchange
rates at the end of the reporting period) and contracted forward
rates, discounted at a rate that reflects the credit risk of various
counterparties.
EREHREH afE - FH BBERERE - ARALRENRBEDER CRENHRE

A 1,349,0007T

AN BFRERER) RFTORBANE - WIRRRAF
RHHF 2 EERB TR EFR A EE

ELERERLA

20214 3R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

34.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the PRC, the PRC based employees
of the Group participate in various defined contribution retirement benefit plans
organised by the relevant municipal and provincial governments in the PRC under
which the Group and the PRC based employees are required to make monthly
contributions, which are calculated as a percentage of the employees' salaries,
to these plans. The Group also operates a MPF Schemes for all its qualifying
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those
of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. Under the rule of the MPF
Schemes, the employer and its employees are each required to make contributions

to the scheme at rate specified in the rules.

The municipal and provincial governments undertake to assume the retirement
benefit obligations of all existing and future PRC based employees' payable under
the plans described above. Other than the monthly contributions, the Group has
no further obligation for the payment of retirement and other post-retirement

benefits of its employees.

The retirement benefits scheme contributions made by the Group amounted to
RMB23,725,000 (2020: RMB1 1,383,000) for the year ended 31 December 2021,

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2021

34.

RIKBRETE
RETERBANLER - AEENT
BEEBAS T EERE RTBFHES
M %R FE WAR KBNS - it -
AEERETEREEREAREE S
WEEB AL RMZEEHR - A%
ERREMERERBEBREERUBE
28 - ZEfEIZEEEAREEED
- FRRXTEAETREZES - RER
ReEAA BEEREREATAR
RAETE 2 Lo R [AET IR -

B MR A RER R AT 8RN
M2 HP3R B R R SR B R B R IKE A
B - BREARSIN AEBEEELE—
Pl E R B AR R MR IR EEN
M B -

HZE20201FI12A31BIEFE » K&
BELRERRBAEETABARE
23,725,0007T (20204F : AR 11,383,000
JT) °



35.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

For year ended 31 December 2021
HZ0ENA3IBILFE

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING 35. MEFDAELRENHR
ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising from financing TERARAEERETHMELEEN
activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing 2% BEREIFHRSEY - MED
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified BELNAEBEIKREEERER
in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing REKENGERERERAD B AR
activities. BRBMESRERENAE -
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financial activities for the year ended 3| BE2021 F R2020F 12A31HIESE
December 2021 and 2020: B BMELSMELENEEERET
Interest Total
payable liabilities
(included in from
Dividend Bank Lease other financing
payable  borrowings liabilities payables) activities
FERFIE
(GtAEM  REED
EARE  RITEX  HERE EAFE) aER#
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT AR®ETT ARBTT ARBTT
At | January 2020 202061 A1 H 4132 98,882 9,429 - 112,443
Financing cash flows BERERE (19.212) 61,022 (5,808) - 36,002
Non-cash changes HHEEE
Finance costs BATSRK AR - 4,671 621 - 5292
Dividend recognised as distribution FERIERD IKAIAR B
(note 12) (PEE12) 15,080 - - - 15,080
New lease entered FIMFHE — - 4529 - 4529
At 31 December 2020 720205 12 A31 A - 164,575 8,771 - 173346
Financing cash flows MERERE - (27,298) (6,775) (6,906) (40,979)
Non-cash changes HHEEE)
Finance costs BT AR - - 436 7,256 7,692
New lease entered FINEHE - - 4,631 - 4,631
At 31 December 202 | 2021512431 H - 137,277 7,063 350 144,690

BEtkB#RAERAL2A
20214 R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36. BEALRS
()  Related party balances and transactions @) BEATEHRRRS
Other than as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, BRZEREVERRZERES
the Group has following transactions and balances with related parties. o REEEBEATHRI R
FEERIOE o

2021 2020

2021 6 20206

RMB’000 RMB'000

Relationships ~ BA& Nature of balances/transactions o YA L | AR®BTRT ARETT

Related party ~ M/ Lease payment paid EREEFIE 1,267 1,267

(note i) (Bff5E)  Lease liabilities HERE 207 1423

Interest on lease liabilities HEREBNE 51 120

Rental deposit HEkRe 110 22

Other payables (note ii) Hoph FEATBR R (P i) 8 I

Associates Bt 2 A] Trade sales BHIHE 5,035 928

Trade purchases BH5EE 15110 3314

Trade receivable B HRIKKIE 5210 471

Prepayment AR 1,334 -

Trade payables B S RENRIE 6,620 3267

Contract liabilities AnAaRE 161 -

Other payables (note i) Hoph FEf R (P il 695 201

Notes: BifsE -
(i) Mr. Hu, an executive director of the Company is also a director of the related 0] HEERRNARRITES AR
party. HHES -

(if) As at 3| December 2021 and 2020, the balances are non-trade in nature and (if) R2021 4 %2020 12 A31H -

repayable on demand.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

For year ended 31 December 2021
HZ0ENA3IBILFE

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Contd) 36. BEBEALRS (&)
(b)  Compensation of key management personnel (b) FEEBASHEHEM
The remuneration of directors and other members of key management EERTEEREHEMKENE
were as follows: B
2021 2020
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARETTT

Short-term employee benefits EHIEE A 7,664 12,225
Post-employment benefits BER 2 2 A 171 155
7,835 12,380
The remuneration of directors and key executives is determined having BEERFETHRAENHEHMOR
regard to the performance of individuals and market trends. BEARRETSBEMET -
The retirement benefits scheme contributions of one director were paid by MM IOFTEL - BE2021 F R
SZWS for the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 as set in note 10. 2020F 12 A31 BIEEE - &4

FREX N —REZNRKEM

ATEIEER -

BEtkB#RAERAL2A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

37. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
As at the end of both reporting periods, the particulars of the Company's principal

subsidiaries are as follows:

Country/place and date

Issued and fully

37. RATEEFLQTFEE
RRERERER - AR TEFLAF

ICEUINE

Equity interest

of incorporation or Place/country paid registered attributable
Name of subsidiary establishment/operation  of operation capital/share capital to the Group  Principal activities
AL
EEER/ EERE ERTRAE LS
FRAER WER B CiES EMER,/ BA EiERE TEXH
2021 &2020 2021 & 2020
2021 FR2020%F 2021 FR2020F
MOBI Jian (note i) The PRC The PRC RMB267,000,000 100%  Production and sale of antennas and
23 May 2006 radio frequency subsystems
BitE R () i P AR5267,0000007C l00%  EERBERFM
2006554 23H RREGIAT RS
MOBI Shenzhen (note ii) The PRC The PRC RMB220,000,000 100%  Production and sale of antennas and
12 August 1999 radio frequency subsystems
BRI (i) i i AR#2200000007C 00%  EERBEXEM
199948 A 128 EEBART RS
MOBI Xian (note iii) The PRC The PRC RMB120,000,000 100%  Production and sale of antennas and
29 April 2008 radio frequency subsystems
Bemz (W) i i ARH120000,0007T 100% AERHFERGH
200854 A29H BGBAAT RS
MOBI HK (note iv) Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 [00%  Trading of antennas and radio
15 December 2010 frequency subsystems
B A (M) &R B85 10,000,00037T 100% KEMERE
0108128158 SRTRHE
Notes: BifaE
(i) MOBI Jian is directly held by the Company and a wholly foreign-owned enterprise in the () EBEUEZHAAARFEINEEERE
PRC. BEREA -
(i)~ MOBI Shenzhen is directly held by MOBI Jian and a wholly foreign-owned enterprise in the (i)  BHARIBBLETRPRIMNGTEE R
PRC. KEERE -
(iy ~ MOBI Xian is directly held by MOBI Shenzhen and a wholly foreign-owned enterprise in iy EERHELRINRFEIIEEE R
the PRC. XEERE -
(iv)  MOBI HK is directly held by the Company. (v BUEBHAREEERS -

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

For year ended 31 December 2021

BRI ENAAILEE

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY 38. AQBHHARREE

2021 2020
2021 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ETTT AREF T

Non-current Assets EREEE
Unlisted investments in subsidiaries NTFARRZEFTIRE 375,761 375761
375,761 375,761

Current Assets REEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEM TR EIFIE 88,807 90,553
Bank balances and cash IRITEESRERS 6,798 10218
95,605 100,77
Current liabilities nEas

Other payable Hoh fETRR K 234 160
Amounts due to subsidiaries JEFRBIFIE 17,075 17,075
17,309 17,235
Net Current Assets REVEE TR 78,296 83,536
Total Assets less Current Liabilities BEERRBEE 454,057 459,297

Capital and Reserves IR Kt
Share capital (note 28) R (BfEE28) 6 6
Reserves & 454,051 459291
Total Equity s 454,057 459,297

BEtkB#RAERAL2A
20214 R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For year ended 31 December 2021
BE202 F12A31BILFE

38.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (Contd)

Movement in reserves

38. AAFMBRRBRE (F)

HERE

Share option

Share reserve Retained
premium (note 29) earnings Total
BRERE
R E (B#=E29) REBER et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR¥TR AR®BTR AR¥TR
At | January 2020 72020 1 A1 A 419,711 25761 35,701 481,173
(Loss) and the total comprehensive FE (BB kz2E
expense for the year iz fa 58 - - (6,316) (6,316)
Transfer of share option reserve PR U8 i AR B
upon forfeiture of share options ERERERRE - (575) 575 -
Dividend recognised as distribution BERIED RS (15,080) - - (15,080)
Repurchase and cancellation of shares BtnBE el K st 3 (486) - - (486)
At 31 December 2020 2020512 /31 A 404,145 25,186 29,960 459,291
(Loss) and the total comprehensive FE (BB k2E
expense for the year I 45 - - (4,537) (4,537)
Transfer of share option reserve PR W B AR A B
upon forfeiture of share options B AR - (2,391) 2,391 -
Repurchase and cancellation of shares IR A7 BB B 2 o 8 (666) - - (666)
Repurchase of shares R (37) - - (37)
At 3| December 2021 2021124318 403,442 22,795 27814 454,051

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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www.mobi-antenna.com

ELt#&EER DT
MOBI Development Co., Ltd.

Add ik c RRIERARIITE L BB ERA L — R SR RS
MOBI Building, 7 Langshan First Road, Science and Technology Park,
Nanshan District, Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, PRC

Tel & 5E 1 86-755-86186100

E-Mail & : public@mobi-antenna.com

Website #81F : www.mobi-antenna.com

P.C #B#R : 518057
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